
 
 

 
 

 

 

 

 
 

Agenda items  
 

 

1.  Apologies for absence 
 

 

2.  Declarations of Interest 
 

 

3.  Minutes of the previous meeting 
 

 

4.  Shared Digital Governance Model Review 
 

 

5.  Shared Digital Strategy - draft strategy review 
 

 

6.  Review of Adult Social Care and Children's Services case management system 
provision 
 

 

7.  Network service transformation 
 

 

8.  Shared Digital Service Budget Update 
 

 

 
 

See following agenda and report pack for all the above papers  
 
 

The next meeting of the Shared Digital Joint Committee will be on 20 February 2018

Public Document Pack



This page is intentionally left blank



Mike Cooke  Zina Etheridge Lesley Seary 
Chief Executive, Camden Chief Executive, Haringey Chief Executive, Islington 
Town Hall Civic Centre  Town Hall 
Judd Street  High Road  Upper Street 
London WC1H 9JE London N22 8LE London N1 2UD  
 

 
 

Agendas and minutes can be viewed on the mod.gov app  
available freely for iPad, Android and Windows devices. 

                                  
 
 
 
 

SHARED DIGITAL JOINT 
COMMITTEE 

 

 
MONDAY, 30 OCTOBER 2017 AT 7.30 PM 

COUNCIL CHAMBER, CIVIC CENTRE, WOOD GREEN HIGH ROAD N22 8LE 
 
 

 Enquiries to: Cheryl Hardman, Committee Services 

 E-Mail: cheryl.hardman@camden.gov.uk 

 Telephone: 020 7974 1619 (Text phone prefix 18001) 

 Fax No: 020 7974 5921 

 
 

 MEMBERS 

   
 
Councillor Jason Arthur (London Borough of Haringey), Councillor 
Danny Beales (London Borough of Camden), Councillor Ali Demirci 
(London Borough of Haringey), Councillor Andy Hull (London Borough 
of Islington), Councillor Richard Olszewski (London Borough of 
Camden) and Councillor Claudia Webbe (London Borough of Islington) 
 
 

 SUBSTITUTE MEMBERS  

 Councillors Adam Harrison, Asima Shaikh and Bernice Vanier 

  

 
 

Issued on: Friday, 20 October 2017 
 
 

Public Document Pack

Page 1

Agenda Annex



  

Public Committee Meetings 
 
Everyone is welcome to come to the Shared Digital Joint Committee meetings and agendas for 
these meetings are available in advance on the following websites: www.camden.gov.uk; 
www.islington.gov.uk; and www.haringey.gov.uk.  If you are interested in a particular item being 
considered at a meeting and you wish to speak (called making a deputation), please write to the 
Committee Officer listed on the front of the agenda.  The deadline for deputation requests for this 
meeting is Thursday, 26 October 2017. 
 
The Joint Committee is allowed to discuss some items in private, although this does not happen 
often – any such items will be discussed at the end of the meeting and you will be asked to leave 
at this point.   
 
Members of the public have a right to film, record or photograph public meetings for reporting 
purposes.  This does not apply to any of the Joint Committee meetings which are private or not 
open to the public.  Laws on public order offences and defamation still apply, and you should 
exercise your rights with responsibility.  Please respect the views of others when reporting from a 
meeting.  
 
You may be asked to stop filming, photographing or recording a meeting if the Chair feels that the 
activity is disrupting the meeting. 
 
If you have any views or questions about meetings of the Joint Committee please call Camden 
Council Committee Services on 020 7974 1915. 

Page 2

http://www.camden.gov.uk/
http://www.islington.gov.uk/
http://www.haringey.gov.uk/


 

 

SHARED DIGITAL JOINT COMMITTEE 
30 OCTOBER 2017 
 
THERE ARE NO PRIVATE REPORTS 
 
PLEASE NOTE THAT PART OF THIS MEETING MAY NOT BE OPEN TO THE 
PUBLIC AND PRESS BECAUSE IT MAY INVOLVE THE CONSIDERATION OF 
EXEMPT INFORMATION WITHIN THE MEANING OF SCHEDULE 12A TO THE 
LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972, OR CONFIDENTIAL WITHIN THE MEANING 
OF SECTION 100(A)(2) OF THE ACT. 
 
 
AGENDA 
 
 
   

1.   APPOINTMENT OF CHAIR FOR THE MEETING 
 

All Wards 
 

 To appoint the Chair from among the Committee members 
representing London Borough of Camden for the duration of the 
meeting. 
 

 

2.   APOLOGIES  
 

 
 

3.   DECLARATIONS BY MEMBERS OF PECUNIARY AND NON-
PECUNIARY INTERESTS IN RESPECT OF ITEMS ON THIS 
AGENDA  
 

 
 

4.   DEPUTATIONS  
 

 
 

5.   ANNOUNCEMENTS  
 

 
 

6.   NOTIFICATION OF ANY ITEMS OF BUSINESS THAT THE CHAIR 
DECIDES TO TAKE AS URGENT  
 

 
 

7.   MINUTES 
 

(Pages 7 - 
12) 

 To approve and sign the minutes of the meeting held on 19 June 2017. 
 

 

8.   *SHARED DIGITAL GOVERNANCE MODEL REVIEW 
 

All Wards 
(Pages 13 - 
86) 

 Report of the Chief Digital and Information Officer 
 
The terms of reference for the Shared Digital Joint Committee require 
that the Joint Committee, by October/ November 2017, receive and 
consider a detailed report setting out Governance Model Options for 

 

Page 3



 

 

Shared Digital and to make recommendations to the Cabinet/ 
Executive of each of the Councils in respect of the report. Options to 
be evaluated were to include the Joint Committee model as well as 
company models. 
 
This report builds on work with the Joint Committee Cabinet Members, 
the Councils’ Chief Executives and senior officers over the summer to 
assess and consider governance models and sets out the reasons for 
the recommended option.  
 

9.   *SHARED DIGITAL STRATEGY - REVIEWING THE DRAFT 
 

All Wards 
(Pages 87 - 
176) 

 Report of the Chief Digital and Information Officer 
 
This report provides a picture of the draft shared digital strategy for the 
next three years. The strategy describes how we will support, help 
shape and deliver the aspirations of Camden, Haringey and Islington; 
how we will manage our resources effectively and efficiently to make 
the most of opportunities with those resources. 
 
The strategy (Appendix D) describes in three parts: the priorities of the 
three councils (demand); what our resources are and how we manage 
them (supply); and how we match supply with demand successfully 
through governance and control mechanisms (control).  
 
The strategy is still in draft and would benefit from feedback from the 
Joint Committee and further consultation. Throughout the paper there 
are key decisions or open-ended prompts for the Joint Committee to 
consider, written in blue. 
 
The report is coming to the Shared Digital Joint Committee: 

 For feedback on the direction and content of the strategy up to 
this stage; and  

 To share details of the consultations that have taken place so 
far, so that the final draft of the strategy can be agreed by the 
Committee in February 2018. 

 

 

10.   *REVIEW OF ADULT SOCIAL CARE AND CHILDREN'S SERVICES 
CASE MANAGEMENT SYSTEM PROVISION 
 

All Wards 
(Pages 177 - 
186) 

 Report of the Chief Digital and Information Officer 
 
This report outlines the opportunity to establish a cross council working 
group to develop a strategy which lays out the technology 
requirements for social care services working across the three 
councils. 
 
 

 

Page 4



 

 

It takes account of the councils’ agreed digital and ICT design 
principles, the existing system delivery models; and, recognises the 
complexity of change that would be likely working with social care 
teams. 
 
Additionally, this report outlines a review of the contract arrangements 
for the Adult Social Care/Children’s Services case management 
systems in use across the London boroughs of Camden, Haringey and 
Islington, recommending procurement activity to provide a co-terminus 
date of July 2020 for these contracts. 
 
This would support the councils in providing sufficient time to develop 
a technology roadmap and strategy for social care services. 
 

11.   *NETWORK SERVICE TRANSFORMATION 
 

All Wards 
(Pages 187 - 
194) 

 Report of the Chief Digital and Information Officer 
 
This report proposes the convergence of the Councils’ network 
services, specifically their wide area networks (WANs), in light of the 
need to modernise our infrastructure and decommission legacy 
telephony circuits and lines by 2025. 
 
It outlines the business benefits of moving to a single shared network 
design, specifically: increased resilience and security, improved 
flexibility and scalability, and alignment with the Councils’ ICT 
transformation programmes. The existing infrastructure is aging and 
reliant on inflexible technology. As we move to our new co-located 
data centres the reliability of our network will be key and this proposal 
will ensure that our WAN is fit-for-purpose, easy to support and 
maintain (with a single supplier) and that it is able to meet increasing 
user needs for high-speed connectivity and improved network security. 
 
Together, our consolidated data centres, network services and cloud 
strategies will provide an enhanced service to our users and 
customers. As the key foundations to our ICT environment they will 
enable and support new and smart ways of working including 
increased flexibility for users to work on the move. 
 
To ensure that the WAN service is reliable and supportable it is 
proposed that the service be provided by a single supplier, and this 
report recommends that the WAN is procured using a Crown 
Commercial Services framework agreement. Soft market testing 
indicates that the implementation and 5-year operation of the WAN for 
the three Councils will cost c. £5.5m. 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 5



 

 

12.   SHARED DIGITAL FINANCIAL UPDATE 
 

All Wards 
(Pages 195 - 
200) 

 Report of the Deputy Director of Finance 
 
This report provides an update on the financial position of Shared 
Digital for the 2017/18 financial year, and lays out the building blocks 
for budget setting for 2018/19. 
 

 

13.   APPOINTMENT OF CHAIR FOR CALENDAR YEAR 
 

 
 

 To appoint the Chair from among the Committee members 
representing London Borough of Haringey for one calendar year upon 
the close of the meeting. 
 

 

14.   ANY OTHER BUSINESS THAT THE CHAIR DECIDES TO TAKE AS 
URGENT  
 

 
 

 
 
 

AGENDA ENDS 
 
 

The date of the next meeting will be Tuesday, 20 February 2018 at 7.30 pm in 
Committee Room 3, Town Hall, Judd Street London WC1H 9JE. 

 
 

Page 6



                                  
 

 
1 

 

 
At a meeting of the SHARED ICT AND DIGITAL SERVICE JOINT COMMITTEE 
held on MONDAY, 19TH JUNE, 2017 at 7.30 pm in the Committee Room 3, 
Islington Town Hall, Upper Street, N1 2UD 
 
MEMBERS OF THE COMMITTEE PRESENT 
 
Councillors Theo Blackwell (Chair), Jason Arthur, Ali Demirci, Andy Hull, 
Richard Olszewski and Claudia Webbe 
 
 
The minutes should be read in conjunction with the agenda for the meeting. 
They are subject to approval and signature at the next meeting of the Shared 
ICT and Digital Service Joint Committee. 
 
MINUTES 
 
 
1.   APOLOGIES  

 
There were no apologies for absence. 
 
2.   DECLARATIONS BY MEMBERS OF PECUNIARY AND NON-PECUNIARY 

INTERESTS IN RESPECT OF ITEMS ON THIS AGENDA  
 

There were no declarations of interest. 
 
3.   DEPUTATIONS  

 
There were no deputations. 
 
4.   ANNOUNCEMENTS  

 
There were no announcements. 
 
5.   NOTIFICATION OF ANY ITEMS OF BUSINESS THAT THE CHAIR 

DECIDES TO TAKE AS URGENT  
 

There were no items of urgent business. 
 
6.   MINUTES  

 
RESOLVED –  
 
THAT the minutes of meeting held on 8 November 2016 be approved and signed as 
a correct record. 
 

Page 7

Agenda Item 7

Page 7



Shared ICT and Digital Service Joint Committee - Monday, 19th June, 2017 
 
 

 
2 

 

7.   *SHARED DIGITAL BUDGET 2017/2018  
 

Consideration was given to the report of the Deputy Director of Finance and 
Procurement. 
 
RESOLVED –  
 

(i) THAT the financial plan based on the funding provision for the financial 
year to 31 March 2018, as presented to and agreed by the Shared 
Digital Management Board on 28 April 2017, be approved; and 

(ii) THAT the individual contributions be noted. 
 
Reasons: For the reasons set out in the report and above 
 
8.   *SHARED DIGITAL MOBILE PHONES/DEVICES PROCUREMENT 

STRATEGY  
 

Consideration was given to the report of the Chief Digital and Information Officer.   
 
Members commented on: 
 

 Rationalisation of mobile phones in the three boroughs and ensuring those 
who could benefit from devices had them; 

 Identifying silent phone contracts and eliminating the number of devices staff 
have that are not in use;  

 The possibility of achieving social value from a contract, such as accessing 
data that would support service provision; and 

 Consider who the devices will go to and what their needs are as the 
requirements for managers will be different to mobile/ front-line staff like 
caretakers. 
 

The Chief Digital and Information Officer and the Head of Procurement responded to 
Members’ queries as follows: 
 

 Implementation of the proposed strategy required rationalisation, a more 
effective approach to Bring Your Own Device (BYOD) and understanding the 
life cycle of mobile devices. 

 Discussions had been held with suppliers on the data that could be accessed 
about mobile phone users.  However, it was commented that social value had 
to be balanced with achieving efficiencies through the contract. 

 
RESOLVED –  
 

(i) THAT the single source procurement strategy for the supply of mobile 
devices, calls and data procurement for all three Boroughs be 
approved; and  

Page 8
Page 8



Shared ICT and Digital Service Joint Committee - Monday, 19th June, 2017 
 
 

 
3 

 

(ii) THAT authority be delegated to the Chief Digital and Information 
Officer (CDIO) to procure through a single supplier and award a 
contract.  The delegation shall cover the implementation of the strategy 
and the award of the contract itself. 

 
Reasons: For the reasons set out in the report and above 
 
9.   *SHARED DIGITAL MULTI - FUNCTIONAL DEVICES (MFD'S) AND 

PRINTROOM SERVICES PROCUREMENT STRATEGY  
 

Consideration was given to the report of the Chief Digital and Information Officer.   
 
Members commented on: 
 

 Need to reduce the use of paper through technology and training for staff and 
councillors in each of the three boroughs; 

 Whether print rooms would be rationalised; 

 How contracts would be bought out 
 
The Chief Digital and Information Officer responded to Members’ queries as follows: 
 

 Staff in the three local authorities were at different stages in moving to paper-
free working.  Opportunities were being assessed to support this as an 
aspiration.  Software such as Office 365 was being rolled out across the three 
boroughs.  Culture change would be required to reduce the amount of printing 
across the councils and this would take time to achieve. Councillors and staff 
would need reassurance that they can work with technology rather than 
paper. 

 Contract termination dates had been reviewed across the three councils.  
Suppliers were being approached with the option of contracting with three 
local authorities to secure better deals.  A phased or single transition could 
then be agreed.  Officers were seeking to standardise contract termination 
dates. 

 This procurement strategy was not about shutting down print rooms in each 
council, it was about consolidating the MFD estate and securing a single 
contract for Print Services, where appropriate. 
 

RESOLVED –  
 

(i) THAT the single source procurement strategy for the supply of MFD’s 
and Print Room services procurement for all three Boroughs be 
approved; and 

(ii) THAT authority be delegated to the Chief Digital and Information 
Officer (CDIO) to procure through a single supplier and award a 
contract.  The delegation shall cover the implementation of the strategy 
and the award of the contract itself. 

 

Page 9
Page 9



Shared ICT and Digital Service Joint Committee - Monday, 19th June, 2017 
 
 

 
4 

 

Reasons: For the reasons set out in the report and above 
 
10.   SHARED ICT AND DIGITAL SERVICE JOINT COMMITTEE TERMS OF 

REFERENCE  
 

Consideration was given to the report of the Chief Digital and Information Officer.   
 
Members commented on: 
 

 The need for the Joint Committee to meet a minimum of three times a year 
rather than two times as in the proposed amendments to the Terms of 
Reference; 

 That all Members of the Committee should be consulted on the draft reports; 

 That, as part of the Committee procedures rather than the Terms of 
Reference, all Members should be invited to a pre-meeting. 

 
The Portfolio Director and Transitional Lead informed the meeting that a more in-
depth review of governance would take place over summer. 
 
RESOLVED –  
 
THAT the changes to the Committee’s terms of reference set out in the report be 
recommended to the Leaders and/or Executive/Cabinet of each of the Councils for 
approval, subject to: 
 

 an amendment increasing the minimum number of meetings in a year to 
three; and  

 an additional requirement that the Chief Digital and Information Officer 
consults all members of the Committee on reports. 

 
Reasons: For the reasons set out in the report and above 
 
11.   PROGRESS WITH SHARED DIGITAL  

 
Consideration was given to the report of the Chief Digital and Information Officer.   
 
The following comments were made on the issue ‘How should the single Shared 
Digital service best support the three councils – should it seek a more devolved 
model or a more integrated one?’: 
 

 The Chief Digital and Information Officer said that on the chart on page 70 of 
the agenda pack, he would assess Shared Digital as being at the 
communicate/cooperate stage but was aiming at combined. 

 Members commented that further integration would enable exciting things to 
be done with the technology sector. 
 

Page 10
Page 10



Shared ICT and Digital Service Joint Committee - Monday, 19th June, 2017 
 
 

 
5 

 

 The Chief Digital and Information Officer considered the governance 
arrangements through a Joint Committee gave opportunities to align direction 
of travel in the three local authorities.  The Tri-borough shared services had 
been governed directly by the Cabinets in Westminster City Council, the 
London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham and the Royal Borough of 
Kensington and Chelsea.  This meant that they were not always aligned in 
timing and direction of travel. 

 The Chief Digital and Information Officer noted that the combined scale of the 
shared service provided for more effective analytics with the boroughs 
combined populations allowing statistically significant analysis of population 
trends. 

 The Chair stated that the effectiveness of greater integration should be tested.  
The service should aim to get the benefits of collaboration while ensuring 
appropriate checks and balances. 

 
The following comments were made on the issue ‘What principles does the Shared 
ICT and Digital Service Joint Committee think should apply if a council decides to opt 
out of a shared solution?’: 
 

 The Chief Digital and Information Officer commented that if a council opted 
out of a shared solution, this would reduce efficiencies for all of the partners 
and queried how potential opt outs should be addressed. 

 There was some support for ensuring that the cost of opting-out of a shared 
solution cover the loss incurred by the other partners.  However, it was also 
suggested that there should be some consideration of how important an 
initiative was as part of the assessment of total cost. 

 The Chief Digital and Information Officer considered that working towards a 
shared strategy for Shared Digital would highlight differences between the 
three local authorities early on.   

 There was agreement that as the aim was for greater collaboration, there 
ought to be a shared strategy. 

 The Chair suggested that common standards be included in the draft values 
and behaviours. 

 Members discussed the need to consider any challenges to more 
collaborative working within their own Councils. 

 The Executive Director of Corporate Services commented that more 
information was needed on the opportunity set.  The degree of difficulties and 
collateral impacts should be considered if a council was to opt out of a shared 
solution.  For example, the alignment of finance systems and social care 
systems could raise concerns within individual local authorities. 

 Members discussed that there was an important role for them as Shared ICT 
and Digital Service Joint Committee Members to communicate back with 
other Members and residents and explain to them what the strategy means to 
them. 

 In response to a request that disbenefits of shared solutions be teased out, 
the Chief Digital and Information Officer stated that any identified impacts or 
risks would be mitigated. 

Page 11
Page 11



Shared ICT and Digital Service Joint Committee - Monday, 19th June, 2017 
 
 

 
6 

 

 
The Chief Digital and Information Officer informed the meeting that a draft strategy 
for Shared Digital could be considered by the Committee at its meeting on October 
2017, based around the principles in the business case, including a delivery plan and 
a final draft could be agreed by the Committee in February 2018. 
 
It was agreed that the draft values and behaviours should be considered at a future 
session on digital leadership. 
 

ACTION FOR: Chief Digital and Information Officer 
 
RESOLVED –  
 
THAT the report be noted. 
 
 Reasons: For the reasons set out in the report and above 
 
12.   SHARED DIGITAL JOINT COMMITTEE 2017/18 MEETINGS  

 
RESOLVED –  
 
THAT the proposed dates for Joint Committee meetings for the rest of 2017/18 be 
approved: 
 
30 October 2017 (Haringey Civic Centre) 
20 February 2018 (Camden Town Hall) 
 
Reasons: According to the Terms of Reference, the Joint Committee will meet at 
least twice a year. 
 
13.   ANY OTHER BUSINESS THAT THE CHAIR DECIDES TO TAKE AS 

URGENT  
 

There was no urgent business. 
 
The meeting ended at 8.32 pm 
 
 
CHAIR 
 
 

Contact Officer: Cheryl Hardman 

Telephone No: 020 7974 1619 

E-Mail: Principal Committee Officer 

 
 MINUTES END 

Page 12
Page 12



 

Shared Digital Joint Committee Governance Review v1.1 | 19 October 2017 Page 1 of 11 

 

 
   

 

 
REPORT TITLE 
Shared Digital Governance Model Review 
 
 
REPORT OF 
Ed Garcez, Chief Digital and Information Officer 
 
 
FOR SUBMISSION TO 
Shared Digital Joint Committee 
 

 
DATE 
30 October 2017 

 
SUMMARY OF REPORT 
The terms of reference for the Shared Digital Joint Committee require that the Joint 
Committee, by October/ November 2017, receive and consider a detailed report setting 
out Governance Model Options for Shared Digital and to make recommendations to the 
Cabinet/ Executive of each of the Councils in respect of the report. Options to be 
evaluated were to include the Joint Committee model as well as company models. 
 
This report builds on work with the Joint Committee Cabinet Members, the Councils’ 
Chief Executives and senior officers over the summer to assess and consider 
governance models and sets out the reasons for the recommended option.  
 
Local Government Act 1972 – Access to Information 
 
The following document(s) has been used in the preparation of this report: none. 
 
Contact officers: 
Ed Garcez, Chief Digital Information Officer 
5 Pancras Square, London, N1C 4AG  
 
ed.garcez@camden.gov.uk  
0207 974 4583 
 
 
 
WHAT DECISIONS ARE BEING ASKED FOR? 
That the Shared Digital Joint Committee agree and recommend to the Cabinets/ 
Executive of Islington, Haringey and Camden that:  
 

1. The Cabinet/ Executives note the options set out in the detailed ‘Shared Digital 
Governance Model Options’ report at Appendix 1 prepared by Activist Group 
following extensive work since March 2017 with Councillors and senior officers. 
 

2. The Cabinet/ Executives approve the adoption of the governance model for the 
Shared Digital Service set out as Option 1 (a ‘lean’ Joint Committee model in 
paragraphs 3.2, 3.6 – 3.13 of this report and paragraphs 4.5 – 4.9 of Appendix 1) 
based on the outcomes framework at Table 2.4, paragraph 2.26 of Appendix 1 

Page 13

Agenda Item 8

Page 13



 

Shared Digital Joint Committee Governance Review v1.1 | 19 October 2017 Page 2 of 11 

 

 
   

 

with a planned service commencement date of {to be confirmed before 
submission to Cabinet/ Executives}. 
 

3. The Cabinet/ Executives approve Camden as the host Council and agree to the 
proposed staffing arrangements set out in section 5.1 of this report. 
 

4. The Executive/ Cabinets of Islington and Haringey delegate to Camden (as the 
primary host authority in the Shared Service) the delivery of ICT services to 
include employing staff, managing the service, financial management and making 
day to day decisions. 
 

5. The Executive/ Cabinets agree the Joint Committee be reconstituted to reflect the 
new governance model at 2 above. 
 

6. The Executive/ Cabinets agree the Joint Committee will consist of two elected 
members from each Council. 
 

7. The Executive/ Cabinets approve the creation of a Strategy and Portfolio 
Management Board, accountable to the Joint Committee, to manage the service, 
with an appointed Director from each Council amongst other key members of staff 
to be appointed from each Council and the Chief Digital Information Officer (or 
suitable alternative).  
 

8. The Executive/ Cabinets make arrangements to delegate to relevant officers, on 
advice from their respective Borough Solicitors or equivalent, to take the 
necessary steps to put the above arrangements into effect including but not 
limited to finalising the terms of the inter-authority agreement and any changes to 
it and for the operation of the 3 way Shared Digital Service. 

 
 
 

Date: 19/10/2017 Signed: 

 
 
 
1 WHAT IS THIS REPORT ABOUT? 

 
1.1 Camden, Haringey and Islington Councils recognise that sharing their Digital and 

ICT services will bring many benefits, including saving money, improving 
performance and resilience, and sharing learning to support better digital services 
to citizens and residents.  
 

Page 14
Page 14



 

Shared Digital Joint Committee Governance Review v1.1 | 19 October 2017 Page 3 of 11 

 

 
   

 

1.2 Shared Digital was established using a Joint Committee governance structure. 
The terms of reference for the Shared Digital Joint Committee require that the 
Joint Committee, by October/ November 2017, receive and consider a detailed 
report setting out Governance Model Options for Shared Digital and to make 
recommendations to the Cabinet/ Executive of each of the Councils in respect of 
the report. Options to be evaluated to include the Joint Committee model as well 
as company models. 
 

1.3 The current governance of Shared Digital is underpinned by a legal agreement 
and terms of reference for the Shared Digital Joint Committee. The legal 
agreement works within the framework of the Local Government Acts 1972 and 
2000, and the Localism Act 2011, which give Local Authorities powers to delegate 
the discharge of functions to another Local Authority or to a Joint Committee, and 
to make staff available ('place' staff) in order to discharge the functions in 
accordance with s113 Local Government Act 1972. Section 113 of the Local 
Government Act 1972 enables staff of local authorities to be placed at disposal of 
other local authorities, subject to consultation. Staff are essentially shared by a 
form of secondment, in which staff remain employees of their original authority for 
superannuation purposes, but can also take delegated decisions on behalf of the 
authority they have been seconded to. At the inception of the Shared Digital staff 
in the Councils were issued with a Section 113 notice and have received recent 
confirmation that this arrangement continues indefinitely pending any further 
decision stemming from the conclusion from the review being undertaken by the 
Joint Committee or change to the shared service which impacts on this 
arrangement. 
 

1.4 From March 2017, a Governance Model Review Project was set up to fulfil the 
commitment to find the right governance model for Shared Digital in two phases:  

 Phase 1 was completed in July, and focused on exploring the future and 
helping the three partner boroughs to develop a shared understanding of 
the options available for the governance of their shared service, and to 
confirm their future ambitions (narrowing down options for detailed review in 
the options report). 

 Phase 2 has investigated the options from Phase 1, and set out in detail an 
assessment of the two main options (a ‘lean’ Joint Committee and a public 
service company) for the Joint Committee to consider. This is set out in the 
discussion report attached as Appendix 1 to this report.  

 
2 WHY IS THIS REPORT NECESSARY? 

 
2.1 This report provides the detail for the Joint Committee in order to fulfil the 

requirement in its terms of reference that it:  
 

“Receive and consider a detailed report, within twelve months of the creation 
of the Joint Committee [by October/ November 2017] that considers the 
Governance Model Options for Shared Digital and to make 
recommendations to the Cabinet/ Executive of each of the Councils in 
respect of the report. Options to be evaluated to include the Joint Committee 
model as well as company models.” 

Page 15
Page 15



 

Shared Digital Joint Committee Governance Review v1.1 | 19 October 2017 Page 4 of 11 

 

 
   

 

 
3 OPTIONS 

 
3.1 There are three options, to adopt one of the two models: a ‘lean’ Joint Committee 

model or a company model as identified and evaluated in the detailed report 
(Appendix 1), or to maintain the status quo. 
 

3.2 Option 1: a ‘lean’ Joint Committee, similar to the current arrangements, with some 
streamlining – see the following paragraphs of the Activist Group report in 
Appendix 1 for more detail: 

 discussed in paragraphs 3.7 to 3.14 
 specific detail on the model in paragraphs 4.5 to 4.8 
 evaluation in paragraphs 4.9 

 
3.3 Option 2: a public service company that could be jointly owned by the three 

partners – see the following paragraphs of the Activist Group report for more 
detail: 

 evaluation in paragraph 4.10 
 

3.4 Option 3: to maintain the current governance model. 
 

3.5 Option 3 is not recommended. The current model cannot address the fundamental 
issues that have been identified (see Table 2.3, paragraph 2.25, of Appendix 1), 
ie: 

 Complex decision-making: current decision-making processes and 
delegations are complex and introduce unnecessary risks and delays. 

 Constitutional differences: there is currently a divergence in views as to 
the operation of the arrangements and some ambiguity over some of the 
provisions which should be addressed by the recommended option. 

 Diffuse employment arrangements: the current arrangements for 
employment (with three employers) adds complexity and impedes the 
formation of a cohesive and focussed organisation. 

 
To meet the Councils’ ambitions, and provide stability for staff in the service, a 
new governance model is urgently needed. 
 
Option 1: a ‘lean’ Joint Committee 
 

3.6 In this model Haringey and Islington would directly delegate their Digital and ICT 
services to Camden as ‘host’ authority under s101 of the Local Government 
Act 1972 (this is the model used by Brent, Lewisham and Southwark for their 
shared ICT service) but with that being strategically directed by the Joint 
Committee. 
 

3.7 This delegation would include employing the staff, managing the service and 
making day-to-day operational decisions about the service subject to 
strategic direction by the JC.  
 

Page 16
Page 16



 

Shared Digital Joint Committee Governance Review v1.1 | 19 October 2017 Page 5 of 11 

 

 
   

 

3.8 Staff would be transferred to Camden under TUPE Regulations. Pension fund 
arrangements will need to be examined and addressed by the three Councils as 
part of the transfer due diligence.  
 

3.9 The arrangement would be underpinned by inter-authority agreements and 
service descriptions which set out roles and responsibilities of in particular 
the Joint Committee and mutual expectations generally. 
 

3.10 A Joint Committee of the partners would approve business plans and 
strategies; monitoring high-level progress against the business plans and 
financial budgets.  
 

3.11 Re-casting the arrangements to include standard consistent and specific 
delegations to the host authority and to Joint Committee would streamline 
decision-making while retaining transparency and accountability.  
 

3.12 The principles of a governance framework to support the ‘lean’ Joint Committee 
are set out Table 4.1, paragraph 4.7 of Appendix 1.  
 

3.13 An overview of the governance framework aligned with the lean Joint Committee is 
shown below, with four key elements: 
 

 
 

1. The Shared Digital Joint Committee approves the service budgets, 
business plans and strategy. It monitors progress against the 
business plan and takes strategic decisions about the service and 
high value procurement decisions at a level to be decided by the three 
Boroughs. It maintains democratic accountability and oversight, 
avoiding the need for the service to work through three decision-
making processes. It will be decision making.  
 

2. The Strategy and Portfolio Management Board is the strategic 
interface to the three Councils, advocating for the shared service and 
ensuring that key priorities are reflected and optimised in the portfolio. 
It is the portfolio board for shared programmes, resolving conflict and 
ensuring that transformation effort is focused and delivering 
effectively. 

Shared Digital 
Joint Committee
Cabinet Members & 

Chief Digital Information Officer

Mobile 
Working

Strategy and Portfolio 
Management Board

Finance and Transformation Directors &
Chief Digital Information Officer

Customer 
Enabling

Using Data 
Better

Process 
Efficiencies

Enabling 
Infrastructure

Consolidating 
Services

Shared Digital 
Senior Leadership Team

Applications & Business Solutions | Core Infrastructure 
Digital Partnerships x 3 | Portfolio and Programmes

User GroupsUser Groups
User Groups User Groups

The JC approves the service budgets, business plans and strategy. It 
monitors progress against the business plan and takes strategic decisions 
about the service. Maintains democratic accountability and oversight, avoiding 
the need for the service to work through three decision-making processes.

The SPMB is the strategic interface to the three councils, advocating for the 
shared service and ensuring that key priorities are reflected and optimised in 
the portfolio. It is the portfolio board for shared programmes, resolving conflict 
and ensuring that transformation effort is focused and delivering effectively.

The programme boards for each of the 
key transformation themes are each 
jointly chaired by senior officers from 
each of the three councils. These boards 
will ensure that demand is managed and 
prioritised, and that service and digital 
resource is effectively allocated to the 
projects that matter most. The co-
chaired programme boards ensure that 
sponsorship of each programme is 
distributed across the three councils.

The Senior Leadership Team is 
responsible for day-to-day delivery of 
transformation programmes and 
operational ICT services. 

The SLT reports operational matters to 
the SPMB on an exceptional basis, and 
coordinates regular monthly highlight 
reports for the Shared Digital portfolio to 
report to the SPMB. The SLT acts as a 
first point of escalation for programme
boards.

Page 17
Page 17



 

Shared Digital Joint Committee Governance Review v1.1 | 19 October 2017 Page 6 of 11 

 

 
   

 

 
3. Priority shared digital transformation themes/ programme boards 

for each of the key transformation themes. These are each jointly 
chaired by a senior officer from each of the three Councils. These 
boards will ensure that demand is managed and prioritised, and that 
service and digital resource is effectively allocated to the projects that 
matter most. The co-chaired programme boards ensure that 
sponsorship of each programme is distributed across the three 
Councils. 
 

4. The Shared Digital Senior Leadership Team is responsible for day-
to-day delivery of transformation programmes and operational ICT 
services. The SLT reports operational matters to the Strategic 
Portfolio Management Board on an exceptional basis, and coordinates 
regular monthly highlight reports for the Shared Digital portfolio to 
report to the Strategic Portfolio Management Board. The SLT acts as 
a first point of escalation for programme boards. 

 
Option 2: a public services company 
 

3.14 The three Councils can setup a publicly owned company (without requiring a 
procurement exercise providing they all take part in the control of the company 
(this is often called the 'Teckal exemption')).  
 

3.15 The company can offer a proportion of its services commercially to external 
customers up to a maximum of 20% of its turnover. If that threshold is exceeded 
the company will lose its Teckal exemption and the work undertaken by the 
company on behalf of its owning bodies will need to be put out to tender by those 
owning bodies in line with public procurement regulations. 
 

3.16 Legal arrangements for a company owned by local authority partners would need 
to be put in place and would include: 

 The articles of association of the company which sets out the 
governance of the company, including issues such as decision-making 
arrangements for shareholders and directors. 

 A shareholders' agreement: this will cover arrangements between the 
owning partners such as mechanisms for managing changes to 
shareholdings; and notice periods and provisions from withdrawal from the 
company. 

 The contract between the company and each of the owning 
authorities, identifying the service provided and the payment mechanisms. 

 Reserved matters: this will include decisions (eg over major expenditure 
and taking on new partners) that the owning partners will not delegate to 
the board of directors. 

 

Page 18
Page 18



 

Shared Digital Joint Committee Governance Review v1.1 | 19 October 2017 Page 7 of 11 

 

 
   

 

3.17 A board of directors would need to be established. A local authority company’s 
board of directors would generally include a combination of staff, directors, and/ or 
elected members from the owning authorities. Elected members can be nominated 
to sit on the board of directors for the company. If they are appointed as directors, 
they will have a duty to 'promote the success of the company' which may 
sometimes be at odds with the objectives of one or more of the shareholding 
owners. As a result, a separation is advisable between decisions made by the 
board of directors and decisions made by shareholders (eg at general meetings of 
shareholders). 
 

4 WHAT ARE THE REASONS FOR THE RECOMMENDED DECISIONS? 
 

4.1 This report recommends that the Joint Committee model be refined to address the 
issues set out in paragraph 3.4 and that the service be governed under a ‘lean’ 
Joint Committee model. 
 

4.2 The Councils’ Digital and ICT teams have been in a state of transition for a 
number of years. Ongoing uncertainty is adversely impacting staff morale, and in 
turn the service. It is imperative that the future governance arrangements for the 
shared service be confirmed and implemented.  
 

4.3 The interim ‘secondment’ arrangement currently in place is not considered 
sustainable in the long term nor are long term secondments generally considered 
to be good practice, and such arrangements are not aligned with the Councils 
ambition to establish a high-performing single team that retains and attracts the 
best Digital and ICT staff. Both of the options discussed in this paper involve the 
formation and development of a single team. Delay in implementing the single 
team will compromise committed savings and further undermine staff morale. 
 

4.4 The public services company model is not recommended at this time as it is 
considered on balance that the lean JC model will be able to satisfactorily develop 
this project at this time. Should the Councils wish to trade services in the future, a 
trading arm could be established to facilitate that. 
 

4.5 The ‘do nothing’ option is not recommended for the reasons set out in paragraph 
3.4 above. 
 

5 WHAT ARE THE IMPACTS/ RISKS? HOW WILL THEY BE ADDRESSED? 
 

Page 19
Page 19



 

Shared Digital Joint Committee Governance Review v1.1 | 19 October 2017 Page 8 of 11 

 

 
   

 

5.1 If the Shared Digital Joint Committee approve the recommendation, Camden 
would be responsible for employing staff engaged to deliver the Shared ICT 
Service. As a result of the service transferring under this model, as stated in 
paragraph 3.8, it is considered likely that some Islington and Haringey staff would 
be eligible to transfer to Camden (as the host authority) under the Transfer of 
Undertakings (Protection of Employment) Regulations 2006 (TUPE). Pension 
arrangements and liabilities arising from transferring staff will need to be 
determined. Haringey, Islington and Camden will be required to comply with their 
usual statutory obligations. The Council’s respective procedures on managing 
change and consulting with departments, staff and the respective unions will be 
followed in respect of all affected staff where applicable. 
 

6 WHAT ACTIONS WILL BE TAKEN AND WHEN FOLLOWING THE DECISION 
AND HOW WILL THIS BE MONITORED? 
 

6.1 If the Shared Digital Joint Committee agrees the recommendation, officers will 
prepare a report for the consideration at the 6 December Cabinet in Camden, the 
12 December Cabinet in Haringey, and the 23 November Executive in Islington. 
 

6.2 The report will seek approval or delegated approval for other all of the changes 
needed to legally implement the recommended option so that this can be 
implemented as efficiently as possible once the decision is taken. 
 

6.3 If the Shared Digital Joint Committee is unable to agree the recommendation, the 
risks associated with uncertainty for staff would continue and would be 
exacerbated. This could impact service delivery and resilience. 
 

7 CONSULTATION 
 

7.1 A series of stakeholder engagement sessions have taken place with senior officers 
and Members from Camden, Haringey and Islington, around the governance 
model detailed in this report and associated appendices, including: 

 meetings with the Legal services on 22 and 29 September 
 meetings with the Shared Digital Delivery Board on 22 and 29 September 
 meetings with members of the Shared Digital Joint Committee on 24 July 

(at an informal meeting), and in a series of interviews over the second half 
of September 

 meetings and calls with the three Chief Executives in September and 
October  

 
7.2 Staff across the service have been advised that this review of governance options 

is underway and there have been informal discussions at staff ‘huddle’ meetings. 
Further consultation with staff on transfer will take place, subject to the decision of 
the Joint Committee and Cabinet/ Executive. 
 

8 LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 
 

Page 20
Page 20



 

Shared Digital Joint Committee Governance Review v1.1 | 19 October 2017 Page 9 of 11 

 

 
   

 

8.1 The report recommends that each Council now re-cast the current arrangements 
for the delivery of a joint ICT service. In summary, it recommends: 
 
(i) That the operation of ICT-related functions are transferred to Camden 

including the employment of staff (which will entail on the day this 
“delegation” takes effect a TUPE transfer of the relevant staff to Camden) 
subject to (ii).  

 
(ii) That the Joint Committee is re-constituted to provide strategic oversight on 

behalf of the three Boroughs including monitoring and approving budgets 
and business plans and taking high value procurement decisions with other 
specified matters delegated to the Chief Digital Information Officer under 
the general direction of an officer Strategy and Portfolio Management 
Board. 

 
8.2 So far as the Joint Committee is concerned, the power to make joint arrangements 

originates from s. 101(5) of the Local Government Act read with Part 4 of SI 
2012/1019 (“the Discharge of Functions Regulations”). These provisions confer 
power upon the executive of each Council (reg. 4 of the Discharge of Functions 
Regulations) to make arrangements for the joint exercise of their powers with 
another authority. The functions here, ICT and related activity, are matters within 
the power of the executives. The ultimate form of “delegation” to a Joint 
Committee must be aligned with each Council’s constitution in the sense that a 
constitution might prevent or limit the scope of “delegation” to a Joint Committee, 
or might impose conditions as to the further “delegation” of decision-making power 
by a Joint Committee, but subject to any express provision to that effect, the power 
to “delegate” to a Joint Committee, and the terms on which powers may be 
exercised by a Joint Committee, are a matter for the executive to determine by 
way of the particular arrangements entered into pursuant to s. 101(5). If no 
express provision is made then the default position in s. 101(5)(a) and 101(2) will 
apply and the Joint Committee will be entitled to arrange for the discharge of its 
functions by a sub-committee or officer. 
 

8.3 Therefore, it will be open to each authority to impose express limitations on the 
exercise of power by the Joint Committee in the terms of the arrangements 
regarding transfer of powers to the Joint Committee. Once functions have been 
“delegated” to the Joint Committee then their exercise is for the Joint Committee to 
manage subject only to the terms of that “delegation”. Hence, for example, the 
schemes of delegation which apply internally within each Council regarding the 
exercise of decision-making power by committees and officers within that Council 
do not apply to the delegation of power to the Joint Committee (unless they are 
expressly incorporated into or otherwise applied to the terms of “delegation” of 
power to the Joint Committee). 
 

Page 21
Page 21



 

Shared Digital Joint Committee Governance Review v1.1 | 19 October 2017 Page 10 of 11 

 

 
   

 

8.4 Similarly, the transfer of certain functions to Camden will be arranged pursuant to 
express provisions in s. 101(1)(b) of the Local Government Act 1972 and Part 3 of 
the Discharge of Functions Regulations. The terms on which Camden will be 
entitled to exercise those functions, including any relevant restrictions on 
“delegation” of decision-making power within Camden, depend upon the terms of 
the arrangements which transfer the relevant functions to Camden rather than 
upon the constitution of any Council. In default of specific provision, it can be 
expected that Camden’s scheme of “delegation” will apply to decisions taken by 
Camden pursuant to the transfer of functions to Camden by Haringey and 
Islington. 
 

8.5 The proposed new model – of direct “delegation” to Camden of some functions 
and the re-casting of the JC to provide strategic oversight – can be achieved 
without the need to change constitutions (unless, exceptionally, a constitution has 
already made express provision which would restrict the power of the executive to 
“delegate” functions to the Joint Committee or the powers of the Joint Committee 
to exercise those functions).  
 
Next Legal steps  
 

1. Each Council to confirm that there are no constitutional bars to the 
proposed arrangements and if there are to take appropriate steps to 
amend those provisions or seek dispensation for these particular 
arrangements 

 
2. Each Council to work up the detail around the proposed amended 

terms of reference for the JC and Strategy and Portfolio Management 
Board. The powers of this Board will need to be carefully considered 
and distinguished from those of the Joint Committee and Camden 

 
3. The results of the above to feed into agreed decisions to be taken by 

each Executive  
 

4. The Councils to agree a go live date for the transfer of the function to 
Camden and therefore the TUPE date for staff to be captured in the 
decisions of the Executives  

 
9 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS  

(finance comments of the Executive Director Corporate Services) 
 

9.1 The implications below are agreed across Camden, Haringey and Islington. 
 

9.2 The two options for proposed governance models of Shared Digital presented this 
paper will carry different financial implications. Whichever governance model is 
chosen, any costs associated should be shared equally between the three 
authorities, as per the agreed financial approach for Shared Digital, and additional 
funding will need to be identified to support this. 
 

Page 22
Page 22



 

Shared Digital Joint Committee Governance Review v1.1 | 19 October 2017 Page 11 of 11 

 

 
   

 

9.3 The lean Joint Committee option builds on the current governance model, and no 
significant cost increase would be expected. The public services company model 
will incur additional governance and set up costs. These are as yet unquantified 
but further due diligence, including professional legal and tax advice, will be 
needed for a detailed assessment of financial implications.  
 

9.4 The transfer of staff under TUPE would result in the transfer of pension liabilities to 
the host employer’s pension fund, with accompanying proportional transfer of 
assets to be determined by actuarial valuation. Cost associated with the transfer 
would also be shared equally between authorities as per the agreed financial 
approach. The arrangements for cost of staff transferred under TUPE will be 
covered by the wider arrangements for ongoing cost of service, and align with the 
funding agreements across the three councils. 
 

10 APPENDICES 
 

10.1 Shared Digital Governance Model Options Discussion Paper (Appendix 1) 
prepared by Activist Group. 
 

REPORT ENDS 
 

Page 23
Page 23



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 24
Page 24



Camden, Haringey and Islington 

Shared Digital  
Governance Model Options 

Discussion Paper 

Activist Group 

October 2017 

Appendix 1

Page 25
Page 25



Shared Digital governance options 

1 
 

 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

This report was produced on behalf of Camden, Haringey and Islington Councils by Activist 
Group. 
 
Report Details 
 

 

Report Authors Eric Bohl (Activist Group) 
Caroline Stanger (Activist Group) 
 

Contributors Helen Thomas (Activist Group)  
Mike Wynn (Activist Group) 
 

Version number v1.2 
 
Date 

 
19 October 2017 
 

Revisions v1.2: revised following final comments and case study approval. 
 

Page 26
Page 26



Shared Digital governance options 

2 
 

Contents 
 
Contents  .................................................................................................................................. 2 

Executive summary ...................................................................................................................... 4 

Table 0.1: Success factors for shared ICT services ........................................................... 4 

1.  Introduction ................................................................................................................ 6 

Purpose of this report 6 

Background to the report 6 

Our approach 6 

Table 1.1: Activist work programme for phase 1 - exploration ........................................... 6 

Table 1.2: Activist work programme for phase 2 - evaluation ............................................. 7 

How we engaged with people 8 

The process for identifying the right governance model 9 

Figure 1.1: Process for identifying a preferred governance model option .......................... 9 

2.  Summary of findings in phase 1 .............................................................................. 10 

Introduction 10 

What makes for a successful shared ICT service 10 

Table 2.1: Success factors for shared ICT services ......................................................... 10 

Initial governance of the shared service 11 

Issues identified by stakeholders 13 

Table 2.2: List of issues identified by stakeholders and their impact on the service ........ 13 

Our assessment of the issues identified 16 

Building the partnership .................................................................................................... 16 

Decision-making ............................................................................................................... 16 

Management, recruitment and retention ........................................................................... 17 

Summary of our findings on the issues identified ............................................................. 18 

Table 2.3: Fundamental issues to be resolved in next governance model ....................... 18 

Confirmation of outcomes and evaluation criteria 19 

Table 2.4: Outcomes framework for Shared Digital .......................................................... 19 

The key issues to inform the evaluation criteria 20 

Table 2.5: Key questions for evaluating the governance model options .......................... 20 

Summary of our findings on the initial governance model 21 

3.  What governance options are available? ................................................................ 22 

Introduction 22 

Table 3.1: Sourcing options .............................................................................................. 22 

Table 3.2: Longlist of options for consideration (longlist highlighted in red) ..................... 22 

Option 1: joint committee structures 23 

The legal context .............................................................................................................. 23 

Setting up a joint committee under the 1972 Act .............................................................. 24 

Models for shared services using joint committees .......................................................... 24 

Page 27
Page 27



Shared Digital governance options 

3 
 

Option 2: company structures 25 

Introduction ....................................................................................................................... 25 

The legal context .............................................................................................................. 25 

Setting up a company ....................................................................................................... 26 

Governance arrangements ............................................................................................... 26 

Involvement of the private sector 27 

Introduction ....................................................................................................................... 27 

Working with service providers ......................................................................................... 27 

Working with software and hardware providers and specialists ....................................... 28 

The likely future role of private partners ........................................................................... 28 

Case studies – key points and findings 29 

4.  Evaluating the governance model options............................................................... 30 

Introduction 30 

A ‘lean’ joint committee model 30 

Key features of the lean model ......................................................................................... 30 

Governance framework for lean joint committee .............................................................. 31 

Table 4.1: Governance framework for lean JC – advantages and disadvantages ........... 31 

Evaluating option 1: the ‘lean’ joint committee option 33 

Table 4.2: Evaluation of ‘lean’ joint committee ................................................................. 33 

Evaluating option 2: the public sector company option 35 

Table 4.2: Evaluation of public sector company model .................................................... 35 

Conclusions 38 

5.  Next steps ............................................................................................................... 39 

Introduction 39 

Implementation – Joint Committee 39 

Action plan ........................................................................................................................ 39 

Table 5.1: Key activities for the implementation of a ‘lean’ joint committee ..................... 39 

Key risks ........................................................................................................................... 40 

Table 5.2: Key risks and suggested mitigations ............................................................... 40 

Implementation – public service company 42 

Action plan ........................................................................................................................ 42 

Table 5.3: Key activities for the implementation of a company model .............................. 42 

Key risks ........................................................................................................................... 44 

Table 5.4: Key risks and suggested mitigations ............................................................... 44 

Summary 45 

Appendices ................................................................................................................................ 46 

Appendix 1  ................................................................................................................................ 47 

Examples of sourcing options .................................................................................................... 47 

Appendix 2  ................................................................................................................................ 48 

Case studies .............................................................................................................................. 48 

Page 28
Page 28



Shared Digital governance options 

4 
 

Executive summary 
1. This purpose of this report is to provide the basis of a discussion about the best 

governance option for the ‘Shared Digital’ service for the London Boroughs of Camden, 
Haringey and Islington. It is designed to enable you to meet the partners’ commitment to 
a detailed report in the depth required to explore fully the governance options available. 

2. Camden, Haringey and Islington Councils have recognised that sharing their digital and 
ICT services would bring numerous benefits, including saving money and improving 
their performance and resilience. Building on the initial plans for a shared service 
between Camden and Islington, the three councils launched their three-way shared 
Digital and ICT Service in 2016. 

3. Activist Group were commissioned by you to provide independent advice on the most 
suitable governance model for Shared Digital and this report sets out to meet the 
requirements of the Joint Committee’s terms of reference for a detailed report on the 
options. 

4. We have carried out our work for you in two phases – the first phase explored the 
current position for Shared Digital, including your initial governance framework and 
supporting agreements. The second phase involved working with stakeholders from all 
the partners to establish: 

 Their views about the issues around the current governance arrangements. 

 What their ambitions are for the Shared Digital service, expressed as a series of 
outcomes. 

 Which of these are critical to evaluating a new model. 

 What governance options are available. 

5. In our experience, there a number of factors that are characteristic of effective ICT 
shared services and which have helped to inform our analysis: 

Table 0.1: Success factors for shared ICT services 

 Commonality of vision and strategies between the partners. 
 Senior business sponsorship of transformation and technology. 
 Shared expectations about relationships between the shared service and partners - 

and between partners. 
 Partners working together as a joint sponsor rather than as separate clients. 
 Close collaboration between partner authorities and the shared service. 
 An agreed balance between cost and quality that is endorsed by all partners. 
 Transparency over performance and costs between the shared services and the 

clients. 
 Simplicity and consistency in governance and charging arrangements. 
 Clarity about what the service is and what it isn't. 

6. We have found that Shared Digital demonstrates many of these success factors. For 
example, we found it possible from our discussions with senior stakeholders to identify 
an ambitious yet realistic set of outcomes with which the partners were well aligned. 

Page 29
Page 29



Shared Digital governance options 

5 
 

7. However, our assessment of the issues reported to us that have arisen from Shared 
Digital’s initial governance model suggested that the current model acts as a barrier to 
you achieving your ambitions. As a result, we have recommended that you replace the 
current model. You wisely planned to review your initial governance model after the first 
year of operation and now have the opportunity to identify the right model for the future. 

8. We have developed two shortlisted alternative models for consideration and used 
evaluation criteria to assess their competing claims: 

 Option 1: a ‘lean’ joint committee, which is designed as a streamlined version of 
the current arrangements. 

 Option 2: a public service company that would be jointly owned by the three 
partners. 

9. We have considered how these models support the desired outcomes and address the 
issues raised. The remainder of the report considers the activities required to implement 
these models and the key risks involved.  

10. We have concluded that either of these models would be capable of enabling you to 
meet your objectives, although each has nuances that need to be considered by you 
before you decide on recommendations to your cabinets or executives about the future 
governance model for Shared Digital. 

11. The partners in Shared Digital have recognised the need to keep the governance model 
under review and examine opportunities for improving its effectiveness. This discussion 
document is designed to help the Joint Committee to steer Shared Digital towards the 
next landmark in its journey. 

Summary of recommendations 

1. That it be noted that the initial governance model for Shared Digital cannot address 
the fundamental issues summarised in table 2.3 and that a new model will be 
required in order to deliver the partners' ambitions. 

2. That the outcomes framework set out in table 2.4 be endorsed as the basis for further 
work to guide the development of Shared Digital. 

3. That each partner ensures that its senior political and managerial leadership provides 
active sponsorship for the technology-enabled transformational programmes that 
Shared Digital will support. 

4. That regardless of the model selected, if necessary, you proceed to amend your 
constitutions as envisaged in your legal agreement and, in particular, to align your 
schemes of delegation in respect of Shared Digital. 

5. That you consider our evaluation of two models and decide which governance model 
or models are most likely to deliver the outcomes you are seeking at this stage of the 
development of Shared Digital. 

 

 

Page 30
Page 30



Shared Digital governance options 

6 
 

1. Introduction 

Purpose of this report 

1.1 This purpose of this report is to provide the basis of a discussion concerning the best 
governance option for the ‘Shared Digital’ service for the London Boroughs of Camden, 
Haringey and Islington. It is designed to enable you to meet the partners’ commitment to 
a detailed report in the depth required to explore fully the governance options available. 

Background to the report 

1.2 Camden, Haringey and Islington Councils have recognised that sharing their digital and 
ICT services would bring numerous benefits, including saving money and improving 
their performance and resilience. Building on the initial plans for a shared service 
between Camden and Islington, the three councils launched their three-way shared 
Digital and ICT Service in 2016. 

1.3 The shared service partnership was established using a joint committee governance 
structure. As part of the original terms of reference for the Joint Committee, it was 
agreed that the Joint Committee would: 

“Receive and consider a detailed report, within twelve months of the creation of the Joint 
Committee [by October 2017] that considers the options for the Shared Digital and ICT 
Service to be delivered via a public services company rather than a Joint Committee 
structure and make recommendations to the Cabinet/Executive of each of the Councils 
in respect of the report.” 

1.4 Activist Group were commissioned by you to provide independent advice on the most 
suitable governance model for Shared Digital and this report sets out to meet the 
requirements of the Joint Committee’s terms of reference for a detailed report on the 
options. 

Our approach 

1.5 Our work has been undertaken in two phases, beginning with an initial, exploratory 
phase to help to shape the subsequent evaluation phase. The first phase focused on 
engagement with your senior stakeholders to establish a shared grounding in the 
options and to identify your individual and collective ambitions for the future. 

Table 1.1: Activist work programme for phase 1 - exploration 

Activities Tasks

Exploring the future: 
helping the partners to 
develop a shared 
understanding of the 
options available and 
to confirm their future 
ambitions. 

 Identify the current position, including a document review of 
the background and strategic context for each partner. 

 Interview senior stakeholders to identify their aspirations and 
expectations. 

 Analyse the results and provide collective and personal 
feedback to the stakeholders. 

Page 31
Page 31



Shared Digital governance options 

7 
 

Activities Tasks

 Design and facilitate workshops and meetings for officers and 
Members of the Joint Committee to brief on the options and 
confirm the partnership’s ambition. 

 Develop and agree an outcomes statement to govern the 
choice of governance model. 

 Present preliminary findings and agree the next steps. 

1.6 Following the completion of that first phase, we established the focus and extent of 
phase 2 of the work: 

 The work of phase 2 would focus on evaluating two principal options: the joint 
committee and public service company.  

 There was some concern that the current arrangements for the Joint Committee 
have raised governance issues that will need to be addressed so that Shared Digital 
can operate in a more agile and efficient way. 

 The report to the Joint Committee required by its terms of reference would take the 
form of a discussion paper that will lead to recommendations for a decision by the 
three Cabinets/ Executives on the future model by the beginning of 2018. 

1.7 The work programme identified for phase 2 is summarised below. 

Table 1.2: Activist work programme for phase 2 - evaluation 

Activities Main tasks

Evaluating the 
options: undertaking 
an initial evaluation 
of the options for 
inclusion in 
discussion document 
for Joint Committee. 
 

 Prepare and plan: revise, update and consult on the 
engagement plan and develop a mini-project plan for phase 2.

 Develop proposals for improving the governance of 
Shared Digital, including: 
 Review and validate your summary of governance issues 

faced by Shared Digital to identify the underlying 
constitutional position and the changes required to 
address those issues. 

 Develop the model of a 'lean' JC that addresses the 
current governance issues in discussion with partners' 
legal teams. 

 Develop a new current governance framework that is 
capable of addressing the strategic and operational 
direction and management of Shared Digital.  

 Undertake the appraisal of the principal options for the 
future governance model for Shared Digital:  
 Update the outcomes framework and confirm the 

evaluation criteria for the choice of governance model. 
 Undertake a review of examples of public service 

companies and shared services operating under a joint 
committee (JC) and identify their essential differences. 

 Support the partners' decision-making and 
implementation planning:  

Page 32
Page 32



Shared Digital governance options 

8 
 

Activities Main tasks

 Advise on the implementation and transition plans from 
the current shared service governance model to a new 
one for both a public service company and a lean JC, 
including a risk management plan. 

 Consolidate the findings into a written discussion 
document suitable for the Joint Committee. 

How we engaged with people 

1.8 During the course of our project, we have undertaken a range of activities to engage 
with senior stakeholders. These have included: 

 Interviews with members of the Joint Committee. 

 Meetings with the Joint Committee. 

 Interviews with representatives of the officer-level Management Board. 

 Meetings with the Chief Executives. 

 Meetings with the Delivery Board. 

 Meetings with the Councils’ legal advisers. 

1.9 These informal meetings served to clarify the partners’ ambitions, preferences and 
perceptions as well as the issues they wanted to see addressed by our project. 

1.10 Later in this report, we have recommended wider engagement and communication in 
order to enable Shared Digital to thrive, regardless of the governance model the 
partners eventually choose.  

  

Page 33
Page 33



Shared Digital governance options 

9 
 

The process for identifying the right governance model 

1.11 Our approach to this review has been based on ensuring that ‘form follows function’, i.e. 
you are able to select the model that is most likely to deliver your ambitions for Shared 
Digital. As a result, we started by identifying your ambitions and translating them into an 
outcomes framework for Shared Digital. That framework would then be used to evaluate 
the model most likely to deliver what you want to achieve. This process is summarized 
in the diagram below. 

Figure 1.1: Process for identifying a preferred governance model option 

 
 

Ambition

• Test vision for future.
• Align aspirations.

Outcomes

• Test parameters for partnership
• Identify outcomes framework.

Shortlist

• Identify longlist of models.
• Select preferred shortlist.

Evaluate

• Test shortlist against outcomes.
• You decide on preferred model/s.

Page 34
Page 34



Shared Digital governance options 

10 
 

2. Summary of findings in phase 1 

Introduction 

2.1 Our work in phase 1 centred on engaging with stakeholders to establish: 

 The current governance model for the service. 

 Their views concerning the current service, the efficacy of the governance and their 
ambitions for the service. 

 What outcomes any new model should support and how this could be evaluated. 

What makes for a successful shared ICT service 

2.2 Drawing from our experience working with shared services, including looking at case 
studies, we have established a list of success factors for ICT shared services. These 
are: 

Table 2.1: Success factors for shared ICT services 

 Commonality of vision and strategies between the partners. 
 Senior business sponsorship of transformation and technology. 
 Shared expectations about relationships between the shared service and partners - 

and between partners. 
 Partners working together as a joint sponsor rather than as separate clients. 
 Close collaboration between partner authorities and the shared service. 
 An agreed balance between cost and quality that is endorsed by all partners. 
 Transparency over performance and costs between the shared services and the 

clients. 
 Simplicity and consistency in governance and charging arrangements. 
 Clarity about what the service is and what it isn't. 

2.3 We have used these success criteria to test Shared Digital’s governance arrangements 
as all of these factors relate to the governance of the service in several connected 
aspects. In particular, consideration of the ‘governance’ of a shared service needs to 
address: 

 The formal governance model, 

 The protocols and processes through which the model is managed, and 

 The culture and behaviours of the partners.  

2.4 All three need to be aligned to support a successful shared service. 

  

Page 35
Page 35



Shared Digital governance options 

11 
 

Initial governance of the shared service 

2.5 The current governance of the Shared Digital services is underpinned by a legal 
agreement drafted in April 2017 and signed in July 20171.  The legal agreement works 
within the framework of the Local Government Acts 1972 and 2000, and the Localism 
Act 2011, which give local authorities powers to delegate the discharge of functions to 
another local authority or to a joint committee, and to make staff available ('place' staff) 
in order to discharge the functions. 

2.6 The legal agreement delegates power to govern the operation of the shared service to 
the Joint Committee (‘the Committee’) and includes Terms of Reference (TOR) for the 
Committee.  The powers delegated to the Committee include: 

 Providing democratic oversight to the shared service.  

 Approving the strategic service and financial plan, including performance measures. 

 Agreeing the procurement strategy and awarding contracts related to digital and IT 
spend where the total estimated value exceeds £2m revenue and/or £5m capital2. 
Below these thresholds the authority to agree procurement strategies and award 
contracts is delegated to the Chief Digital and Information Officer (‘CDIO’).3  

 Suggesting revisions to their TOR to be referred back to the Leaders and/or 
Executive for approval. 

 Receiving a detailed report by October / November 2017 that considers the 
Governance Model for Shared Digital and to make recommendations to the Cabinet 
/ Executive of each partner council. 

 Delegating all matters not specifically mentioned above to the CDIO, and delegating 
any matters mentioned above to a named officer or any of the councils. 

2.7 The Committee comprises six members, two appointed by each council of which one 
must be the Cabinet/Executive member responsible for information and digital 
technology.  

                                                 
1 Shared Digital Agreement 180417 (Clean) 
2 It has been suggested that this may not yet align with Haringey’s constitution. 
3 This is a recent amendment to the Committee TOR, proposed in September 2017 which clarifies the 
position regarding the powers to award contracts.  These changes will take effect from October 1st, 2017. 
in relation to Camden and Islington. In the case of Haringey see Cabinet minutes 12 September 2017 
item 60:  
http://www.minutes.haringey.gov.uk/documents/g8289/Printed%20minutes%2012th-Sep-2017%2018.30%20Cabinet.pdf?T=1 
“The Cabinet Member for Corporate Resources further referred to the legal comments in the report, 
which highlighted that the Council’s Constitution has set a threshold of £500,000 or above where 
decisions to award contracts or expenditure on a service would be a key decision, which our constitution 
prohibits an officer from taking.  
This meant that awards of contracts related to the Shared Digital IT spend, where Haringey’s contribution 
is estimated to be £500,000 or above, that would be taken by the Chief Digital and Information Officer on 
behalf of Camden and Islington, would be taken in parallel by a Cabinet Member for Haringey 

This was for an intermediate period until a more detailed review of the Shared ICT and Digital Service 
Joint Committee Terms of Reference is carried out as part of the Governance Model review which will 
include a review of the current Joint Committee model. 

Page 36
Page 36



Shared Digital governance options 

12 
 

2.8 All Members appointed to the Joint Committee must be members of the Executive or 
Cabinet of their own council. The Chair of the Committee rotates between the three 
councils. The Committee must meet at least three times a year at a venue agreed by 
the Committee4.  Authority is delegated to Camden to support the Committee in terms of 
administration. 

2.9 The legal agreement also includes Terms of Reference for a Shared Digital 
Management Board.  This is an Officer Board made up of 10 members including the 
CDIO and the Corporate Director responsible for Finance and/or Resources from each 
council.  This board has overall responsibility for strategic management to ensure the 
delivery of the joint digital service provided to Camden, Haringey and Islington. The 
TOR for the SD Management Board also refers to a Delivery Board which oversees the 
programme to deliver the shared service. 

2.10 The Management Board also has responsibility for:  

 The business plan and strategy, including key service objectives and investment 
priorities.  

 Ensuring that there are sufficient resources – both financial and non-financial – in 
place to achieve the key priorities and objectives for the service.  

 Monitoring and reporting, to the partner councils, on Shared Digital’s performance 
against agreed metrics on a quarterly basis, taking any corrective action as and 
when required. The portfolio reporting will include all digital and technology 
initiatives, a combination of sovereign and SD projects/ programmes.   

 Leading on the financial strategy and investment priorities for the service.  

 Overseeing and agreeing the cost and benefit sharing framework, ensuring that it 
remains fair and appropriate for all partners.  

 Providing updates on the strategic business plan and performance to the Joint 
Committee.  

 Overseeing the development of work to ensure that, by October 2017, the Joint 
Committee is presented with, considers and makes a decision regarding the options 
for the Shared Digital Service to be delivered via a corporate model rather than a 
joint committee structure.  

2.11 The TOR for the Joint Committee and the Management Board recognise the need for an 
early review of the initial governance model for Shared Digital and consider 
opportunities for change and improvement, drawing on the experience of the first phase 
of Shared Digital’s operation. 

2.12 The Job Description for the CDIO says that the CDIO will report to the Executive 
Director of Corporate Services in Camden with dotted line reporting to the Chief 
Operating Officer in Haringey and the Corporate Director Resources in Islington.5 

  

                                                 
4 The recent amendment says that meetings will rotate around the partners in alphabetical order 
5 See Job Description in the Shared Digital Agreement 180417 (Clean) 

Page 37
Page 37



Shared Digital governance options 

13 
 

Issues identified by stakeholders 

2.13 During the course of our discussions with stakeholders, we were asked to summarise 
the issues identified that the governance model review needed to address. We have 
summarised the issues reported to us by various stakeholders, including members of 
the Joint Committee and the management of Shared Digital. The issues raised with us 
were a mixture of problems experience so far, perceptions and hypotheses. The issues 
and their potential impact are summarised in the table below. In the next section we 
have commented on these issues reported to us before highlighting what we perceive to 
be the key, fundamental challenges that any changes to the governance model should 
seek to address. 

Table 2.2: List of issues identified by stakeholders and their impact on the service 

No. Description of reported issue Suggested impact 

Building the partnership 

1 Lack of understanding about Shared 
Digital.  Information about SD is not 
widely known. Some do not regard 
Shared Digital as part of them, it is 
rather perceived as an external new 
entity. This leads to them making a 
choice between the concerns of their 
staff and driving forward the shared 
service. 

Members established at the last Joint 
Committee that their role is to keep 
other members briefed, but is that 
happening among officers? 

This is exacerbated by Shared Digital 
staff still being employed across the 
three partners meaning they naturally 
look to their employing borough to 
resolve issues rather than to Shared 
Digital as their lead employer. 

Lack of information allows rumours to spread 
and impact morale and joint working.  This 
impacts the capacity to deliver and leads to 
partners reverting to their old ways of working, 
making it difficult to build a trusting relationship 
between the partners and the shared service. 

 

Decision making 

2. Different key decision thresholds 
and planning processes.  The three 
partners have different key decision 
thresholds and different forward 
planning processes.  

Decisions, especially spending decisions, can be 
complex to plan and time consuming to steer 
through each partner’s planning processes.  In 
one example, this has added over 50% (3.5 
months) to the 6 month procurement timetable. 
This is likely to delay service improvements (and 
potentially delay efficiency savings). 

Page 38
Page 38



Shared Digital governance options 

14 
 

No. Description of reported issue Suggested impact 

3 The Legal Agreement and JC TOR 
do not yet align with parts of the 
constitutions of each partner. The 
intention of the delegations within the 
legal agreement and JC TOR seems to 
be to delegate authority to procure to 
the CDIO – however this is not yet 
reflected within the constitutions of the 
partners. It was envisaged that the 
partners (as reflected in the legal 
agreement) would review their 
constitutions to reflect the plans for 
Shared Digital. 

This also causes concern about the 
delegations within the legal agreement, 
and whether they can be adopted, 
rather than following the procedures in 
each constitution.    

Lack of clarity about decision making processes 
adds time and confusion to the decision-making 
processes.  Added to this is a continuing risk of 
challenge on issues such as the design and 
shape of the service and the extent to which the 
CDIO has authority for such matters as 
restructuring the service. 

 

This could lead to an increased use of call-in. 

4 Different report formats and report 
styles leading to nuanced final 
decision reports. Each council has 
different approaches to council reports. 
The differences mean that the reports 
can be, albeit unintentionally, amended 
so that there are differences to the 
meaning. Advice such as from Finance 
and Legal advice can be inconsistent 
leading to three different 
understandings of the same report. 

 

 

Each partner’s understanding of the meaning of 
the reports can be different as a result of 
differing perspectives, leading to confusion. 

Extra time needs to be taken to develop reports 
for each partner. 

Time wasted through duplication; asking three 
finance and legal teams to review the same 
decision separately. 

5 Inflexible forward planning 
processes. Timescales for decisions 
are fixed and can be inflexible if urgent 
and/or sudden changes need to be 
accommodated. 

Decision cycles can be up to three months – if 
any urgent changes are required the processes 
are not flexible enough to accommodate this. 
The delays could have serious negative impacts, 
eg delaying savings or critical service 
improvements. 

 

 

Page 39
Page 39



Shared Digital governance options 

15 
 

No. Description of reported issue Suggested impact 

6 Lack of clarity within the 
procurement section of the legal 
agreement. The legal agreement 
states that procurement will be 
delegated to one partner whose contact 
standing orders and processes should 
be followed. Later it says any 
procurement must take account of the 
other councils’ policies. Exactly what 
this means is unclear. Further the new 
JC TOR delegates authority to award to 
the CDIO but does not specify which 
procurement processes should be 
followed. 

 

 

Lack of clarity over what procurement processes 
need to be followed impacts procurement 
decisions and timescales and effective and 
timely contracting and delivery of benefits which 
are dependent on the procurements being 
proposed. 

Could also result in a clash between the 
procurement processes and introduce the risk of 
unlawful decisions being made. 

Management, recruitment and retention 

7 Lack of clarity about the terms of the 
‘lead employer’ status. When initial 
discussions took place, it was 
envisaged that Camden would be the 
‘lead employer’, so that it would be 
responsible for providing a range of 
support and advice services such as 
finance, procurement and HR. The 
legal agreement, however, does not 
include any terms to clarify the role of 
‘lead employer’ and this has led to 
confusion about whether there is a lead 
or host borough or not. 

 

The legal agreement does not mention a ‘lead’ 
borough as such although several functions such 
as committee support and employment of new 
staff are delegated to Camden.  This lack of 
clarity can cause confusion around roles and 
responsibilities. 

8 Difficulty in retaining staff. Some key 
staff have left citing as their reasons the 
slow progress towards implementing 
the shared service and the difficulty of 
reaching decisions. Managing staff with 
different Ts and Cs can also cause 
difficulties.  This may also be the result 
of the brand ‘Shared Digital’ not being 
widely recognised and/or understood. 

Key staff will be lost, further hampering the 
implementation of an effective service. 

9 Inability to vary Ts and Cs to attract 
the best talent. LA terms and 
conditions may not be flexible enough 
to attract and retain the best talent, 
especially in competition with the 
private sector. 

It can also be hard to build a single 
team in an environment when everyone 
has a different ‘deal’. 

The service cannot recruit the best candidates 
and/or loses staff to the private sector. Effective 
management of the single team is difficult. 

  

Page 40
Page 40



Shared Digital governance options 

16 
 

Our assessment of the issues identified 

2.14 We have reviewed the issues reported in the table above and would make the following 
observations for each group of issues: 

Building the partnership 

2.15 We have found a high degree of alignment of vision and ambition (as we demonstrate 
below in the proposed outcomes framework) among the members of the Joint 
Committee and the managerial leadership of the three authorities. Almost without 
exception, our interviews with senior stakeholders demonstrated an impressive 
unanimity of purpose and a commitment to collaboration. 

2.16 In the next phase of the development of Shared Digital, senior stakeholders will have 
the chance to communicate, champion and spread this unanimity and commitment 
throughout the three authorities. Key to this next phase will be the demonstration of 
active sponsorship by the political and managerial leadership in each authority of the 
cross-cutting programmes of technology-enabled change that Shared Digital will 
support. While the choice of governance model will assist or hamper that change, the 
quality of collective leadership will determine Shared Digital’s ultimate success. We 
consider this to a fundamental issue that will need to be pursued regardless of the 
model chosen. 

Decision-making 

2.17 Like many shared services, Shared Digital has faced some challenges in navigating the 
different decision-making arrangements in the three authorities. Having examined one 
example of a procurement exercise that fell foul of the different delegation levels and 
committee cycles, it is clear that the current arrangements (with different delegation 
levels and decision-making processes and cycles) are complicated and protracted. 

2.18 Unlike most shared services, the partners in Shared Digital anticipated this issue, by 
building into their legal agreement a commitment to keep their governance 
arrangements (including their constitutions) under review to ensure they support, rather 
than hinder, the work of Shared Digital. 

2.19 It might be suggested that navigating the differences in the partners’ governance 
processes is the lot of a local government officer and one that should be undertaken 
with patience and good planning. However, it can be argued that adding several months 
to an important procurement exercise is not something that should be tolerated. 
Savings, service improvements or cyber-security measures could be delayed – with 
serious consequences. 

  

Page 41
Page 41



Shared Digital governance options 

17 
 

Management, recruitment and retention 

2.20 The issues raised by stakeholders about the impact of the current arrangements for 
employing staff on the service’s ability to manage, recruit and retain are consistent with 
routine expectations of what will enable an employer to recruit and retain effective staff. 
Human resource professionals will argue that an employer needs a distinctive set of 
vision and values which are reflected in an employment relationship in which the 
employee feels respected and valued. They will stress the importance of communication 
and clarity and a commitment to staff involvement and engagement. This review 
provides an opportunity to clarify a number of issues, including the role of the ‘lead 
employer’.  

2.21 Given the length of time that Shared Digital has been in operation, it is too early to 
identify firm trends based on current levels of staff turnover from the evidence available. 
As the service is embarking on a major change programme there will be degrees of 
uncertainty for staff a period until the transformation is complete.  

2.22 In validating the other employment issues raised, we would make the following 
observations: 

 Branding: it is possible for shared services to develop a distinctive and recognisable 
brand whichever the model chosen (as demonstrated by the case studies we 
explore later). The impact of a particular brand on recruitment and retention is more 
difficult to predict and would merit being tested before being finalised. 

 Standardisation of terms and conditions: the challenge for line managers dealing 
with team members on different terms and conditions and employment procedures 
has been highlighted as a problem in our work for other shared service 
partnerships. Some of our case study interviewees identified this as an issue, others 
did not, putting up with ‘muddling through’ (as one interviewee described it). We 
would suggest that muddling through is not advisable as a management practice 
and that any avoidable complexity in operational management should be eliminated 
if at all possible. 

 Flexibility in terms and conditions: the question has been raised whether a company 
model would enable Shared Digital to respond more quickly and flexibility to 
difficulties in recruitment and retention in a competitive marketplace for scarce skills. 
A company can establish its own terms and conditions, but the process for changing 
the contracts for existing staff would be protracted and may be contentious. Local 
authorities can and do use market supplements to address skill shortages, so can 
respond to market pressures.  

 Creating a single team: the partners recognise that the benefits of sharing depend 
on creating a single, cohesive organisation. Shared Digital is currently investigating 
the best way of achieving that, whether through an overarching shared service 
employment protocol (that gives the staff of all three organisations equal access to 
opportunities in Shared Digital) or through transferring all staff to one employer.  

  

Page 42
Page 42



Shared Digital governance options 

18 
 

Summary of our findings on the issues identified 

2.23 Having reviewed the issues raised by stakeholders and tested them based on our 
experience advising numerous other shared services, we have concluded that some of 
the issues raised have little substance, but others present a serious threat to the 
success of Shared Digital unless addressed and are not capable of being resolved 
adequately within the current governance model. 

2.24 Other shared service partnerships often put up with ‘muddling through’. The partners’ 
wisdom in undertaking an early review of your initial governance model enables you to 
avoid repeating the mistakes of others and of building a more effective and sustainable 
partnership. The partners have a vision of Shared Digital becoming a high-performance 
organisation. Tortuous decision-making processes and fudged management 
arrangements are not compatible with your aspiration.  

2.25 We consider that the issues summarised below are likely to interfere with the next stage 
of Shared Digital’s development and are not capable of being addressed satisfactorily 
within your initial governance model.  

Table 2.3: Fundamental issues to be resolved in next governance model 

 Complex decision-making: current decision-making processes and delegations are 
complex and introduce unnecessary risks and delays. 

 Constitutional differences: the partners are committed to reviewing their 
constitutions to facilitate Shared Digital and changes will be needed to ensure 
consistency. 

 Diffuse employment arrangements: the current arrangements for employment (with 
three employers) add complexity and impede the formation of a cohesive 
organisation. 

 

Recommendation 1 

That it be noted that the initial governance model for Shared Digital cannot address the 
fundamental issues summarised in table 2.3 and that a new model will be required in 
order to deliver the partners' ambitions. 

  

Page 43
Page 43



Shared Digital governance options 

19 
 

Confirmation of outcomes and evaluation criteria 

2.26 In the introductory section, we set out an approach based on ensuring that form follows 
function, ie that the governance model chosen reflects your ambitions. They are 
summarised in an ‘outcomes framework’ as the basis for evaluating your governance 
model options. Working with stakeholders, we have developed the outcomes framework 
below to summarise your ambitions for Shared Digital over the next two to three years: 

Table 2.4: Outcomes framework for Shared Digital 

Primary outcomes Secondary outcomes 

1.Delivering an 
excellent digital 
service 

1.1 We enable our partners to make the best use of technology to 
achieve the right outcomes for our boroughs. 

1.2 We provide a great digital offer to residents and help them to 
take part in a digital world. 

1.3 We provide a reliable, quality user experience to all our staff 
and elected members. 

1.4 We ensure our users have the digital skills and tools to work 
effectively and intelligently. 

1.5 We enable partners to use business intelligence to deliver 
better results for their residents. 

1.6 We provide digital leadership to encourage innovation and 
transformation. 

2. Providing great 
value for money 

2.1 We maximise economies of scale, taking a common approach 
wherever practical and beneficial. 

2.2 We offer affordable costs that compare well with other 
providers. 

2.3 We benefit by sharing the cost of investment in new 
developments. 

2.4 We invest together in the technology-enabled transformation 
of our services. 

2.5 We deliver constant improvement by keeping service levels 
and processes under review. 

3. Forging a lasting 
partnership 

3.1 We are a collaborative partnership of equals that everyone 
benefits from. 

3.2 We are streamlined and agile in our decision-making and 
management. 

3.3 We govern the service and its expenditure with transparency 
and accountability.  

3.4 We deliver greater resilience by sharing and mitigating risks. 
3.5 We offer each partner more capacity and capability by pooling 

resources and knowledge. 
3.6 We have recruited and retained a talented team with a great 

reputation for supporting the business of each partner. 
3.7 We will consider growth where suitable opportunities present 

themselves. 

Page 44
Page 44



Shared Digital governance options 

20 
 

Recommendation 2 

That the outcomes framework set out in table 2.4 be endorsed as the basis for further 
work to guide the development of Shared Digital. 

The key issues to inform the evaluation criteria 

2.27 From the outcomes set out in the table above we have selected those which are 
particularly pertinent to a governance discussion and set them out below with some 
additional questions – these will form part of the evaluation criteria for a new 
governance model (see section 4). The questions have also been informed by the 
fundamental issues with the initial governance model we identified in table 2.3 above. 

Table 2.5: Key questions for evaluating the governance model options 

No Secondary outcome Key questions 

2.1 Taking a common approach  Does the model make it more or less 
likely that the partners will be able to 
adopt a common approach? 

3.1 Collaborative partnership of 
equals 

 Will the model help the partnership feel 
truly equal? 

 Does the model distribute ownership 
and risk better? 

3.2 Streamlined and agile  How could it help to streamline and 
speed up our decision-making? 

 How does it help address the 
fundamental issues that have been 
highlighted? 

3.3 Transparency and accountability  Does the model support transparency 
and accountability sufficiently to 
reassure partners? 

3.4 Greater resilience  Does the model help to distribute and 
mitigate risks? 

3.5 Talented team  What implications would it have for 
staff's terms and conditions? 

 Would it help to improve ability to 
compete for staff? 

 Could it enable more simplified staff 
management? 

3.7 Considering growth  Will the model allow for growth if the 
opportunity arises? 

 Would it be straightforward for another 
organisation to join? 

  

Page 45
Page 45



Shared Digital governance options 

21 
 

Summary of our findings on the initial governance model 

2.28 The partners have demonstrated a readiness to keep the governance of Shared Digital 
under review to ensure it supports its work and your ambitions. We have been struck by 
the impressive degree to which your ambitions for Shared Digital are aligned and 
complementary. The initial governance model for Shared Digital presents some 
significant issues that will hamper its subsequent development. The opportunity of this 
review will enable you to resolve those fundamental issues and choose a governance 
model that provides a firm foundation for the success of Shared Digital. That success 
will, however, only be delivered if the partners’ senior political and managerial 
leadership provide active sponsorship for the technology-enabled transformational 
programmes of change that Shared Digital will support.   

Recommendation 3 

That each partner ensures that its senior political and managerial leadership provides 
active sponsorship for the technology-enabled transformational programmes that 
Shared Digital will support. 

 

  

Page 46
Page 46



Shared Digital governance options 

22 
 

3. What governance options are available? 

Introduction 

3.1 Local authorities have four basic ‘sourcing’ choices (make, buy, share or divest) when 
considering how best to organise the delivery of the services that it wants. These are 
summed up in the table below. 

Table 3.1: Sourcing options 

Make Buy Share Divest 

 In-house 
transformation 

 Continuous 
improvement 

 Arm's length 
trading company 

 Outsourcing to 
private sector 

 Outsource to 
third sector 

 Private-sector 
joint ventures  

 Shared services 
 Shared 

management 
 Public sector joint 

ventures 

 Transfer to 
community 

 Spin-out to 
mutual or trust 

 Devolve to 
district or 
parish 

 Closure

Examples6 

 Westco Trading 
 iCo 

 Elevate East 
London 

 LGSS 
 Norse 

 GLL 
 BIT 

3.2 In our discussions with stakeholders, we explored the options available and identified a 
longlist of four options to consider as highlighted in the table below. 

Table 3.2: Longlist of options for consideration (longlist highlighted in red) 

Make Buy Share Divest 

 In-house 
transformation 

 Continuous 
improvement 

 Arm's length trading 
company 

 Outsourcing to 
private sector 

 Outsource to 
third sector 

 Private-sector 
joint ventures  

 Shared services 
 Shared 

management 
 Public sector 

joint ventures 

 Transfer to 
community 

 Spin-out to 
mutual or 
trust 

 Devolve to 
district or 
parish 

 Closure

3.3 The option of a spin-out to a mutual was explored and rejected. It would take a 
considerable amount of time and introduce risk, not least because it would require a 
procurement exercise. This would quite probably be won by a private sector provider, 
thus resulting in a model that had already been discounted. 

                                                 
6 A short summary of these public sector examples is shown in Appendix 1. 

Page 47
Page 47



Shared Digital governance options 

23 
 

3.4 The option of a private sector joint venture was explored and considered to be 
unrealistic. Again, this would require a substantial investment of time with uncertain 
results. However, it was recognised that Shared Digital would have a relationship with 
the private sector and we were asked to explore that further (see paragraph 3.24 
onwards). 

3.5 Following a review of the suggested longlist, two options were selected for further 
examination: 

 Option 1: shared services, focusing on a joint committee model, including 
variations to the current model.  

 Option 2: company models, which would take the form of a joint venture between 
public sector partners.  

3.6 We have described the main features of each of the two models below and have 
illustrated them with experience drawn from a number of case studies. We have 
provided a lay summary of the main legal provisions, but we have not been asked to 
provide a legal opinion and so we would advise you to draw on your own legal teams to 
confirm the legal position and the most appropriate legal mechanisms to deliver your 
objectives.  

Option 1: joint committee structures 

3.7 Joint committees are used by English local authorities in a wide range of contexts. Many 
are partnership boards representing two or more authorities set up in order to discuss, 
for instance, an area strategy.  Joint committees for shared services are rather different 
as they are usually set up with powers delegated from the partner LAs to monitor and 
make decisions concerning shared services.  

The legal context 

3.8 One or more local authorities engaging in collaboration or shared services 
arrangements may delegate one or more of their functions to: 

 Another local authority (Section 101 (1) Local Government Act 1972); 

 The executive of another local authority (Section 19 and 20 Local Government Act 
2000 and the Local Authorities (Arrangements for the Discharge of Functions) 
(England) Regulations 2000; or 

 A joint committee (Section 101(5) Local Government Act 1972). 

3.9 Local authorities can also make staff available (‘place’ staff) to another authority for the 
discharge of their functions. 

3.10 Most local government shared services use a combination of the powers set out above 
to govern the shared service. 

  

Page 48
Page 48



Shared Digital governance options 

24 
 

Setting up a joint committee under the 1972 Act 

3.11 Local authorities have considerable flexibility to set up a joint committee appropriate to 
the purpose of the shared service. Some LAs have a single shared services joint 
committee which covers several different shared services, some will have one for each 
shared service.  However, all joint committees are public meetings subject to the same 
governance and scrutiny as other Member meetings of the partner LAs. 

3.12 Typically, one of the partner LAs will be chosen to support the JC in terms of 
administration, although this can rotate round the partners.  Similarly, a different LA can 
be chosen to support the JC on financial matters.  Arrangements need to be made for 
paying expenses, declarations of interest and nomination of substitute members as in 
any Member Committee.  Frequently the Chair of the committee will rotate on a yearly 
basis.  Meetings can be of any frequency which is appropriate. 

Models for shared services using joint committees 

3.13 A variety of models use joint committees as part of the governance for shared services 
– below are examples of three models:  

 Joint committee overseeing one or more individual section 101 delegations:  
each partner delegates the running of the service, including the operational 
management, employment, administration of the JC and financial management to a 
single LA, overseen by a joint committee, which monitors the service and may also 
review budgets and business plans. 

 Joint committee delegating some aspects of the function to one or more LAs: 
in this model, the responsibility for running the service is delegated to the joint 
committee, which then delegates different aspects of running the service to 
individual LAs. This is the model closest to Shared Digital’s. 

 Joint committee with no further delegations to LAs: in this model, the 
responsibility for running the service is delegated to the joint committee supported 
by staff from partner organisations. 

3.14 Whatever the model, a joint committee provides democratic accountability for monitoring 
the shared services. We were asked to examine whether there are alternatives to the 
current Shared Digital Joint Committee arrangements that could help to deliver the 
streamlined approach being sought. We have described such a ‘lean joint committee’ 
option in section 4 of this report 

  

Page 49
Page 49



Shared Digital governance options 

25 
 

Option 2: company structures 

Introduction 

3.15 Company structures are commonly used by public bodies to deliver services on their 
behalf. The companies can be owned by a single organisation or the ownership can be 
shared. Numerous local authorities have established trading companies (such as 
Islington’s iCo) in order to offer services on a commercial basis to other authorities, 
sometimes to the private sector and, occasionally, direct to the public. Companies are 
frequently created with the express aim of securing a profit for the benefit of its public 
sector owners and often form part of an authority's embrace of ‘commercialism’ in 
response to financial pressures. 

The legal context 

3.16 The legal framework for company governance has evolved over the course of centuries 
through legislation and common law. The principal legislation is incorporated in the 
Companies Act 2006 (with subsequent amendments), which provides extensive 
provisions covering issues such as company formation, constitutional arrangements, 
shareholding and the duties of directors. 

3.17 There are other provisions which impact on the operation of companies owned by local 
authorities: 

 Localism Act 2011: Local Authorities wishing to provide service on a commercial 
basis to make a profit must do so via a company. 

 Public Procurement Regulations 2015: allows the direct award of a contract by an 
authority to a body it controls and for it is the principal client7. These regulations put 
into effect the updated 2014 EU directive on public procurement. 

3.18 A publicly owned company can be owned jointly by more than one public body and each 
body can award a contract without a procurement exercise directly to the company 
providing the body takes part in the control of the company (this is often called the 
'Teckal exemption'). The company can offer a proportion of its services commercially to 
external customers up to a maximum of 20% of its turnover. If that threshold is 
exceeded the company will lose its Teckal exemption and the work undertaken by the 
company on behalf of its owning bodies will need to be put out to tender by those 
owning bodies in line with public procurement regulations. 

  

                                                 
7 Subject to minimum threshold of 80% of the company’s revenue being undertaken on behalf of its 
owner. If this ‘function’ test and the control test are met, the public sector own can award a contract to the 
company without undertaking a tendering exercise. This is called the ‘Teckal exemption’ from EU 
procurement regulations, with the name Teckal deriving from case law (Teckal Srl v Commune di Viano 
(1999)).  

Page 50
Page 50



Shared Digital governance options 

26 
 

Setting up a company 

3.19 The administrative process for registering and setting up a company is very 
straightforward. In addition to registering a company at Companies House (which can 
be undertaken quickly and online), other administrative arrangements need to be put in 
place, including banking, insurances and registering with HMRC. 

3.20 The company will typically take the form of a company limited by guarantee or a 
company limited by shares. Agreement will need to be reached between the owning 
bodies about the distribution of ownership (eg the proportion of the shares each body 
will own). The process of establishing the legal arrangements between the local 
authority owners and the company they own can be more complex.  

3.21 Although staff are sometimes seconded to a company, it is likely that a planned long-
standing company arrangement would involve the transfer of staff's employment from 
the authority to the new company. 

Governance arrangements 

3.22 The various legal arrangements for a company owned by local authority partners will 
include: 

 The articles of association of the company which sets out the governance of the 
company, including issues such as decision-making arrangements for shareholders 
and directors. 

 A shareholders' agreement: this will cover arrangements between the owning 
partners such as mechanisms for managing changes to shareholdings; and notice 
periods and provisions from withdrawal from the company. 

 The contract between the company and each of the owning authorities, identifying 
the service provided and the payment mechanisms. 

 Reserved matters: this will include decisions (eg over major expenditure and taking 
on new partners) that the owning partners will not delegate to the board of directors. 

3.23 A local authority company’s board of directors will generally include a combination of 
staff directors, directors and/or elected members from the owning authorities. Elected 
members can be nominated to sit on the board of directors for the company. If they are 
appointed as directors, they will have a duty to 'promote the success of the company' 
which may sometimes be at odds with the objectives of one or more of the shareholding 
owners. As a result, a separation is advisable between decisions made by the board of 
directors and decisions made by shareholders (eg at general meetings of shareholders). 

  

Page 51
Page 51



Shared Digital governance options 

27 
 

Involvement of the private sector 

Introduction  

3.24 In establishing Shared Digital, the partner authorities chose a 'sharing' option in 
preference to a 'buy' option, i.e. outsourcing the service to the private sector or entering 
into a joint venture partnership with the private sector. 

3.25 While recognising the direction of travel that has been embarked upon, it was suggested 
during our discussions that it would be helpful to clarify what role the private sector 
might play in Shared Digital's development. We explore this briefly in this section. 

3.26 In the field of ICT and digital services, there are four principal types of private sector 
provider: 

 Software: companies that develop applications, increasingly cloud-based. 

 Hardware: vendors of devices and other hardware (eg servers). 

 Services: outsourced service providers. 

 Consultancies: advisers on the selection and implementation of systems. 

3.27 The market is highly diverse and rapidly changing, with some companies trying to offer 
a comprehensive service across all fields and others specialist (at least initially) in a 
particular niche. 

Working with service providers 

3.28 There are various arguments made for entering into service delivery partnerships with 
private sector ICT providers. These include a desire to reduce costs and/or improves 
services and are based on an assumption outsourcing will provide economies of scale; 
access to expertise; access to funding; and greater innovation.  

3.29 The evidence of such benefits has been mixed. Some more generalist ICT providers 
have not been able to satisfy local authorities' expectations and Southwark and 
Lewisham Councils have both chosen to share with Brent Council rather than continue 
with outsourcing to the private sector. 

3.30 A number of authorities have entered into joint venture arrangements, sharing in the 
creation of a new company jointly owned with the private sector. Examples include the 
more recent creation of Elevate East (a joint venture between Barking and Dagenham 
and Agilisys). Such joint ventures can prove highly complex - our case study of 
Southwest One illustrates some of the reported lessons. 

3.31 Whether outsourcing a substantial part of the service or entering into a joint venture, this 
would require an expensive and time-consuming procurement exercise and would 
demand a well-resourced client function once established. 

Page 52
Page 52



Shared Digital governance options 

28 
 

3.32 Given the demands of creating such a partnership and the experience of other 
authorities, the partners in Shared Digital would need to satisfy themselves that the 
provider market could now offer an attractive proposition and that the partners had the 
time and capacity to make such arrangements work. 

Working with software and hardware providers and specialists 

3.33 Shared Digital already operates a mixed economy, buying both software, hardware and 
specialist advice from the private sector. 

3.34 Few authorities would attempt to write their own large software systems, given the costs 
and risks involved. Instead, authorities buy software off the shelf or, increasingly, 'rent' 
applications hosted in the cloud, cf Shared Digital's implementation of Office 365. Local 
authority digital teams may also develop and maintain small applications and interfaces 
between systems.  

3.35 No authorities would try to build their own hardware and devices and even the direct 
ownership of server hardware is reducing as storage capacity becomes cloud-based.  

3.36 Authorities will also continue to buy specialist expertise to help implement new 
applications, whether hiring freelance specialists or support from specialist 
consultancies. The extent of their use is likely to reduce as more technology is 
'commoditised', ie it becomes more standard and less configuration is required. 

3.37 Such support is likely to be time-limited and project-specific. Using experienced support 
who have implemented particular solutions on numerous occasions will be quicker, 
cheaper and less risky than asking in-house teams to learn how to implement a solution 
that is new to them. 

The likely future role of private partners  

3.38 Given the progress in creating Shared Digital, an organisation with significant capacity 
in its own right, there is likely to be little benefit in entering into a long-term partnership 
with a provider of outsourced services. 

3.39 However, Shared Digital can be expected to continue with a mixed economy model in 
which it will increasingly rent cloud-based applications and server storage, drawing on a 
project basis on specialist advice and expertise. 

  

Page 53
Page 53



Shared Digital governance options 

29 
 

Case studies – key points and findings 

3.40 We looked at seven case studies as part of our work: 

 OneSource shared service 
 Hoople Ltd. 
 LGSS shared service (and trading company) 
 Anglia Revenues Partnership shared service 
 Southwest One 
 Sutton/Kingston 
 Brent, Southwark and Lewisham 

3.41 The case studies can be found in Appendix 2 to this document. We are grateful to the 
organisations who were willing to help us undertake the case studies. The text of each 
case study reflects their own words and was approved by them. 

3.42 The shared service examples illustrate the broad range of shared service arrangements 
which are possible from a legal partnership through to a joint committee arrangement. 
Those choosing a joint committee arrangement commented on the fact that it was 
straightforward to set up and administer, although too many meetings might lead to too 
much paperwork. Another recommended ensuring that the governance aligns with the 
political and organisational agendas of each partner for the coming 3-5 years. Another 
suggested that a joint committee structure helps to ensure that all partners are treated 
equally. One theme was the importance of setting the delegations at the right level. 

3.43 Other points that emerged from the case studies include: 

 Strategic principles of each partner: interviewees commented that the strategic 
principles of each partner for the foreseeable future should drive the governance 
and service model, based on what they value most, e.g. improved service quality, 
generating new trading income or solely saving money.  

 SLAs: a number of interviewees stressed that having clear SLAs in place will 
ensure there is absolute clarity about what is going to be delivered and at what price 
for each partner, as well as providing a baseline for service planning, savings and 
any future changes. Comments were also made about the need to build in 
opportunities for reaffirming and realigning SLAs to adapt to changes in partner 
circumstances or their drivers for sharing services. 

 Staff terms and conditions: a number of interviewees took the view that it is easier 
for all staff to be on the same terms and conditions, but some did not consider 
addressing this to be priority and suggested that gradual harmonisation can be 
managed and take place over time through the naturally occurring turnover of staff. 

 Infrastructure: reliable, shared and common ICT infrastructure should be 
introduced as soon as possible to enable better collaboration – e.g. WiFi that works 
for everyone and video conferencing facilities. 

 Procurement: some of the shared services reported that decisions over certain 
thresholds were taken at the Joint Committee or were referred to the partners’ 
cabinets for decision. In one case, an authority had delegated procurement 
decisions to the host authority. 

Page 54
Page 54



Shared Digital governance options 

30 
 

4. Evaluating the governance model options 

Introduction 

4.1 In this section we consider how the two shortlisted governance model options will 
enable to you to achieve your ambitions for Shared Digital, as reflected in the outcomes 
framework set out in section 2 (see table 2.4).  

4.2 Each model is examined in turn, using the evaluation criteria set out in table 2.5 which 
focus on those secondary outcomes most likely to be impacted by Shared Digital’s 
governance model. Before evaluating each model, we have examined how the existing 
joint committee model could be improved to address the issues identified with the initial 
governance model option.  

4.3 In section 2, we concluded that the initial governance model for Shared Digital does not 
address the fundamental issues identified in table 2.3: 

 Complex decision-making. 

 Constitutional differences. 

 Diffuse employment arrangements. 

4.4 As a result, the current joint committee model has been discounted. However, we have 
identified that it is possible to adopt a ‘lean’ joint committee model that could deliver the 
more streamlined, unified approach the partners are seeking. 

A ‘lean’ joint committee model 

Key features of the lean model 

4.5 A joint committee governance model could take several different forms as summarised 
in section 3. We consider the following option balances an agile and ‘lean’ governance 
process, which supports the development of a single identifiable organisation, while 
retaining robust democratic transparency and accountability. Legal advice should be 
taken on the best approach to delegating decisions to the Joint Committee. 

4.6 The key features of the lean model would be: 

 Haringey and Islington directly delegate their digital services to Camden as 
‘host’ authority under s101 of the Local Government Act 1972.  This is the model 
used by Brent, Lewisham and Southwark for their shared ICT service. This would 
include employing the staff, managing the service and making day-to-day 
operational decisions about the service below an agreed level. Staff could be 
transferred under TUPE or could be seconded (although this does not represent a 
long-term solution).  The arrangement would be underpinned by inter-authority 
agreements and service descriptions which set out roles and responsibilities and 
mutual expectations.  

  

Page 55
Page 55



Shared Digital governance options 

31 
 

 A joint committee of the partners approves business plans and strategies; 
monitors - at a high level - progress against the business plans; and has delegated 
authority from all three partners to make decisions according to their constitutions. If 
necessary, the constitutions for all three partners would be amended to include 
standard specific delegations to the Host authority and to the Joint Committee.  
For example, if each partner delegated authority to the Joint Committee to make 
decisions above a financial threshold of, say, £500K per partner, and authority to 
the CDIO to make decisions below this limit, the resulting clarity should make 
decision-making more streamlined while retaining transparency and accountability 
at Joint Committee level.  

Governance framework for lean joint committee 

4.7 These changes would also need to be reflected in a new governance framework for the 
lean joint committee (lean JC) model. The key elements are set out below: 

Table 4.1: Governance framework for lean JC – advantages and disadvantages 

Element of model Advantages Disadvantages 

Islington and Haringey 
separately delegate operating 
the service to Camden, 
including employment and 
financial management, using 
s101 of the 1972 Act.   
This would be underpinned 
by an inter-authority legal 
agreement and a service 
level agreement. 
If necessary, partners could 
rationalise their constitutions 
in terms of the level of 
decisions which can be 
delegated to the host 
authority. 

 Unifies the service under 
one host authority. 

 Makes it easier to work 
as a single team and 
rationalise terms and 
conditions over time.  

 Streamlines decision 
making, particularly if a 
single set of thresholds 
and delegations is 
agreed. 

 May be easier to 
establish a brand for a 
unified organisation. 

 Could be perceived as a 
'takeover' by host 
council, rather than 
partnership of equals. 

 Pension fund 
arrangements will need 
to be examined and 
addressed if the 
decision is to TUPE staff 
to the host authority.  

 May require changes to 
the partners’ 
constitutions if certain 
key decisions or 
procurement decisions 
were to be delegated to 
Camden. 

The Joint Committee 
monitors progress against the 
business plan; approves 
budgets and 
strategies/business plans; 
also takes decisions over 
officer delegated limits. 

 All decisions not 
delegated to Camden 
come to the JC rather 
than to 3 councils. 

 Maintains democratic 
accountability and 
transparency, including 
scrutiny. 

 Avoids the need to go 
through three separate 
decision-making 
processes. 

 May require 
amendments to all three 
constitutions to set up a 
standard set of 
delegations to the Joint 
Committee and Host 
Authority. 

 Still requires a formal 
decision-making 
process. 

 Still open to call-in and 
any delays that might 
result. 

 Shared services under 
joint committee 

Page 56
Page 56



Shared Digital governance options 

32 
 

Element of model Advantages Disadvantages 

arrangements cannot 
trade (although can set 
up trading arms). 

An officer portfolio board 
monitors implementation 
programme and is then 
convened where necessary 
over periods of major 
change.   
This could become a portfolio 
management board for the 
transformational change 
programme with officers from 
different partners providing 
managerial sponsorship of 
the delivery of each 
programme. Themed 
programme boards may 
report to the portfolio board. 

 Keeps focus of service 
monitoring board on 
operational matters. 

 Ensures change 
programmes are driven 
forward on behalf of JC. 

 Distributes sponsorship 
of programme delivery 
across the ‘partnership 
of equals’. 

 Could result in 
duplication if not aligned 
with partners’ 
governance 
arrangements for other 
transformation 
programmes. 

A service monitoring board 
made up of officers from 
each partner monitors 
operational service on behalf 
of JC. 

 Keeps the JC focussed 
on strategic matters.   

 Could include a 
commissioning function. 

 Having a separate 
monitoring board would 
increase the 
management demands. 

 May create a customer-
supplier mindset. 

4.8 This model has the benefit of being consistent with both the outcomes for Shared Digital 
and the original direction of travel set by the partners: 

 Camden already acts as the ‘de facto’ host for Shared Digital as it employs new 
staff and provides a number of specific support services.  

 It removes the concept of a ‘lead’ organisation and embeds the ‘partnership of 
equals’ through shared strategic leadership and decision-making by the Joint 
Committee and portfolio board. 

 The partners have already anticipated in the legal agreement the potential need to 
change and align their constitutions to support Shared Digital’s operation.8 

  

                                                 
8 This may not be necessary under direct s101 delegations. 

Page 57
Page 57



Shared Digital governance options 

33 
 

Evaluating option 1: the ‘lean’ joint committee option 

4.9 In this section, we evaluate the ‘lean’ joint committee model against the ‘key questions’ 
set out in table 2.5, to assess the model’s ability to support the achievement of the 
outcomes for the service.   

Table 4.2: Evaluation of ‘lean’ joint committee 

 Secondary 
outcome 

Key questions Evaluation 

2.1 Taking a 
common 
approach 

 Does the model make 
it more or less likely 
that the partners will 
be able to adopt a 
common approach? 

 All routine operational matters 
will be carried out by Camden as 
host borough who can then lead 
the adoption of common 
approach to policy, procedure 
and practice. 

 Having a single organisational 
structure will enable SD 
management to spot 
inconsistencies and inefficient 
variations more easily. 

3.1 Collaborative 
partnership of 
equals 

 Will the model help 
the partnership feel 
truly equal? 

 Does the model 
distribute ownership 
better? 

 Could be seen as a ‘takeover’ 
rather than a partnership of 
equals, although the oversight of 
the Joint Committee and the 
shared officer governance 
boards should mitigate this as 
should the role of CDIO as CO in 
each authority  

 Appointing sponsors of change 
programmes from all the partners 
should help to ensure ownership 
across the partnership. 

 Should not require any additional 
client-side management. 

3.2 Streamlined 
and agile 

 How could it help to 
streamline and speed 
up our decision-
making? 

 How does it help 
address the 
fundamental issues 
that have been 
highlighted?

 Day-to-day operational decisions 
should be streamlined with a 
single host authority. 

 If decisions only need to go to 
the JC, and not to individual 
cabinets, this should speed up 
decision-making. 

Page 58
Page 58



Shared Digital governance options 

34 
 

 Secondary 
outcome 

Key questions Evaluation 

3.3 Transparency 
and 
accountability 

 Does the model 
support transparency 
and accountability 
sufficiently to 
reassure partners? 

 The Joint Committee, supported 
by the joint management and 
delivery boards, should offer 
sufficient transparency for 
partners. 

 If strategic decisions are made 
by the Joint Committee this 
ensures that key democratic 
elements, such as scrutiny and 
call-in, are in place. 

 The partners can ensure robust 
reporting is built in to the service 
descriptions with the host 
authority. 

3.4  Greater 
resilience 

 Does the model help 
to distribute and 
mitigate risks? 

 The host borough could take on 
disproportionate liabilities (e.g. 
pensions) unless itemized, 
quantified and addressed 
through legal agreements. 

 Shared leadership sponsorship 
of transformation programmes 
should mitigate risk. 

3.5 Talented 
team 

 What implications 
would it have for 
staff's terms and 
conditions? 

 Would it help to 
improve ability to 
compete for staff? 

 Could it enable more 
simplified staff 
management?

 If staff transfer to the host 
authority under TUPE, terms and 
conditions will have protections 
in line with TUPE law. 

 It should be more straightforward 
to develop an identifiable brand 
for the shared service which may 
help to recruit staff. 

 It should be easier for the CDIO 
to manage staff if they are 
employed by a single employer. 

3.7 Considering 
growth 

 Will the model allow 
for growth if the 
opportunity arises? 

 Would it be 
straightforward for 
another organisation 
to join? 

 The service will not be able to 
trade but additional local 
authorities can join the Joint 
Committee without the need for 
procurement by delegating the 
service to Camden. 
 

 

  

Page 59
Page 59



Shared Digital governance options 

35 
 

Evaluating option 2: the public sector company option 

4.10 In this section, we evaluate the public sector company model against the ‘key questions’ 
set out in table 2.5, to assess the model’s ability to support the achievement of the 
outcomes for the service.   

Table 4.2: Evaluation of public sector company model 

 Secondary 
outcome 

Key questions Evaluation 

2.1 Taking a 
common 
approach 

 Does the model make 
it more or less likely 
that the partners will 
be able to adopt a 
common approach? 

 All strategic and operational 
matters will be carried out the 
company which would ensure a 
common approach to policy, 
procedure and practice. 

 The company should be able to 
spot inconsistencies and 
inefficient variations more easily 
if they are fully hosting the 
service. 

3.1 Collaborative 
partnership of 
equals 

 Will the model help 
the partnership feel 
truly equal? 

 Does the model 
distribute ownership 
better? 

 The joint ownership of the 
company would visibly distribute 
ownership among the partners. 

 Appointing sponsors of change 
programmes from all the partners 
should help to ensure ownership 
across the partnership’s 
organisations. 

 Would require some client-side 
management. 

Page 60
Page 60



Shared Digital governance options 

36 
 

 Secondary 
outcome 

Key questions Evaluation 

3.2 Streamlined 
and agile 

 How could it help to 
streamline and speed 
up our decision-
making? 

 How does it help 
address the 
fundamental issues 
that have been 
highlighted? 

 Day to day operational decisions 
should be streamlined within a 
single organisation. 

 A separation of duties would be 
required between shareholders’ 
representatives and directors 
appointed by the authorities, 
adding a layer of complexity. 

 Unless a ‘light touch’ approach is 
taken to reserved matters and 
delegations, the company could 
be subject to the same variances 
in decision-making processes 
present in the current 
arrangements. 

 If key decisions were delegated 
to shareholders’ representatives 
and the board of directors and 
not to individual cabinets, this 
should speed up decision-
making. 

 Requires commercial 
administration and accounting 
disciplines that introduce an 
additional overhead and are 
likely to require recruitment. 

3.3 Transparency 
and 
accountability 

 Does the model 
support transparency 
and accountability 
sufficiently to 
reassure partners? 

 Public meetings of the board of 
directors, supported by the joint 
management and delivery 
boards, should offer 
transparency for partners. 

 If key decisions are made by the 
shareholder representatives or 
the board of directors, care will 
be needed to ensure that key 
democratic elements, such as 
scrutiny and call-in, are in place. 

 The partners can ensure robust 
reporting is built in to the service 
level agreement with the 
company. 

 Would require a formal service 
contract and more complex 
service level agreement to be 
established. 

Page 61
Page 61



Shared Digital governance options 

37 
 

 Secondary 
outcome 

Key questions Evaluation 

3.4  Greater 
resilience 

 Does the model help 
to distribute and 
mitigate risks? 

 The model avoids any one 
authority taking on a particular 
burden of risk. 

 In theory, the partners’ liability 
would be reduced through a 
limited company. In practice, the 
partners would find it hard to 
walk away from the company’s 
liabilities. 

3.5 Talented 
team 

 What implications 
would it have for 
staff's terms and 
conditions? 

 Would it help to 
improve ability to 
compete for staff? 

 Could it enable more 
simplified staff 
management?

 If staff transfer to the company 
under TUPE, terms and 
conditions will have protections in 
line with TUPE law. 

 It should be more straightforward 
to develop an identifiable brand 
for the company which may help 
to recruit staff. 

 It should be easier for the CDIO 
to manage staff if they are 
employed by a single employer. 

3.7 Considering 
growth 

 Will the model allow 
for growth if the 
opportunity arises? 

 Would it be 
straightforward for 
another organisation 
to join? 

 The service will be able to trade 
but within limits set by the Teckal 
exemption (see section 3). 

 New partners can join without the 
need for a procurement exercise, 
providing they share in the 
company’s ownership and 
control. 

 The company will be able to 
trade for profit, but the market 
will be highly competitive and the 
prospects uncertain. 

 Profits will be subject to 
corporation tax, but can be 
reduced if prices to owning 
partners are reduced. 

 VAT implications will need to be 
identified. 

 Will require investment in 
business development and sales 
pipeline management and likely 
to require specialist skills. 
 

 

  

Page 62
Page 62



Shared Digital governance options 

38 
 

Conclusions 

4.11 In this section, we have set out to provide a summary evaluation to aid the Joint 
Committee’s discussion. As requested, we have not conducted an exhaustive, formal 
evaluation including ratings, weightings and a cost/benefit analysis. Given the low set-
up costs for each of the two options and the number of similarities, we do not think this 
would be necessary.  

4.12 Nevertheless, we would observe that both models appear capable of delivering the 
outcomes required for Shared Digital, albeit that the joint committee model does not 
allow for commercial trading and the company model introduces some additional 
governance complexities. As demonstrated by the LGSS case study, it would be 
possible to operate both models in parallel - perhaps at a point when the partners felt 
that the service was mature and robust enough to make trading for profit a realistic 
prospect. As trading for profit is not an immediate focus for the partners, a company 
model may not be a priority. 

4.13 For both models, the key to achieving the outcomes you are aiming for, the partners 
should ensure: 

 That you pursue your intention to examine how your constitutions can be aligned to 
facilitate streamlined decision-making by Shared Digital and the Joint Committee. 

 That there is a focus on ensuring senior political and managerial sponsorship of 
technology-enabled transformation programmes across the three authorities. 

Recommendation 4 

That regardless of the model selected, if necessary, you proceed to amend your 
constitutions as envisaged in your legal agreement and, in particular, to align your 
schemes of delegation in respect of Shared Digital. 

Recommendation 5 

That you consider our evaluation of two models and decide which governance model or 
models are most likely to deliver the outcomes you are seeking at this stage of the 
development of Shared Digital. 

 

  

Page 63
Page 63



Shared Digital governance options 

39 
 

5. Next steps 

Introduction 

5.1 In this section, we set out the main activities which would be needed to implement the 
two models, and comment on the key transition risks and issues associated with the 
models. 

Implementation – Joint Committee 

Action plan 

5.2 The key activities required to implement the ‘Lean’ Joint Committee structure are 
outlined below in table 5.1. It is important that the changes are managed as a single 
project or programme so that stakeholders can see how each change is linked to the 
successful outcomes and those working on the project or programme can understand 
the importance of timely delivery of each activity and task. 

Table 5.1: Key activities for the implementation of a ‘lean’ joint committee 

Activity area Key activities 

Project planning  Develop and agree the programme or project definition 
and plan. Put in place appropriate project governance. 

Engagement  Agree and implement an engagement plan to ensure all 
stakeholders understand the change and the reason for it. 

Develop / amend Service 
Plan for Shared Digital to 
include the changed 
responsibilities and, 
crucially, the new staffing 
structure  

 Review existing plan and agree changes. 

Commence staffing 
project 

 Plan the project to transfer staff (if agreed), building in 
appropriate policies and procedures and formal 
consultation timescales. 

 Include an investigation of potential pension fund issues if 
staff are TUPEd (see Financial Planning below)  

 Review your support service arrangements in each council 
in respect of the staff transferred to the host authority. 

Governance  Draw up and agree the legal agreements required for the 
s101 delegations. 

 Make decisions regarding any changes to the constitutions 
of any of the partners. 

 Revisit the TORs for the Joint Committee and the Shared 
Digital Management Board and agree changes. 

 Develop and agree the Service Description including roles 
and responsibilities and mutual expectations. 

Page 64
Page 64



Shared Digital governance options 

40 
 

Activity area Key activities 

Financial planning  Revisit the budget necessary for the new arrangements 
and agree any changes.  

 Assess the financial impact of TUPE including pension 
issues and support service arrangements. 

 Agree apportionment of any redundancy and early 
retirement costs and any revisions to support service 
costs. 

Team building and 
workforce development 
planning 

 Invest in a training plan that will double up as a team 
building programme.  

 Create a workforce development plan as part of the 
business planning process. 

 Develop an organisational development plan for all three 
partner organisations to develop the culture and 
management practices required to support Shared Digital 
and undertake cross-partner, technology-enabled, 
transformational change programmes.  

 
Key risks 

5.3 The table below sets out the key risks associated with the implementation of the ‘lean’ 
Joint Committee model. 

Table 5.2: Key risks and suggested mitigations 

Risk Likelihood and impact Proposed mitigation 

The change will be seen as a 
‘takeover’ by Camden and 
the relationship will shift 
towards an ‘us and them’ 
relationship rather than a 
partnership of equals.  

Medium/High Significant engagement with 
all levels of stakeholders, 
including staff, Members and 
Trade Unions explaining the 
reasons for the change. 

Make clear that Camden is 
simply the ‘host’ and that 
overall leadership is provided 
by the Joint Committee and by 
officer governance boards. 

Ongoing communication about 
the service so that all partners 
feel included. 

Staff from all partners working 
on change programmes. 

TUPE will be resisted and 
key staff will leave.  

Medium/High Engagement as above.  

Communication of new 
opportunities arising from the 
changes. 

Page 65
Page 65



Shared Digital governance options 

41 
 

Risk Likelihood and impact Proposed mitigation 

Issues with pension deficits 
and liabilities makes TUPE 
unaffordable. 

Low/Medium Very early engagement with 
the actuaries to assess the 
impact of any pension issues. 

Delays drawing up changes 
to the constitutions and 101 
legal agreements undermine 
the effective working of the 
service and partnership.  

Medium Careful planning and 
management of the 
implementation project, and 
excellent engagement on all 
levels should mitigate this risk.

 

  

Page 66
Page 66



Shared Digital governance options 

42 
 

Implementation – public service company 

Action plan 

5.4 The key activities required to implement a company model are outlined below in table 
5.2. Again, it is important that the changes are managed as a single project or 
programme so that stakeholders can see how each change is linked to the successful 
outcomes and those working on the project or programme can understand the 
importance of timely delivery of each activity and task. 

Table 5.3: Key activities for the implementation of a company model 

Activity area Key activities 

Project planning  Develop and agree the programme or project definition 
and plan. Put in place appropriate project governance. 

Engagement  Agree and implement an engagement plan to ensure all 
stakeholders understand the change and the reason for it. 

Develop / amend Service 
Plan for Shared Digital to 
include the changed 
responsibilities and, 
crucially, the new staffing 
structure  

 Review existing plan and agree changes. 

Commence staffing 
project 

 Plan the project to transfer staff (if agreed), building in 
appropriate policies and procedures and formal 
consultation timescales. 

 Include an investigation of potential pension fund issues if 
staff are TUPEd (see Financial Planning below). 

 Review your support service arrangements in each council 
in respect of the staff transferred to the host authority. 

Governance  Draw up and agree legal agreements required, eg 
shareholders’ agreements. 

 Make decisions regarding any changes to the constitutions 
of any of the partners. 

 Develop the governance framework for company, 
including delegations to shareholders’ representatives and 
the board of directors. 

 Form and appoint board of directors and shareholders’ 
representatives and induct into their new roles.  

 Develop service contract including service level 
agreements and contract performance management 
framework. 

 Establish client side arrangements and client side 
governance arrangements. 

Company formation  Develop and implement plan for company formation, 
including registrations and administration. 

Page 67
Page 67



Shared Digital governance options 

43 
 

Activity area Key activities 

 Establish accounting arrangements for company, including 
separate accounts. 

 Appoint suitably qualified commercial company secretary 
and commercial accountancy support. 

 Establish commercial disciplines, such as cashflow and 
profit and loss account management. 

 Establish support service sourcing policies, considering 
option for continuing support from the partners. 

Financial planning  Revisit the budget necessary for the new arrangements 
and agree any changes.  

 Assess the financial impact of TUPE including pension 
issues and support service arrangements. 

 Agree apportionment of any redundancy and early 
retirement costs and any revisions to support service 
costs. 

 Identify cashflow plans for new company, including any 
start-up funding. 

Team building and 
workforce development 
planning 

 Invest in a training plan that will double up as a team 
building programme for the management and staff of the 
new company. 

 Create a workforce development plan as part of the 
business planning process. 

 Develop an organisational development plan for all three 
partner organisations to develop the culture and 
management practices required to support the new 
company and undertake cross-partner, technology-
enabled, transformational change programmes.  

 
  

Page 68
Page 68



Shared Digital governance options 

44 
 

Key risks 

5.5 The table below sets out the key risks associated with the implementation of a 
company. 

Table 5.4: Key risks and suggested mitigations 

Risk Likelihood and impact Proposed mitigation 

The new company will be 
seen as an outside body and 
there will be a shift towards 
an ‘us and them’ relationship 
rather than a partnership.  

High/High Significant engagement with 
all levels of stakeholders, 
including staff, Members and 
Trade Unions explaining the 
reasons for the change. 

Make clear that the company 
is our company that the 
partners own and control. 

Ongoing communication about 
the service so that all partners 
feel included. 

Staff from all partners working 
on change programmes. 

TUPE will be resisted and 
key staff will leave.  

Medium/High Engagement as above.  

Communication of new 
opportunities arising from the 
changes. 

Issues with pension deficits 
and liabilities makes TUPE 
unaffordable. 

Low/Medium Very early engagement with 
the actuaries to assess the 
impact of any pension issues. 

Delays drawing up legal 
arrangements which 
undermine the effective 
working of the service and 
partnership.  

Medium/medium Careful planning and 
management of the 
implementation project, and 
excellent engagement on all 
levels should mitigate this risk.

Difficulties in developing the 
skills and disciplines required 
to manage a commercial 
organisation. 

Medium/high Careful planning for the 
commercial requirements for 
company management, 
recruiting the experienced 
resources required to support 
a commercial operation. 

Inability to compete 
effectively for new business. 

High/medium Create and resource business 
development plan. 

Develop bidding and 
contracting disciplines and 
client relationship 
management. 

 

Page 69
Page 69



Shared Digital governance options 

45 
 

Summary 

5.6 There is a good track record in local government of implementing joint committee and 
company governance arrangements and the partners in Shared Digital have the 
resources, skills and commitment required, drawing on external specialist advice as and 
when needed. 

5.7 Ultimately, the success of Shared Digital will depend on effective collaborative 
leadership and committed partnership working. While the governance model is 
important, culture and leadership will be critical if you are to achieve your ambitions. 

  

Page 70
Page 70



Shared Digital governance options 

46 
 

Appendices 

  

Page 71
Page 71



Shared Digital governance options 

47 
 

Appendix 1  

Examples of sourcing options 
In table 2.1, we have provided some examples of the sourcing options (make, buy, 
share or divest). The examples are summarised below.  
 

Example Summary 

Westco Trading Westco Trading is the trading company for Westminster 
Communications, a communications and market research consultancy 
established by the City of Westminster Council. 

iCo iCo is the trading name of Islington Limited, a trading company 
established by Islington Council to provide engineering and 
environmental services. 

Elevate East 
London 

Elevate East London is a joint venture between London Borough of 
Barking & Dagenham and Agilisys, an IT service provider which 
provide customer services, revenues and benefits, ICT and other back 
office services. 

LGSS LGSS is a shared service partnership between Cambridgeshire, 
Northamptonshire County Councils and Milton Keynes Council. It 
provides a range of support services to the partners and other 
authorities. 

Norse Norse Group is a holding company with a turnover of over £250m, 
wholly owned by Norfolk County Council. Norse Group’s companies 
provide a wide range of services (eg technical, environmental, catering 
and building maintenance) to a range of partners and clients across 
the country.  

GLL Greenwich Leisure Limited (operating under the brand ‘better’) is a 
charitable social enterprise providing leisure and library services to 
various authorities around the country. 

BIT The Behavioural Insights Team, which began as ‘the Nudge Unit’ in 
the Cabinet Office was spun out to into a company jointly owned by 
the UK government, Nesta and its employees. It now operates across 
the world offering behavioural insight advice to the public sector. 

 

  

Page 72
Page 72



Shared Digital governance options 

48 
 

Appendix 2  

Case studies 
Seven case studies have been developed, six with the assistance of the organisations 
involved. After speaking to each interviewee, we drafted the text of a case study. That 
draft case study was then forwarded to the interviewee to review and approve. As a 
result, the case studies reflect their own words, which we have not sought to validate 
further. The case study on Hoople Ltd is drawn from publicly available material and is 
not the result of an interview. 

 

Ref Organisation 

1 OneSource 

2 LGSS 

3 Hoople Ltd 

4 Southwest One 

5 ARP 

6 Sutton/Kingston 

7 Brent, Southwark and Lewisham 

 
  

Page 73
Page 73



Shared Digital governance options 

49 
 

Case study: oneSource – joint committee 
  
Shared service 
oneSource is the shared back office support service for Havering, Newham and Bexley 
Councils. In April 2016, Bexley’s financial services joined the two founding councils. The three 
councils are estimating to achieve approximately £40M in savings by 2018/19. 
  
Summary  
oneSource has approximately 1000 staff and a £36m budget. They provide a shared service 
solution covering a wide range of 22 transactional, operational and strategic services, including 
finance, ICT, legal, HR, transport for Havering, support services and property. 
  
Shared service governance model 
The joint committee (JC) was set up in 2014. Havering and Newham have 3 JC members each. 
As Bexley joined with financial services only, they have 1 member on JC, making 7 members 
on JC in total. Each council has delegated certain powers to JC in line with their constitutions 
and organisational needs.  
  
In terms of procurement, oneSource contract from a lead authority on behalf of the other two. 
The preferred lead authority depends on the nature of the procurement and the democratic 
processes that need to be followed (such as delegated financial limits and speed). The 
Managing Director is delegated permission to spend up to £500k before it refers to JC. 
  
With close to 4 years of successful operations, oneSource is currently exploring its future 
options and examining the market. It is perceived that being delegated more autonomy at arms-
length could enable the delivery of greater efficiencies and help oneSource grow its customer 
base beyond the current three boroughs, generating more income for its shareholder councils. 
  
Why the model was chosen 
The JC was chosen for reasons of speed of set up – it was considered the quickest and 
speediest way to get the new model in place and help deliver savings.  
  
All oneSource staff have stayed employed by their home boroughs – there has been no TUPE. 
If someone leaves, they are replaced on the same T&Cs. This help keep staffing levels 
consistent across the partners. oneSource manage the range of T&Cs across the organisations 
without much difficulty. Staff have experienced some challenges, as two of the partners have 
gone recently through their own T&C transformation changes that affected staff who are part of 
oneSource. No TUPE has also minimised the perception of risk with Unions and staff, as well 
as pension considerations and cash flow at each employing borough. 
  
Lessons learned 
oneSource recommend ensuring that the governance model aligns with the political and 
organisational agendas of each partner for the coming 3-5 years. This avoids conflicts and 
establishes a timescale for the journey ahead. Realistic, open budget conversations are also 
required to ensure everyone is clear about what is in, or out, of the partnerships – SLAs are 
essential to confirm these arrangements. Confirming the customer relationship and business 
culture is also important. oneSource are there to support their customers, not to act as 
policemen – and Customer Boards are in place to address developing issues formally as and 
when required. Finally, it is considered inevitable that the more partners involved, the more 
complicated reaching decisions can theoretically be. The best way to get around this is through 
trust and delegations that suits the needs of the partners. 
  
  

Page 74
Page 74



Shared Digital governance options 

50 
 

Key learning points 
The strategic direction and priorities of each partner council must be considered when deciding 
upon a preferred governance model and plans for the future growth of a shared service. A 
visible and credible brand for the service is also extremely helpful when recruiting, which can be 
helped by promotion efforts and visibility at awards and exhibitions. The topic of having staff on 
different T&Cs is considered a minor frustration. Market supplements can be offered when 
required, but areas such as upskilling of staff and costs of training can become sticky. It is 
considered that a single set of T&Cs for all staff would eventually be the ideal situation but it 
isn’t a priority in the short term. 
    
For further information  
Jane West and Sandy Hamberger, oneSource, E: Jane.West@oneSource.co.uk, 
sandy.hamberger@oneSource.co.uk  
  

Page 75
Page 75



Shared Digital governance options 

51 
 

Case study: LGSS - joint committee and public service company 
  
Shared service 
LGSS is one of the largest public sector shared services ventures in the UK, jointly owned by 
Cambridgeshire, Northamptonshire County Councils and Milton Keynes Council. LGSS was 
originally created in 2010 through the merger of Corporate Services operations at 
Cambridgeshire and Northamptonshire into one unified, public-to-public shared service. LGSS 
has since secured new partnerships across the region with other public services including 
Norwich City and Northampton Borough Councils, and the Northamptonshire Foundation Health 
Trust. From 1st April 2016, Milton Keynes became a full partner with representation on the 
LGSS Joint Committee (JC) board. 
  
Summary  
LGSS has grown to approximately 1600+ FTEs providing the full scope of Business Support 
Services, including all Finance and Audit, HR & Payroll services, Legal Services, ICT and 
Business Systems to its customers. It has a turnover in the region of £85m pa of which c£8.5m 
is being generated by its subsidiary company LGSS Law (which has Admitted Body Status with 
the SRA). LGSS Law Ltd staff were transferred under TUPE from each of the three ownership 
councils’ T&Cs, with no specific plans to harmonise T&Cs. 
  
Shared service governance model  
LGSS shared services is governed under delegation to an LGSS joint committee board. Each 
council or public body has therefore delegated budgets, staff management and the employment 
responsibilities to the LGSS JC who in turn delegated operational management responsibility to 
the LGSS Managing Director and shared Service Directors. There is no lead authority as 
service and budget responsibility has been delegated to the LGSS JC. The LGSS Law Ltd legal 
service arm was originally formed as a jointly owned company limited by shares between 
Cambs and Northants, which was recently expanded to include Central Bedfordshire Council.  
  
The LGSS JC is a cross-party, members based board of governance structure whereas LGSS 
Law Ltd is governed through a shareholders’ board consisting of the MD, NEDs, Finance and 
Legal Directors, with each Portfolio holder having the shareholder representatives and voting 
rights.). LGSS JC meetings are held quarterly whereas LGSS Law Ltd holds regular 
shareholder general meetings typically 3 times a year. The Chair is replaced annually on a turn-
taking basis and holds a power of casting vote.  
  
For LGSS Services it is usual for the retained Finance Director of partner authority to act as an 
intelligent client or LGSS Services Commissioner. LGSS operates a business partner model 
and adapt is able to customise and adapt their model to meet specific service requirements of 
each customer. There are formal SLAs agreed between LGSS and all its customers including 
the three owning councils (i.e. as LGSS customers). LGSS Law Ltd also operates a Business 
Partner customer service engagement model.  
  
To date, there have been no real issues with joint procurements of shared systems and assets, 
as the approach is production of joint investment and joint business cases whereby each 
partner is asked to invest against discrete benefits/ costs/ risks/ rewards as part of any co-
commissioned or jointly planned programmes between the various parties who choose to 
participate. There are currently no major changes planned in the LGSS shared business model 
apart from LGSS continuing to evolving its current governance structure as it grows and 
responds to its core partners’ circumstances and their challenges.  
 
Any additional full scope major partners for LGSS Services would simply involve extending the 
LGSS JC membership over time. And for LGSS Law Ltd specifically we have the ability to issue 
new shares to help facilitate strategic mergers and consolidations for legal service public 
service partnerships and growth plans.  

Page 76
Page 76



Shared Digital governance options 

52 
 

Why the model was chosen 
During the setup of LGSS, a range of options were considered. The partners felt that the JC 
route offered the best route for ownership and political partner buy-in at the time, as well as its 
simplicity it avoided staff TUPE transfer concerns. It is perceived to be the most expedient 
governance model for start-up with the minimum pain, change and member resistance 
associated with its inception. New customer and shareholders can be brought on-board fairly 
easily through delegation and avoid time consuming, costly and expensive OJEU procurement 
procedures to new partners. We moved LGSS Law Ltd to the ABS SRA regulated model 
because this best suits the professional service plans we have for it, and it affords LGSS Law 
Ltd greater degree of freedom when it comes to workforce development, and competing for 
legal skills in recruitment and retention terms.  
  
Lessons learned 
LGSS note the value in retained council commissioners sitting with the councils acting as senior 
intelligent client role. From practical experience, some service areas do not suit being delegated 
or shared, so it is important to consider carefully what gets included. It is essential to have SLAs 
and agreed annual service charge arrangements in place with each partner, to provide 
baselines for service planning and change management, measuring quality and service delivery 
expectations, and agreeing what, how and where savings will be achieved and their agreed 
impacts on service over time, and to do this joint service planning openly as part of the normal 
Mid-Term Financial Planning individually with each partner annually.  
  
Key learning points 
To avoid the perception of ‘forced’ changes upon any partner, it is crucial all partners and 
members share an understanding of how the shared service and JC will operate. LGSS saves 
money by getting bigger (i.e. it’s a shared risk/ reward economies of scale model. LGSS’ key 
purpose is to serve its customers, offering value for money and at an agreed quality of service, 
i.e. a not for profit model. The idea of “thinking like a customer, acting like a tax payer” is 
LGSS’s business ethos and it aligns with each partner’s long-term goals. Having staff on 
different sets of T&Cs is considered a distraction, rather than a real issue to contend with and is 
effectively managed as part of the shared services model. Experiences in the private sector has 
seen similar shared teams working with multiple T&Cs so why would shared services be any 
different? Gradual harmonisation can be managed and take place over time at service team 
levels if beneficial and is naturally occurring and managed through normal staff turnover. 
  
For further information  
John Kane, LGSS E: JKane@northamptonshire.gov.uk   

Page 77
Page 77



Shared Digital governance options 

53 
 

Case study: Hoople Ltd - public service company 
  
Summary (taken from public domain reports) 
Hoople was created in 2011 by Herefordshire Council, the Wye Valley Trust and the then 
Herefordshire Primary Care Trust as a “Teckal” or “in house” company with a vision “to provide 
excellent business support services to the public sector and those who work with them”. Since 
2011, Hoople has established itself as an effective organisation and has delivered significant 
cost savings to the shareholders. 
  
Over the past two years, a number of changes have been introduced to ensure the company 
remains able to deliver back office services to the shareholders and other customers in the 
future. Herefordshire Council and Wye Valley Trust are the two shareholders with 85% and 15% 
shareholding respectively. Reductions in management overheads were delivered in 2015/16 
and the size of the company board reduced to ensure the company focused on future priorities 
of the shareholders. The company board currently comprises Andrew Cottom (Wye Valley 
Trust), Councillor David Harlow (Herefordshire Council) and Geoff Hughes (Herefordshire 
Council). 
   
The council commission services with Hoople through a strategic service level agreement with 
services provided at cost with no profit element. Performance of the services delivered through 
the SLA is currently reported and monitored in accordance with the Council’s Performance and 
Risk Opportunity Management (PROM) framework through Directorate performance processes 
on a monthly basis. Current requirements in relation to service volumes and key performance 
indicators are included within the SLA. The revenue expenditure through the Hoople SLA for 
2017/18 is expected to be £5.545m. This is contained within existing budgets and provides for a 
range of services covering ICT, Human Resources, payroll, recruitment, training support, 
finance, revenues and benefits. 
  
The Parties understand and agree that the success of the delivery of the services is heavily 
reliant on the implementation of a robust and appropriate governance structure. Effective 
governance is essential in achieving the objectives of any Partnership, especially one where 
outputs rather than inputs, are the defined objectives. 
  
The three key aspects of governance in this relationship are: 

1. Formal Communication – regular meetings at operational level and relationship level 
to monitor the performance of the services and for both parties to understand the impact 
of day to day activities and decisions. 

2. Reporting Performance – monthly performance reports focusing on key performance 
information along with corrective action plans as necessary. 

3. Escalation – wherever an issue or potential issue that cannot be resolved by those 
directly involved occurs, it is incumbent upon those involved to escalate to their line 
manager (who may in turn escalate further up the management hierarchy) to ensure that 
a prompt resolution or action plan to achieve resolution is implemented. 

  
Monitoring takes place through regular meetings between service leads from both 
organisations. In addition, meetings at senior level take place quarterly to ensure there are no 
major contract changes or quality issues to address. Without effective governance it is 
acknowledged that the delivery of the Services will be compromised and that the Partnership 
Statement will not be fully achieved. 
  
For further information  
Hoople Ltd, E: enquiries@hoopleltd.co.uk 
  

Page 78
Page 78



Shared Digital governance options 

54 
 

Case study: Southwest One – private sector involvement 
  
Shared service 
The Southwest One (SWO) partnership and contract was originally entered into by Taunton 
Deane Borough Council (TD) in conjunction with Somerset County Council (SCC) and IBM in 
2007. Avon and Somerset Police (ASP) joined in 2008. The 10-year contract was for the 
delivery of a range of back office services and a number of key transformation projects. At the 
time of exit, SWO was one of TD’s largest contracts, costing circa £1.7m per annum, although 
this had significantly reduced by service de-scoping during the term. 
  
Shared service governance model 
SWO was set up as a third party joint venture company, with IBM as the majority shareholder 
and the public sector partners holding percentage shares based on original contract size. The 
Board had equal shareholder representation, but with certain reserved matters per shareholder. 
The Board received regular updates on performance and financials, but it is felt that the right 
things were not always being measured and that actual achievements versus targets were only 
a small part of the overall picture.  
  
SWO ran a secondment model - there was no automatic TUPE of staff – and seconded staff 
had a 10-year period of assured employment. However, this meant SWO was unable to reduce 
staffing levels to help it deliver savings. SWO teams would consist of a mixture of staff from the 
two councils, SWO direct employees, police, IBM and/or agency staff. This occasionally caused 
confusion and conflicts with communications being issued to staff from SWO as well as their 
host organisations. 
  
Initially, it was intended that the public sector partners would have a joint client team. In reality, 
separate client teams represented each partner's interests. This made life difficult for SWO as 
each had different aims and priorities. Insisting on a joint client team may have informed the 
development of a shared strategy for SWO.  
  
Why the model was chosen 
In pre-recession 2005-06, TD and SCC had been rated as Excellent councils and were 
exploring avenues for achieving Gershon savings targets of c2.5%. Entering a contract with a 
private sector partner to deliver savings and reinvest in service delivery was considered a 
positive move, with a standalone 3rd party company, following a growth model, considered the 
best vehicle to achieve this. The idea led to the formation of SW1 in 2007, led by TD and SCC, 
with ASP joining 6 months later. 
  
It was perceived that great opportunities for economies of scale existed within the new SWO's 
body of over 1000 employees, as well as year on year price reductions, primarily through 
procurement savings of c£200m over 10 years and creation of a new back office hub that would 
attract new business from within the public sector. There was a lot of initial enthusiasm and 
interested parties, but the effects of the recession and harsh austerity meant that the money 
was no longer available in the sector to invest - the sector had tightened its belts. Delays to the 
major programme of work required to integrate the partners also led to a significant period of 
time elapsing before SWO was fully up and running, coupled with the need for additional 
investment being required by IBM to make it all work. 
  
By 2010, the Councils had much larger savings targets as a result of the recession, but 
basically had a fixed price contract with SWO, and no new joiners to provide SWO with 
opportunities for efficiencies. The initial vision had fizzled away and contracts were all that was 
keeping the partners together. SWO/IBM had been left with a service contract, predicated on a 
growth model.  As a result, SWO was reporting significant losses. 
  
  

Page 79
Page 79



Shared Digital governance options 

55 
 

Lessons learned 
The world has changed significantly since TD entered the SWO contract in 2007. The recession 
had an unforeseeable impact on local government funding and the levels of savings TD needed 
to make. The ambitions and direction of travel of the partners also became significantly different 
to how they were when they started. Whilst there are still opportunities to work together in 
specific areas, TD no longer look to combine services in an organisation the size of SWO. 
Advice and guidance from central government has also changed and recognises that large, 
multi-faceted and lengthy contracts are not the right solution in the current environment. 
Instead, best practice has recommended smaller, more focussed contracts where outsourcing 
is being considered.  
 
TD have brought back in-house a number of services from SWO during the past 3 years. The 
remaining TD services returned early in two phases in Dec 2016 and March 2017 being 
Customer Contact, ICT, Procurement and the transactional elements of HR (including Payroll) 
and Finance. The 10-year contract was scheduled to end on 1st November 2017. 
  
Key learning points 
Creating a stand-alone organisation may be speedy, but it can lead to a loss of control, 
particularly around the new organisations procurement policies. It is essential to maintain 
alignment of strategic objectives and desired outcomes of each partner. Ensuring each partner 
keeps an element of service expertise in-house also means that an intelligent client team has 
the knowledge and skills to influence, inform and shape the delivery and service’s strategic 
direction. 
  
Working with different sized partners can cause problems – but if you are broadly the same 
size, it can make it easier. Mixing teams with a bigger organisation can lead to the most 
common cultures being embedded as the new norm, which can frustrate smaller partners. 
  
Contracting a large basket of services over a lengthy period is also to be avoided. Breaking up 
contracts into smaller chunks is recommended. Ensuring there are opportunities to adapt to 
inevitable changes in partners’ circumstances and objectives is also recommended, as is 
avoiding complex contracts that are ambiguous or difficult to unpick. Building in review periods 
to reaffirm, reflect and realign contracts is recommended.  
  
Being realistic about savings is also important. Setting expectations over a foreseeable period 
will mean the service can move forward with realistic targets in sight. Bundling in big packages 
of work over lengthy periods leads to more uncertainty for all parties involved. 
  
For further information 
Richard Sealy and Adrian Gladstone-Smith, Taunton Deane Borough Council  
E: r.sealy@tauntondeane.gov.uk,  ags@ultim8solutions.co.uk  
  

Page 80
Page 80



Shared Digital governance options 

56 
 

Case study: Brent, Southwark and Lewisham - joint committee 
 
Shared service 
A three-way shared ICT service is in place between the London Boroughs of Brent, Southwark 
and Lewisham. With a combined team of approximately 100 people, Brent is delegated to act 
as the host authority for delivery of the ICT service within the agreed scope, including the 
procurement of ICT related goods and services and management of shared ICT service 
staffing. 
   
Shared service governance model 
The service operates a joint committee (JC) model. The model was chosen for reasons of 
simplicity – it was considered the least painful to setup legally. Most decision making is 
delegated to JC by the partners under S101 arrangements. JC acts as a place to resolve any 
conflicts and report performance to. Under normal circumstances, the service is run by the 
Service Manager. 
 
In terms of procurement, there are two arrangements. Southwark delegate to Brent, who follow 
Brent’s procurement rules, with a procurement limit of £500k, and anything above this is 
referred to the Brent Cabinet for approval. Lewisham refer expenditure decisions of over £500k 
to their Mayor & Cabinet, but require supporting reports. 
 
Moving forward, the service is ambitious about growth, so the model may be reviewed, and the 
possibility of a company explored, to accommodate a shift towards trading and selling services 
in addition to the current sharing arrangements. Brent already currently sell services to the LGA 
through a jointly-owned Teckal company. 
 
Why the model was chosen 
The JC was chosen to suit the partners’ circumstances at the point of establishing the shared 
service. It is not believed to be workable to keep adding extra representatives to the JC should 
the service grow further as is the intention, so a range of potential options for the future are 
currently being explored. 
  
Due to the host authority approach, Brent received Lewisham’s teams from Capita (as the 
external provider of the service). It is possible that staff from other retained/devolved Lewisham 
teams may TUPE to join Brent going forward. Southwark are in a similar situation, although staff 
in scope have not yet been transferred to Brent. Upon receiving Lewisham/Capita staff under 
existing T&Cs, Brent conducted a full restructure of the new service resulting to all staff, either 
existing Brent or transferred to Brent, being issued with new JDs. This was done with the 
intention of delivering a structure that is fit for purpose to deliver services to a wider user base 
across multiple authorities. This exercise also resulted in all staff having standard Brent T&Cs 
and the new JDs are suitable for receiving new staff when required. 
 
The lead authority approach has meant that, with Brent as the host, all contracts are novated to, 
and new contracts procured by, Brent as a single contract. This has been a time-consuming 
process, as upon exploration, historic contract records have been patchy and therefore difficult 
to baseline and novate. This has caused delays, but has been a worthwhile process to achieve 
benefits and secure savings for the partners. 
  
  

Page 81
Page 81



Shared Digital governance options 

57 
 

Lessons learned 
Whilst the JC process is smooth, it is recommended that JC meets as little as possible in order 
to minimise overheads and reduce the need for report preparation. Quarterly meetings currently 
take place, but often there is not much to report, due to smooth progress. 
  
1 year in, there is occasionally a perception that the service is external (i.e. provided by Brent) 
to the other partners. This is considered something that will iron out over time as ways of 
working and sharing culture becomes the norm.  
 
Key learning points 
Brent believe that growing further will produce more savings opportunities, built on being able to 
achieve greater economies of scale. However, it is not felt that new partners would choose to 
go with an LA over an external brand for reasons of cost alone, and that the brand and culture 
of local government offers a USP to shared services.  
 
Pursuing a shared service is considered the obvious ‘no-brainer’ solution for the partners. 
Savings have been delivered, resilience has increased as well as the number of staff in the 
service. 
 
For further information  
Prod Sarigianis, Brent Council E: prod.sarigianis@brent.gov.uk  
 

 
  

Page 82
Page 82



Shared Digital governance options 

58 
 

Case study: Anglia Revenues Partnership - joint committee 
  
Shared service 
The Anglia Revenues Partnership (ARP) is a group of seven district/borough councils working 
together to provide a shared service to the residents of Breckland District Council, East 
Cambridgeshire District Council, Forest Heath District Council, Fenland District Council, St 
Edmundsbury Borough Council, Suffolk Coastal District Council and Waveney District Council. 
ARP deliver a range of services, primarily billing, council tax, housing benefit, benefit fraud, 
bailiff enforcement and training. 
  
Shared service governance model 
ARP operates a S101 delegated joint committee (JC) arrangement with no lead authority - all 
partners are equal. There is a single Member representative per authority for quorum of JC, 
with majority vote rule, and the Chair having the power of casting vote. The position of Chair 
rotates annually amongst the partners. Reports are created following one of the original 
authority’s templates, with officers at each partner authority creating their own tailored versions 
as required.  
  
In terms of procurement, a lot of decisions are not delegated to JC. Major procurements would 
go to JC, but then each decision would be noted by, or goes through, each individual Council’s 
approval processes as per their individual constitutions. Members revert back to their individual 
Councils if anything is over their individual financial limits – however approvals don’t necessarily 
need to go through any great decision-making timeline.  
  
Why the model was chosen 
A range of options were considered at the point of set up, including a lead authority approach or 
joint venture company. However, the strategic desire of each authority was to retain the staff, so 
no TUPE’s have taken place (except for one previously outsourced partner’s teams who have 
been brought into the partnership). ARP staff work on different T&Cs whilst still being employed 
by their sovereign authorities, with a little bit of geographic movement having taken place for 
operational benefits. In addition, actuarial advice flagged a detrimental impact on pension 
schemes were a number of staff to be TUPE’d out, reinforcing the decision to follow this 
approach and not pursue becoming a Teckal company. 
  
Lessons learned 
ARP believe any governance model can be made to work, but each have pros and cons. The 
JC model best suits ARP, but care is needed to avoid holding up decision making and over-
onerous processes being introduced or retained. One advantage of a JC is considered to be 
that all partners come out with a shared outcome, however if there is any sense of imbalance at 
the start, this must be addressed. It is not perceived that there is any better model to choose 
than JC. 
  
It is noted that co-locating staff can make different T&Cs more of an issue amongst staff, but 
offer greater managerial economies of scale. The topic occasionally rears its head, but is 
considered a distraction, rather than a significant issue, and will solve itself over time.  
  
It is suggested that the strategic principles of each partner should drive the end model, based 
on what is most valued – e.g. value for money, service quality, generation of income from 
trading or just saving money. ARP are also no longer interested in adding any extra full partners 
as they have now reached a critical size where the operational benefits will not outweigh the 
risks. Getting actuarial advice on the pension implications of each model being considered is 
also strongly advised. 
    
For further information  
Paul Corney, Anglia Revenues Partnership E: Paul.Corney@angliarevenues.gov.uk  

Page 83
Page 83



Shared Digital governance options 

59 
 

Case study: Sutton and Kingston – shared service 
  
Shared service 
Since 2013, the Royal Borough of Kingston Upon Thames and the London Borough of Sutton 
(KS) councils have shared an ICT service, saving c£4m to date. The authorities believe that 
sharing ICT helps enable digital transformation, saves money, modernise ways of working and 
improve service delivery to residents. 
  
Shared service governance model 
KS do not operate a joint committee arrangement. Instead they report to a monthly shared 
Director-level management board as the decision-making body. Within the scope of a shared 
legal agreement, KS each have a vote, with a legal framework in place to resolve potential 
deadlocks, although it has never been used. Both KS have a small number of reserved matters 
that they retain sovereign control over. A Member board leads on service communications and 
provides strategic oversight, but it is not a decision-making committee. 
  
When the service was set up, approximately 30 Sutton staff TUPE’d to Kingston as the host 
authority. This was followed by a restructure, leaving the service with a workforce of about 90 
people. T&Cs have not been an issue, as both sets of staff were fairly aligned pre-TUPE. 
  
In terms of procurement, KS trust the effectiveness of each other’s commissioning processes. A 
preferred process will be followed depending on the nature of the service area according to the 
commissioning rules of the Council. 
  
Why the model was chosen 
ICT was one of the early shared service arrangements between the two Councils, and the belief 
was that having ICT in place has made it easy to share other services subsequently.  Each 
service is hosted by a lead from one of the two partners. Decision making feels efficient and KS 
have deliberately tried not to over-engineer the governance arrangements. The levels of 
management – up to Director level, with a shared decision making management Board - works 
well and is not overly complex. The ICT Head of Service has arrangements in place to report to 
the portfolio holding Member at each Council. 
  
The shared model is perceived to drive cost savings, provide value for money and help KS 
pursue new business. At the start, KS had poor ICT infrastructure, which has since been 
completely modernised through the use of partners such as Citrix and Google. This early 
investment in shared ICT has enabled the councils to share other services more effectively, 
such as HR, Finance, customer services, Environmental Services and shared telephony. 
  
Lessons learned 
The organisational and infrastructure requirements to best support the sharing of ICT has had 
to be refined and evolved since the service was set up – it would be difficult for any shared 
service to get it 100% correct from the start. Bringing different organisational cultures together 
has also taken time as staff had to adapt to new ways of working. Stakeholders comment that 
the service feels like a single joint-team providing ICT to multiple organisations, with a shared 
single set of collaborative, integrated technology infrastructure and email structure helping 
facilitate this. A focus on getting the basics right from the start - e.g. making sure the Wi-Fi 
works everywhere for everyone – was essential. It is worth noting that service failures can 
happen like with any ICT service – but they are never due to it being a ‘shared’ ICT service. 
  
  

Page 84
Page 84



Shared Digital governance options 

60 
 

Key learning points 
KS perceive the partners’ cultures and location of the teams as important to consider and 
integrate from the start. Reliable, shared and common ICT infrastructure should be introduced 
as soon as possible to help collaboration happen remotely – e.g. video conferencing facilities. 
KS note the amount of time they save by having made it the new norm for meetings to take 
place where not everyone is based in the same room. This continues to save colleagues travel 
between geographical sites and enables other shared services outside of ICT to do the same as 
well. 
  
For further information 
Mark Lumley and David Grasty, Sutton and Kingston E: mark.lumley@kingston.gov.uk, 
david.grasty@kingston.gov.uk  

 

Page 85
Page 85



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 86
Page 86



Shared Digital Shared Digital Strategy – Reviewing the Draft v1.1 | 19 October 2017  Page 1 of 6 

 

 
   

 

 
REPORT TITLE 
Shared Digital Strategy – Reviewing the Draft 
 
 
REPORT OF 
Ed Garcez, Shared Digital Chief Digital and Information Officer 
 
 
FOR SUBMISSION TO 
Shared Digital Joint Committee 
 

 
DATE 
30 October 2017 

 
SUMMARY OF REPORT 
This report provides a picture of the draft shared digital strategy for the next three years. 
The strategy describes how we will support, help shape and deliver the aspirations of 
Camden, Haringey and Islington; how we will manage our resources effectively and 
efficiently to make the most of opportunities with those resources. 
 
The strategy (Appendix D) describes in three parts: the priorities of the three councils 
(demand); what our resources are and how we manage them (supply); and how we 
match supply with demand successfully through governance and control mechanisms 
(control).  
 
The strategy is still in draft and would benefit from feedback from the Joint Committee 
and further consultation. Throughout the paper there are key decisions or open-ended 
prompts for the Joint Committee to consider, written in blue. 
 
The report is coming to the Shared Digital Joint Committee: 

 For feedback on the direction and content of the strategy up to this stage; and  
 To share details of the consultations that have taken place so far, so that the final 

draft of the strategy can be agreed by the Committee in February 2018. 
 
Local Government Act 1972 – Access to Information 
 
The following document(s) has been used in the preparation of this report: 
 

 Shared Digital Strategy (Draft)  
 
Contact officer: 
Ed Garcez, Chief Digital and Information Officer  
5 Pancras Square, London, N1C 4AG 
 
ed.garcez@camden.gov.uk  
0207 974 4583 
 
 
WHAT DECISIONS ARE BEING ASKED FOR? 
That the Shared Service Joint Committee: 

Page 87

Agenda Item 9

Page 87



Shared Digital Shared Digital Strategy – Reviewing the Draft v1.1 | 19 October 2017  Page 2 of 6 

 

 
   

 

 
1. Comment on the key points proposed, direction, and content of the draft shared 

digital Strategy and provide recommendations for the final version that will be 
brought to the Committee for approval in February 2018. 

 
2. Provide feedback on the next phase of the strategy, including the Joint 

Committee’s views on what type of stakeholders they feel are key engagement 
priorities to make sure the strategy’s message is sound and right. 

 
 
 

Date: 19/10/2017 Signed: 

 
 
 
1 WHAT IS THIS REPORT ABOUT? 

 
1.1 This report proposes a draft of a single strategy for Digital across Camden, 

Haringey and Islington. 
 

1.2 At the meeting of 19 June 2017, the Shared Digital Joint Committee asked officers 
to work towards a single shared strategy with a view to: 
 Understanding whether there were any strategic differences between the 

three local authorities (and if so, to highlight these early) 
 Consider and set out the areas of overlap (as noted in the minutes for the 

Joint Committee Meeting of 19 June 2017) and how we can best support 
these with collaboration across the three councils 

 Setting out a delivery plan based on key priorities  
 

1.3 A single shared digital Strategy is a key step in further establishing the case for 
working together to reduce cost and maximise shared learning and benefit from 
collaboration across Camden, Haringey and Islington. It will also provide a clear 
framework for knowing what matters most and supporting our prioritisation.  
 

2 WHY IS THIS REPORT NECESSARY? 
 

2.1 At the meeting of 19 June 2017, the Shared Digital Joint Committee asked officers 
to work towards a single shared strategy that would be brought to the October 
2017 meeting in draft form; with the aim of completing the strategy by the February 
2018 Joint Committee meeting. 
 

3 OPTIONS 
 

3.1 Option 1 
Do nothing. This option would mean no (new) digital strategy. A Shared Digital 
delivery plan would be embedded in the corporate strategies for the councils 
separately; or a digital strategy is deemed unnecessary by the Joint Committee. 

Page 88
Page 88



Shared Digital Shared Digital Strategy – Reviewing the Draft v1.1 | 19 October 2017  Page 3 of 6 

 

 
   

 

 
Rejected: A Shared Digital strategy is key to further establishing the case for 
working together to reduce cost and maximise shared learning and benefit from 
collaboration across Camden, Haringey and Islington. 
  

3.2 Option 2  
Determine insufficient overlap to have a single strategy. In this scenario, it may be 
deemed unnecessary to have a single strategy because of the perceived lack of 
sufficient overlap between the three councils to make a single strategy worthwhile. 
In such a case, the three councils would create separate digital strategies or no 
strategy at all. 
 
Rejected: Evidence (Appendix A – Section 4) shows that, there is a clear and 
significant overlap between the three councils’ corporate and digital priorities. 
 

3.3 Option 3 
Set out a shared digital strategy based on the current draft, using a template from 
a Gartner paper (Appendix B).  
 
Recommended: The three councils have parallel digital priorities, but this demand 
outstrips Shared Digital’s capacity to deliver. A single strategy will enable us to 
meet that demand collaboratively to the highest degree by prioritising work across 
the three boroughs and using our resources effectively and efficiently.  
 
The Gartner template we have used looks at our service in the lens of what our 
demand, supply, and governance control looks like. Using this template, we can 
focus on showing that we know: 
 

1. What the councils want to deliver digitally, including what our top priorities 
are. 

2. What resources (in money and people) Shared Digital has to tackle that 
demand. 

3. How we organise and position ourselves to react to demand and what we 
do to use our resources wisely and prioritise the transformational projects 
that will have a massive positive impact on the councils. 

 
4 WHAT ARE THE REASONS FOR THE RECOMMENDED DECISIONS? 

 
4.1 A single digital strategy, shared between the three councils, cements the shared 

position the three councils are in.  
 

4.2 A single strategy will emphasise the need for collaboration in order to achieve 
savings. One of the key points raised in our current consultation with the Activist 
Group is that “Partners working together as a joint sponsor rather than as separate 
clients” is a key success criterion to shared ICT services. 
 

4.3 A shared strategy helps clarify the combined digital vision of the three councils to 
Members, residents, partner councils, and external organisations. 
 

Page 89
Page 89



Shared Digital Shared Digital Strategy – Reviewing the Draft v1.1 | 19 October 2017  Page 4 of 6 

 

 
   

 

In not pursuing a shared strategy, we risk not achieving the ambitions, savings, 
and vision set out for Shared Digital in its mandate. We also risk leaving 
unaddressed the massive challenge of managing shared resource in the face of 
high demand.  
 

5 WHAT ARE THE IMPACTS/ RISKS? HOW WILL THEY BE ADDRESSED? 
 

5.1 If a shared strategy for digital is not implemented, the councils risk not achieving 
the ambitions and objectives that have been established (Appendix C – slide 16). 
 

5.2 Without a strategy, Shared Digital risks not being understood by partners, 
members, and external organisations, with respect to its vision, purpose, and 
position within the three councils. 
 

5.3 Without a single shared strategy, our ICT service risks a disjointed and 
uncoordinated approach to prioritising demand. Our ability to manage shared 
resources would be hindered without a shared direction and strategy. 
 

5.4 Should a strategy be implemented, there is a risk that it does not align with the 
three councils’ priorities or that the strategy doesn’t accurately represent Shared 
Digital’s position. Mitigating this, we have based the strategy on sound research, 
expertise, and consultation throughout the boroughs so that the strategy aligns 
with and benefits the strategic direction of all three councils   
 

6 WHAT ACTIONS WILL BE TAKEN AND WHEN FOLLOWING THE DECISION 
AND HOW WILL THIS BE MONITORED? 
 

6.1 We will continue to develop the strategy and present a final version for 
consideration and agreement at the February 2018 Joint Committee meeting. 
 

6.2 We will extend further engagement and consultation with key stakeholders across 
the three councils, specifically to inform thinking and prioritisation within the key 
themes of activity that the councils have agreed, and to help shape the narrative of 
the overall strategy. 
 

7 CONSULTATION 
 

7.1 The Strategy has been developed in consultation with the Shared Digital Senior 
Leadership Team and the Shared Digital Delivery Board.  
 

Page 90
Page 90



Shared Digital Shared Digital Strategy – Reviewing the Draft v1.1 | 19 October 2017  Page 5 of 6 

 

 
   

 

7.2 Many elements that make up the strategy have gone through extensive 
consultation and co-design stages with stakeholders across the three councils as 
well as externally throughout the past few years. The Functional Model was 
created in co-design workshops with Shared Digital employees and expertise from 
an external consultancy group; the six themes emerged out of engagement with 
key officers in departments across the councils and from the expertise of Shared 
Digital business partners; and we have consulted an expert consultancy firm for 
our governance structure. These key elements that make up our strategy have 
strong roots in sound evidence and extensive consultation. 
 

7.3 In the second phase of creation (before the February 2018 Joint Committee 
meeting), we aim to consult further with key stakeholders, Members, residents, 
and external partners.  
 

8 LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 
 

8.1 Legal services has reviewed this report in the light of the Public Contract 
Regulations 2015 (the ‘Regulations’) and the Shared Digital Joint Committee’s 
Terms of Reference (the ‘TORs’) which must be complied with. 
 

8.2 The TOR (Term #2) states that the Joint Committee shall approve the strategic 
service plan. It is noted that no firm Shared Digital strategy has been decided on at 
this present time. Legal Services should be consulted on the final strategy before it 
is submitted to the Joint Committee for approval. 
 

8.3 The Council must take into account in coming to any decision its equality duties.  
In summary these legal obligations require the Council, when exercising its 
functions, to have ‘due regard’ to the need to 1. Eliminate discrimination, 
harassment and victimisation and other conduct prohibited under the Act; 2 to 
advance equality of opportunity between people who share a relevant protected 
characteristic and those who do not; 3. Foster good relations between people who 
share a relevant protected characteristic and those who do not (which involves 
tackling prejudice and promoting understanding).  Under the Duty the relevant 
protected characteristics are: Age, Disability, Gender reassignment, Pregnancy 
and maternity, Race, Religion, Sex, Sexual orientation. In respect of the first aim 
only i.e. reducing discrimination, etc. the protected characteristic of marriage and 
civil partnership is also relevant.  
 

8.4 The recommendations in this report have no impact on service provision; 
therefore, an EIA is not required.  
 

9 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS  
(finance comments of the Executive Director Corporate Services) 
 

9.1 Shared Digital is expected to deliver cumulative savings of £6m per annum across 
the three councils, to be shared equally between Camden, Haringey and Islington, 
through identification and promotion of cross-borough and cross-service saving 
opportunities 
 

Page 91
Page 91



Shared Digital Shared Digital Strategy – Reviewing the Draft v1.1 | 19 October 2017  Page 6 of 6 

 

 
   

 

9.2 A single strategy for Shared Digital will promote greater collaboration and 
integration within the service, and more broadly across the three councils, which 
should maximise opportunities to generate savings through efficient resource 
planning, joined up support and economies of scale.  
 

10 APPENDICES 
 

10.1 Appendix A – Camden Cabinet ICT Shared Service Programme 
 

10.2 Appendix B – Gartner IT Strategy template 
 

10.3 Appendix C – Review of Opportunity for Haringey to join the Camden and Islington 
ICT Shared Service 
 

10.4 Appendix D – Draft Strategy 
 

10.5 Appendix E – Draft Strategy – Easy version 
 
 

REPORT ENDS 
 

Page 92
Page 92



LONDON BOROUGH OF CAMDEN WARDS ALL 

REPORT TITLE 
Camden, Haringey and Islington ICT Shared Service Programme (FIN/2016/09) 

REPORT OF  
Cabinet Member for Finance and Technology Policy 

FOR SUBMISSION TO 
Resources and Corporate Performance Scrutiny 
Committee  
Cabinet 

DATE 
5th April 2016 

6th April 2016 

SUMMARY OF REPORT 
In September 2015, Cabinet agreed to establish a shared ICT and Digital service 
between Camden and Islington.  This would create a high performing and 
innovative service across the two organisations. 

Since this decision, the London Borough of Haringey expressed an interest in 
joining the shared service.  The Society of Information Technology Management 
(SOCITM) has led an assessment of the impact of a three borough approach on 
the original proposals.  It has concluded that there is a clear alignment in the 
strategic direction of all three councils and the outcomes required from the 
respective ICT functions to deliver change and to support future financial 
strategies within each organisation. 

This report sets out the outline business case and seeks revision to the original 
proposals so that the shared service will function across Camden, Islington and 
now Haringey.  The proposed service will deliver high quality and responsive ICT 
services to residents of all three boroughs as well as to the three organisations.  
The service will seek to underpin the organisation’s transformative efforts to 
achieve the Camden Plan objectives and to deliver value for money services by 
‘getting it right first time’. 

Local Government Act 1972 – Access to Information 
No documents required to be listed were used in the writing of this report. 

Contact Officer 
Jon Rowney,  Deputy Director of Finance, telephone 020 7974 6960, email 
jon.rowney@camden.gov.uk  

WHAT DECISIONS ARE BEING ASKED FOR? 
The Resources and Corporate Performance Scrutiny Committee is asked to 
consider the report and refer any comments to the Cabinet. 

The Cabinet is asked to: 
a) Agree to establish a shared ICT service between Islington, Camden and

Haringey councils;
b) Agree that a joint committee be established within the London Boroughs of

Camden, Haringey and Islington to oversee the shared service with a
review of governance arrangements within twelve months of inception;

c) Note that the Leader, subject to the Cabinet agreeing the above, will in
consultation with the Cabinet Member for Finance and Technology, make

Appendix A

Page 93
Page 93

mailto:jon.rowney@camden.gov.uk


 

any further decisions required (and makes any appropriate delegations to 
officers) as to the terms of reference and operation of the Joint Committee 
and agreements between the Councils required to underpin the 
arrangements. 

 

Signed:  Mike O’Donnell, Director of Finance  
Date:  23 March 2016  

Page 94
Page 94



 

1. WHAT IS THIS REPORT ABOUT? 
 

1.1 In September 2015, Cabinet approved the establishment of a shared ICT and 
Digital service between Camden and Islington.  Since the decision in September 
2015, the London Borough of Haringey expressed an interest in joining the service.  
As part of the consideration, the Society of Information Technology Management 
(SOCITM) was commissioned to assess the impact of Haringey joining the Camden 
and Islington shared service.   
 

1.2 The SOCITM review found a clear alignment in the strategic direction of all councils 
regarding the outcomes required from the respective ICT functions to deliver 
change and support future savings plans within their organisations. 
 

1.3 This report sets out a revised strategy and timetable for the shared service and 
seeks approval for officers of Camden to work with officers from Haringey and 
Islington to deliver this.  These proposals will create one integrated operating ICT 
and digital service with an existing combined net revenue budget of c.£43m and 
405 Full Time Equivalents (FTEs).   Once fully operational, these proposals will 
deliver minimum revenue savings of £6m per annum with one-off, project 
investment costs of £7.5m.  This report does not impact on the anticipated financial 
savings or request any further investment from that approved as part of the initial 
Cabinet decision in September 2015.   
 

2. WHY IS THIS REPORT NECESSARY? 
 
2.1 Following Cabinet approval in September, officers have been taking forward a 

programme of work, alongside officers from Islington, to create a shared ICT and 
Digital service.  There has been a strong desire to create an entity that feels 
different to a traditional local government organisation and one that wants to be a 
leading voice and innovator in terms of digital in local government. This is a natural 
evolution in our digital journey and will provide new capability (in terms of skills and 
scale), greater buying power, enhance our ability to innovate and continue to lead 
local government in our technology delivery.  Ultimately, this delivers better benefits 
for businesses and citizens in the achievement of the Camden Plan objectives.   

 
2.2 In shaping this work, there have been three overarching objectives, namely:   

 Consolidating the expertise and best practice from both ICT services into one 
integrated and high-performing service,  

 Creating a public service structure that is resilient and is able to better withstand 
market conditions from both local government and beyond, and 

 Delivering value for money and cashable financial savings.   
 
2.3 The more detailed design work has also been guided by a set of seven core 

principles and these are included in Appendix A.  At their core, these principles 
stress the need to accelerate public service innovation while recognising the 
broader financial climate in which the councils are operating.  Haringey’s 
expression of interest provides an opportunity to consider whether the expansion of 
the shared service offers can further maximise the benefits of a shared service 

Page 95
Page 95



 

arrangement.  As set out in further detail below, it is felt that all three councils share 
a common expectation that ICT and digital functions will be key enablers for 
transformational change across their respective organisations. 

 
3. OPTIONS 
 
3.1 Officers have carefully assessed the underlying business case for expanding the 

shared service to a three borough approach.  Consideration has been given as to 
whether Camden and Islington should continue as planned and to re-assess 
Haringey’s involvement at a later date or whether Haringey should join the shared 
service now.  For the following reasons, it is felt that there is a sufficient level of 
benefit to recommend the three borough approach, specifically:  

 A three borough approach will create a deeper resource pool, allowing greater 
levels of service resilience, 

 This approach would provide an opportunity to consolidate greater levels of 
knowledge and expertise, allowing an acceleration of public service innovation, 

 The potential to deliver greater cashable savings from an increase in 
expenditure in scope, and 

 The move to a shared service will create a period of significant change and 
transition.  It is preferable that this happens once rather than repeatedly.   

 
3.2 The report explains that while one form of shared service is being put forward for 

consideration, other options are available.  Should Cabinet decide that a shared 
service should not go ahead either in the form recommended or at all, Camden will 
need to continue to deliver its ICT and Digital services on its current standalone 
basis.   

 
4. WHAT ARE THE REASONS FOR THE RECOMMENDED DECISIONS? 
 
4.1 In August 2015, Haringey made a decision to explore options to join the shared 

service. SOCITM was appointed to develop a possible business case for a three 
borough approach. In summary, SOCITM concluded that:  

 A shared ICT and digital service offers an opportunity to both accelerate 
innovative delivery and deliver financial savings by providing a platform for 
collaboration and sharing investments as set out in the digital strategies across 
the three councils.   Opportunities identified included Customer Access, 
workforce collaboration and mobile working. 

 There was potential to create an enriched and rewarding working environment. 
The creation of a shared service would provide staff with the opportunity to work 
in an integrated way across three large organisations. This would create a 
greater range of career and work development opportunities. It would also open 
up the potential, in the medium term, for local apprenticeships and links to 
educational establishments. It is hoped that this strategy would help to manage 
the current risks around recruitment and retention and ensure that the 
organisations benefit from a wider and deeper talent pool of staff.  

 There were key service applications across all three councils that offered the 
opportunity to align applications support, improve supplier management and 
potentially consolidate applications in future.  This will drive both further savings 

Page 96
Page 96



 

and service improvements.  With a three council approach, there will be more 
opportunities to align key applications.  In some areas such as planning and 
building control, all three councils use the same application and in other 
instances, two of the councils use the same applications.  The opportunity to 
take advantage of this commonality is greater with three councils involved.  

 All three councils have a need to address how they store, process and distribute 
their electronic data in the future.  Across the three councils, there are currently 
six data centre sites.  There is a clear case for rationalisation and consolidation. 
The potential to share datacentre provision is a significant opportunity, which 
could save money, improve resilience and provide a platform to widen the 
partnership further or provide services to other public sector bodies.  

 The Target Operating Model (section 5) initially proposed to operate across 
Camden and Islington could be retained and scaled up to work across three 
councils.  

 

4.2 In addition to the opportunities cited above, the review also identified a series of 
benefits that could be delivered in the short to medium term.  These include: 

 Review of ICT Supplier and Contracts: An initial review of ICT contracts across 
the organisations is underway.  In order to drive down the costs, this process is 
considering opportunities to consolidate, renegotiate, procure jointly and share 
the same contract rates.  

 Data Centre Strategy and Consolidation: As discussed previously, a more 
strategic approach to data centre provision could save money, improve 
resilience and provide a platform to widen the partnership further or provide 
services to other public sector bodies.  

 Building the ICT Framework, Network and Architecture: As discussed above, 
the three councils share a number of common applications.  This provides 
scope for consolidation and cost savings.  In addition, there is an opportunity to 
deliver many of the practical benefits of the shared service for ICT staff and 
users through the integration of existing network architecture. 

 

Financial implications 
Financial Savings 
 
4.3 As part of their review, SOCITM updated their high-level financial analysis.  

Between Camden and Islington, there is currently a combined net revenue budget 
of £29m with 313 Full Time Equivalents working (FTE) across both councils.  A 
three borough approach, including Haringey, would bring in additional revenue 
budget of £14m and a further 92 FTEs into scope.  Based upon the proposed target 
operating model (section 5), these proposals would be expected to deliver a 
minimum annual revenue saving of £6 million per annum once fully operational.  On 
this basis, a three borough approach would not impact on the financial savings 
anticipated by either Camden or Islington from the original proposals. 
 

4.4 As before, the majority of these savings will come from a rationalisation of the 
workforce and a reduction in FTE numbers.  It is estimated that this could 
potentially be up to 66FTEs, compared to 50FTEs previously forecast.  The 
rationale for this reduction remains the same – i.e. an integrated operating model 

Page 97
Page 97



 

requires fewer management and supervisory posts.  It is expected that there would 
be a further reduction in the workforce from process efficiencies delivered as part of 
integrated networks, datacentres and common applications. 
 

4.5 In addition to the workforce savings, the financial model assumes greater financial 
savings through the removal of duplicated spend and the integration of contract and 
software licensing.  Based on experience from other ICT shared services, it would 
not be unreasonable to expect savings of close to 20% over time.  
 

4.6 On the basis that these arrangements will deliver £6m revenue savings across all 
three councils, consideration has been given to how this arrangement could work.  
There appears to be a range of options to apportion the financial benefits, including:  

 Understanding where individual savings fall and allocating them accordingly, 

 Distributing the savings according to the existing expenditure baselines of all 
three Councils, or 

 Sharing the savings on an equal basis. 
 

4.7 The starting assumption within the original agreement between Camden and 
Islington was that financial savings should be shared on an equal basis – i.e. £2 
million per borough.  At the time, it was agreed that any variation to this approach 
would be subject to agreement by both Directors of Finance – the Executive 
Director Corporate Services in Camden – and subject to due diligence and a more 
detailed assessment of each borough’s starting level of investment and anticipated 
financial benefit.  In bringing Haringey into the arrangement, it is proposed that this 
working assumption is maintained.  In light of this, it would be expected that the 
overall level of savings (£6 million) would again be shared on an equal basis 
between partners (i.e. £2 million per borough), but again subject to the due 
diligence set out above. 

Financial Investment 
 
4.8 To implement these arrangements, upfront investment of £7.5 million is required.  

The anticipated costs include: 

 Project support to aid the start-up and transition to the shared service, including 
organisational development, process redesign and governance arrangements, 
programme management support and contract rationalisation support, 
procurement support and legal costs,  

 Restructuring costs: This would include job design, job evaluation, assimilation, 
selection, recruitment costs and associated redundancy costs. 

 Building a common base (e.g. platform / infrastructure costs) to bring the three 
Councils to a common standard and approach.  

 

4.9 In line with the approach to financial savings, it was also anticipated that the agreed 
project investment and one-off costs would be shared on an equal basis.  Based on 
this, Camden’s share of the investment costs is approximately £2.5m.  This is in line 
with the level of investment approved as part of the original proposals so no further 
resources are requested as part of the revised three borough approach.  The 
Council has set aside resources within the cost of change reserve to fund the 

Page 98
Page 98



 

necessary project delivery and redundancy costs.  Any associated ICT investment 
costs will be met through existing core ICT capital funding.    
 

4.10 At the time of the original proposals, it was also expected that any variation to this 
approach would be subject to agreement by the Directors of Finance – the 
Executive Director Corporate Services in Camden – as individual issues are raised.  
For example, there may well be occasions when each council will wish to invest in a 
local priority.  Equally, there may well be times when one council is slightly more 
advanced than the others in a certain area of the business and in order to progress 
a joint undertaking, that council will require further investment.  In these instances, it 
would be expected that the costs of any focused investment would fall directly on 
the council in question.  In bringing Haringey into the arrangement, it is proposed 
that this working assumption is maintained.  As such, Haringey would be expected 
to match the upfront investment committed by both Camden and Islington – i.e. 
£2.5 million. 
 

4.11 A summary of the financial position is outlined below.  

Summary Total 
£000s 

Annual Savings  

Staff Savings 3,400 

Non staff savings 2,600 

Total Annual Savings 6,000 

Investments and One-Off Costs  

Project Team and Support 3,000 

Capital Investment 2,500 

Severance Pay 2,000 

Total Investment and One-off Costs 7,500 

           

5. WHAT ARE THE KEY IMPACTS / RISKS? HOW WILL THEY BE ADDRESSED? 
 
           Target operating model 
5.1 The ability to fully deliver the benefits cited above will require a transformation of 

existing ICT staffing structures.  The original proposals aimed to ensure that current 
activities were aggregated as much as possible into a range of cross-cutting 
portfolios to deliver cost savings and to facilitate greater synergies, joint investment, 
knowledge sharing and common approaches.   

 
5.2 The proposed Target Operating Model (Appendix B) was originally put forward as 

an integrated model capable of working across the two organisations and would be 
organised into four functional areas, specifically:   

Page 99
Page 99



 

 The Digital Change function will ensure that any digital developments are aligned 
with the strategic priorities of both Councils at both a departmental and corporate 
level.  

 An Applications Support team will have responsibility to support corporate and 
departmental systems.  

 The Common Infrastructure function will lead on the integration and consolidation 
of underlying infrastructure.   

 The Strategy and Architecture function will have responsibility for the overall 
strategic direction and operational performance of the service. 

 
5.3 In light of Haringey’s interest, SOCITM reviewed this operating model and explored 

its suitability to work across three councils.  The review recommended that the high 
level target operating model still represented the right strategic approach and that 
work continue to develop thinking around the four functional areas (described 
above).  In short, the inclusion of Haringey in the shared service is not expected to 
significantly alter the proposed operating model beyond the obvious increase in 
staffing numbers on account of needing to support an additional organisation.   

 
Staffing Implications 

5.4 In developing the shared service – whether that is a two or three borough approach 
– a strong driver has been to create an ICT and digital public service that is 
innovative, dynamic and resilient.  By their nature, ICT and digital services operate 
in a competitive employment market with both public and private employers.  As 
such, a three borough approach does not alter the overall strategic direction or 
approach.  To ensure its long term success, the service will need to have a strong 
brand and a range of employment policies that are sufficiently attractive to recruit 
and retain high calibre staff.   

 
5.5 Under the three borough model, it remains the case that there will be a single post 

to lead and manage the shared service.  The post holder will have a direct line 
manager with the expectation that the head of the service would maintain links with 
the three directors of finance.  In line with the governance arrangements below, the 
post holder would also be accountable to the management board and joint 
committee more broadly for the operational performance of the service.  It is 
planned that the recruitment process to fill this role will include both senior officer 
and member involvement.  If these proposals are approved by the three councils, 
the recruitment process would be expected to start in April. 

 
5.6 It remains the case that the shared service will have a ‘Lead Employer’ and that this 

will be Camden.  Under the terms of the lead employer status, it would be the 
responsibility of Camden to provide a range of required support and advice services 
such as finance, procurement and HR.  There would be an associated cost for this 
which will be captured within the budget of the joint service and funded by all three 
councils.  As before, systems and processes will be put in place to provide 
reassurance to each council that the decisions are being taken within the 
appropriate legal and statutory framework.    

 

Page 100
Page 100



 

5.7 As with the initial proposals, existing staff will not be transferred to another 
employer at the outset of the shared service, but they will, as necessary, provide 
services to the three councils under a S113 agreement.  This agreement will allow 
staff to provide services and work across all organisations and will be subject to 
staff consultation.  However, the integrated nature of the proposed operating model, 
combined with the longer term option to operate under a different governance 
framework, means that there is an ambition to move towards a harmonisation of 
employment terms and conditions over the next twelve months.  In line with the 
employment practices of each council, this will be subject to a thorough staff 
engagement process.  Any new posts will be recruited on Camden’s terms and 
conditions. 

Governance Framework 
 
Political Oversight 
 
5.8 In September 2015, it was agreed that a joint committee would be established to 

provide democratic oversight of the shared service.  At the time, there were 
discussions about the adoption of a wholly owned company model. However to 
enable benefits to be realised earlier, it was agreed that a joint committee would be 
set up with a longer term option to move towards a different model of governance.   

 
5.9 Under the current proposals, the shared service would operate under a joint 

committee structure.  The committee would consist of four members (two from each 
borough) and it would convene twice a year to provide democratic oversight, agree 
the overall strategy for the service and to receive 6 monthly progress reports on the 
performance of the service.  Every member appointed to the joint committee would 
need to be a member of their respective Executive or Cabinet. 

 

5.10 In its follow up work, the SOCITM review recommended that Haringey join under 
the joint committee arrangement.  SOCITM is clear that it does not favour one form 
of governance arrangement above another – each has its strengths and challenges.    
SOCITM’s recommendation reflected the current position for Camden and Islington 
and a pragmatic decision around speed to operation.   

 

5.11 As such, it is proposed that in the interim, there are no changes to the proposed 
arrangements – albeit that they would be expanded to reflect an additional partner 
and that the joint committee structure would operate from October 2016.  To ensure 
consistency across all partners, the joint committee would need to be expanded to 
have six members, including two from Haringey.  It is critical that governance 
arrangements are light touch and as streamlined as possible.   

 

5.12 It is proposed that the Leader (who may exercise any Cabinet functions) subject to 
the agreement to the recommendations in this report to the overall strategy of the 
expansion of the joint service and the delegation to a Joint Committee of the IT 
functions of the Council, and in consultation with the Cabinet Member for Finance 
and Technology makes any further decisions required (and makes any appropriate 

Page 101
Page 101



 

delegations to officers) as to the terms or reference and operation of the Joint 
Committee. 

 

5.13 It remains the case that the long term strategic option for the shared service is to 
operate under a public service company model.  Any model would clearly need to 
ensure that the service continues to operate within an overall strategic framework 
that is determined by all three organisations and in line with their shared values and 
ethos.  There are a number of different public services models that could be 
pursued such as Company Limited by Guarantee, a Company Limited by Shares, a 
mutual, social enterprise or community interest company.   

 

5.14 Further work is required to explore in more detail what public services model would 
be most suitable to achieve the strategic objectives of the shared service.  Once 
this work is completed, this will be considered by the ICT and Digital Shared 
Service joint committee before a recommendation is made to Cabinet.  This work 
will be completed and earmarked for decision within the twelve months of the 
inception of the Joint Committee. 

Senior Managerial Oversight 
 

5.15 In September 2015, it was agreed that a Management Board would be established 
to be responsible for the delivery of the overall service strategy and for managing 
overall operational and financial performance.  As previously agreed, the 
membership of this Board would include three senior officers from each council and 
the head of the service.  Representatives from each borough would include the 
respective director of finance – the Executive Director Corporate Services in 
Camden – and two senior service users.  As such, three senior officers from 
Haringey would also be expected to sit on the senior officer management board.   

6. WHAT ACTIONS WILL BE TAKEN AND WHEN FOLLOWING THE DECISION 
AND HOW WILL THEY BE MONITORED? 

 
6.1 It is fair to say that a three borough approach increases the level of opportunity, but 

also intensifies the level of challenge and risk.   Experience across London local 
government and beyond shows that the creation of a shared service is not without 
challenges and risk.  The project will continue to be subject to a robust project 
management process, overseen by the Directors of Finance – the Executive 
Director Corporate Services in Camden – from the three councils and managed by 
a project team, led by a dedicated project resource, and consisting of senior finance 
and ICT staff from each organisation.   

 
6.2  In its review, SOCITM identified a number of key risks.  This has been 

supplemented by thoughts from the current project team and they are being actively 
managed through a regular review of the project’s risk register.  These include: 
• Lack of common structure could add costs and cause operating and project 

management issues, 
• Lack of pooled budgets could prevent economies of scale and common 

approach, 

Page 102
Page 102



 

• Failure to address culture change could prevent a collaborative working 
relationship between IT and the business,  

• Loss of key staff during the transition and lack of buy in from key stakeholders in 
the three councils could mean that the shared service is not supported and 
potentially set up to fail. 

 
6.3 One of the principal risks identified concerns the need to ensure that both councils 

continue to receive a fully functioning ICT service while the transition is made to the 
target operating model.  In response to this concern, an additional senior 
management post will be earmarked from within existing resources.  The objective 
of this role will be to provide senior management support to the transition, 
minimising the impact of these changes on the three organisations and to provide 
additional management capacity alongside the head of the shared service at a time 
when there is expected to be significant levels of change.   
 

7. LINKS TO THE CAMDEN PLAN OBJECTIVES 
 
7.1 The proposed service will deliver high quality and responsive ICT services to 

Camden, Haringey and Islington residents as well as to the internal organisation.  
The service will seek to underpin the organisation’s transformative efforts to 
achieve the Camden Plan objectives and to deliver value for money services by 
‘getting it right first time’. 

  
8. CONSULTATION 
 
8.1 There has been no formal public consultation. A more formal organisational change 

process will follow for staff in all three councils as we move towards a shared 
service model.  

 
9. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS (Comments from the Borough Solicitor) 
 
9.1  The Local Government Act 2000 empowers the Secretary of State to make 

regulations enabling a Cabinet/ Executive of a local authority to arrange for the 
discharge of its functions by other means. The Local Authorities (Arrangement for 
the Discharge of Functions)(England) Regulations 2012/1019 apply. The 
regulations empower the Leader and Cabinet to make arrangements to discharge 
their functions with other local authorities via a Joint Committee created for that 
purpose. The Regulations confirm that when the arrangements are between three 
local authorities and relate to Executive/Cabinet functions (which the IT function in a 
council is) then the arrangements are to be between the three Executives/Cabinets. 
The appointment of the joint committee, number of members, and term of office and 
scope of the committee is to be fixed by the Cabinet/Executive. In addition the 
Cabinet/Executive (in agreement with Islington/Camden) agree whether for 
example the Joint Committee can create a sub-committee or delegate functions to 
an officer of one of the three Authorities. Every member to be appointed to the joint 
committee must be a member of their home Executive/Cabinet and the political 
balance rules do not apply. While Cabinet is being asked to agree the overall 
strategy and the creation of the Joint Committee, it is suggested that the Leader, in 

Page 103
Page 103



 

consultation with the Cabinet Member for Finance and Technology, make the 
detailed further decisions which will include: 

 To the terms of reference of the joint committee.  

 To appoint 2 members of the Executive/Cabinet to the Joint Committee to serve 
until the end of the municipal year. 

 The creation of an underpinning legal agreement between the three Councils. 
 
 
10. RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS (Comments from the Director of Finance)  
 
10.1 The comments of the Director of Finance are included within this report. 
 
 
APPENDICES 
Appendix A: Design Principles for a Responsive Shared Service 
Appendix B: Proposed Target Operating Model 
 
  

Page 104
Page 104



 

Appendix A: Design Principles for a Responsive Shared Service 
 
1. Partnership based on an integrated model of delivery that will ultimately save money 

and accelerate innovation. 
2. Responsive to customer need through partnership and alignment to corporate strategy 

and business driven approach to the allocation of resources. 
3. Embedded in and with service needs through a strong and effective business partnering 

model. 
4. Optimised through demand aggregation, integrated programme management and 

standardisation. 
5. Delivers economies of scale through shared infrastructure & applications support 

services. 
6. Provides resilience through shared knowledge and joint teams. 
7. Deliver transformation capabilities and accelerate innovation through specialist teams 

building on shared expertise from the two teams (e.g. mobile working, customer access 
development skills). 

 
 
Appendix B: Proposed Target Operating Model 
 

 
 

 

Digital Change

 Captures 

business 

priorities

 Identifies digital 

solutions to 

business 

problems

 Develops 

innovative new 

digital solutions

 Manages the 

delivery of new 

digital products 

and services

S
e
rv

ic
e
 M

a
n

a
g

e
m

e
n

t 
T
e
a
m

s

C
o

rp
o

ra
te

 T
ra

n
sf

o
rm

a
ti

o
n

 P
ro

g
ra

m
m

e
s 

Service

Improvements

Transformation

Priorities 

Programme 

Delivery 

Corporate and 

Service Systems

 Manages 

corporate and 

service systems

 Develops new 

and existing 

systems

Programme 

Assurance 

Architecture 

Principles

Resource 

Management

Architecture, 

Standards and 

Resources 

 Sets and 

monitors 

Corporate Digital 

Standards 

 Coordinates 

portfolio of 

digital projects 

 Commissions 

and manages 

external 

suppliers

 Coordinates 

resources and 

manages IT 

assets

Architecture 

Principles

Corporate 

Infrastructure

 Manages  IT 

hardware 

 Manages and IT 

networks and 

access

 Provides service 

desk support to 

users

Service

transition

Systems 

Availability

Infrastructure 

access

Hardware 

support

Systems 

Support

Page 105
Page 105



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 106
Page 106



Gartner IT Strategy Template. Dave Aron. © Gartner 2009 

Gartner IT Strategy Template 

Introduction 
This template presents suggested sections, content and format for a world-class IT 
strategy document. It is applicable to both private and public sector enterprises. 

Excepting this introduction and the reference section at the end, this document forms 
the structure for an IT strategy document, and is intended to be used as a template. 
The main sections of the strategy are grouped into three categories: Demand Strategy, 
Control Strategy and Supply Strategy. Each group has four parts. In addition, there is 
an Executive Summary at the beginning and a Risks and Issues section at the end. 

A concise IT strategy document is a key success factor and an indicator of a well-run 
IT organization. The IT strategy document should be clear, compelling, and useful for 
business executives, IT leaders and IT staff alike. It should summarize how the IT 
organization and IT services will contribute to the success of the enterprise, but be 
specific enough to drive IT decision making. Typically, an IT strategy document can 
be used for three to five years, with annual updates. 

An IT strategy document is one of the set of documents a well-run IT organization 
should maintain. Others include the IT strategic plan, the IT budget, the IT 
architecture and the procedures for all the key IT processes, such as help desk 
operations and risk management. Together with business strategy, financial planning 
and other functional strategies (such as production and marketing strategies), these 
form part of the overall enterprise strategic document set. 

It is very important to note the difference between the IT strategy and the IT strategic 
plan. The strategy sets direction, whereas the strategic plan outlines the specific 
initiatives and expenditures over the next few (typically two to three) years, in varying 
levels of detail. 

The strategy document should be a brief, high-level, business-oriented IT strategy, 
about 15 pages long, that refers to supporting detailed documents. Gartner’s 
experience is that an IT strategy document prepared in this way is more widely read, 
better understood and hence more influential with a range of stakeholders.  

Guiding principles for creating the document are: 
 Use business language wherever possible. Avoid overly technical terms, and

ensure that any specialist terms (IT acronyms, for example) are in a glossary at the 
end. 

 Be as brief as possible, referring the reader to more detailed documents (e.g., IT
budget, IT organization chart, IT architecture). 

 Avoid generic statements such as, “IT is a critical input to the business.” Focus on
what is specific to your enterprise. 

 Separate the IT strategy document from the more detailed IT strategic plan.

Appendix B

Page 107
Page 107



Gartner IT Strategy Template. Dave Aron. © Gartner 2009 

1. Executive Summary 
Recommended length: Half a page 
Purpose: A summary of the document, written for senior business executives.  
Contents: This section should capture the essence of the strategy, including the “trail 
of evidence” from IT strategy to business value. 
 

2. Demand 

2.1 Business Context 
Recommended length: Half a page 
Purpose: A summary of key facts about the area(s) of the business included in the 
scope of this IT strategy, to provide context and to highlight challenges and 
opportunities the business faces. 
Contents: 
(i) The value proposition (what value we provide to which customers and markets). 
(ii) Our position in the value chain/business ecosystem. 
(iii) Our business model. 
(iv) The competitive environment (if one exists). 
(v) External macro-level drivers, such as regulatory, macroeconomic and political 
environments. This section (along with the next one) should reference relevant 
enterprise and business unit strategy documents. 
 

2.2 Business Success 
Recommended length: Half a page 
Purpose: A clear expression of the strategic posture of the business: why customers 
will buy from us and/or why we will win. In a public sector context, this is about why 
we will succeed in fulfilling and/or growing our mission. 
Contents: This section should clarify what will make the business win. Ideally, it will 
identify no more than one or two aspects of our business. A powerful framework that 
can be used here is the value disciplines of Treacy and Wiersema (see references), 
which state that successful businesses choose to be excellent at one of three things—
customer intimacy, operational excellence or product leadership—and choose to be 
good enough at the other two. This section must answer the question, “Why will we 
win?” and may include the business’s mission, vision, goals and/or business 
principles. A critical part of the strategy, it should define the focus of the business, 
which should be used to drive trade-offs in IT. A useful framing question here is, 
“What won’t we do?” Ensure that this section is in plain English, understandable to 
the layman. 
 

2.3 Business Capabilities 
Recommended length: Half a page 
Purpose: A description of the business capabilities that will be needed to support the 
strategic posture described in the previous section. 

Page 108
Page 108



Gartner IT Strategy Template. Dave Aron. © Gartner 2009 

Contents: This section should clarify business capabilities required for the business 
to win, and then outline the gaps between existing and needed capabilities. Examples 
include the ability to collaborate within the enterprise, the ability to conduct mergers 
and acquisitions, product innovation capabilities and the transparency of performance 
metrics. This should list capabilities at a strategic level; typically there should be no 
more than five. 
 

2.4 IT Contribution to Business Success 
Recommended length: Half a page 
Purpose: An explanation of how IT capabilities and plans will contribute to business 
success. This is the IT equivalent of the enterprise mission and vision statements. 
Contents: This section specifically connects IT activities to business success and 
business capabilities, as described in the previous sections. For example: “By making 
business process costs in customer service more variable, IT will reduce the impact of 
demand volatility.” This section should be pulled out and used in very high-level 
presentations (e.g., to the board of directors). It represents the “elevator pitch” as to 
how IT adds value to the business. 

 

3. Control 

3.1 IT Principles 
Recommended length: Half a page 
Purpose: A high-level set of five to 10 principles that guide IT decision making and 
reflect the IT contribution. IT principles guide day-to-day IT decision making and IT 
governance. It is preferable to present the IT principles alongside a set of business 
principles, if available. 
Contents: Typical topics covered by the IT principles include: where agility is 
needed, how the IT organization will be structured, how to approach risk, how to 
approach sourcing and what kind of staff/skills are key. An example of a principle 
concerning agility would be: “We will prepare IT assets and services that can rapidly 
scale to support acquisitions.” An organizational structure example would be: “We 
will centralize every asset and process identified as a business commodity.” The test 
for inclusion in this section is, will the principle guide decisions that contribute to 
business success in my enterprise, or could it apply to any enterprise? A good 
principle satisfies three criteria: 
(i) Clearly connected to business success. 
(ii) Specific to your enterprise. It is important to avoid truisms that apply to all IT 
organizations (e.g., “We will provide high-quality, reliable IT services.”). 
(iii) Detailed enough to drive decisions, behaviors and trade-offs. 
 

Page 109
Page 109



Gartner IT Strategy Template. Dave Aron. © Gartner 2009 

3.2 IT Governance 
Recommended length: One page 
Purpose: An explanation of how IT decisions will be made. 
Contents: For each type of IT-related decision, this section explains who will have 
input, who will make the decision, and what tools and mechanisms will be used in 
making, communicating and enforcing the decision. Typical types of decision include: 
IT principles, investment, infrastructure, architecture, security and risk, projects, 
programs and benefits. The governance matrix developed by MIT and Gartner is a 
concise way to outline governance (see references). 
 
 

3.3 IT Financial Management 
Recommended length: One page 
Purpose: An explanation of sources, uses and control of funds for IT. 
Contents: This section explains whether the IT organization is operating as a cost 
center, profit center or investment center. It also explains how funds will be supplied 
to IT—e.g., whether discretionary IT project funds will be separate from overall 
business project funds—and whether chargeback will be used for recovering IT costs, 
and if so what type. This section typically refers to detailed IT budget and enterprise 
financial strategy documents. 

3.4 IT Metrics 
Recommended length: One page 
Purpose: A description of how the success of the IT organization will be measured. 
Contents: This section summarizes the metrics used to measure the IT organization’s 
performance. Ideally, the number of high-level IT metrics will be small (four or five) 
and will map directly to a similarly small number of business success metrics. The IT 
metrics may then expand into a larger list. The business success metrics should be 
those recognized by senior business leadership, if they exist. Ideally, both business 
and IT metrics will be a mix of lead and lag indicators. The focus of this section 
should be on how the metrics link to business success, rather than on specific targets 
for the metrics over time. (The targets should be part of the IT strategic plan.) 
 

 

4. Supply 

4.1 IT Services and Processes 
Recommended length: One page 
Purpose: An explanation of the scope of, and the approach to, IT services. 
Contents: 

Page 110
Page 110



Gartner IT Strategy Template. Dave Aron. © Gartner 2009 

(i) A list of services provided. This should be a relatively small high-level list of up to 
15 items. Similar services should be grouped together in a way meaningful to a senior 
business person. Focus on any nonstandard choices of services included/excluded that 
differ from the normal scope of an IT organization—for example, inclusion of 
business process design/change services, information management services or 
services that form part of the end-customer product (as opposed to services for 
employees only).  
(ii) A summary of the approach to services and processes (e.g., the use of standards 
such as ITO 20000 and ITIL). 
 

4.2 Enterprise Architecture 
Recommended length: Two pages 
Purpose: A clarification of how business processes, IT assets and services are 
designed to support current and future business models. 
Contents: This section presents a high-level overview of the as-is and to-be enterprise 
architecture, as well as the benefits of moving from as-is to to-be. It should include 
business process, information, application and infrastructure layers. In addition, it 
should explain the approach to architecture and whether any architecture standards are 
used (e.g., Zachman, TOGAF, FEAF). Details such as the list of applications in the 
portfolio, and components of the infrastructure, should be left to appendices or 
separate documents. 
 

4.3 People 
Recommended length: One page 
Purpose: A summary of the key human capital management aspects of the IT 
strategy. 
Contents: This section summarizes the as-is and to-be human capital management 
picture, including current and needed IT organizational structure (org chart), and 
current and needed skills inventories. 
 

4.4 Sourcing 
Recommended length: One page 
Purpose: A summary of the approach to sourcing and any important relationships. 
Contents: This section explains the approach to sourcing, along with the rationale. 
This may be expressed as a set of sourcing principles. In addition, any important 
relationships (e.g., a long-term contract with a provider of support services) should be 
highlighted, with relevant details such as the relationship’s scope and duration. 
 
 

Page 111
Page 111



Gartner IT Strategy Template. Dave Aron. © Gartner 2009 

5. Risks and Issues 
Recommended length: Half a page 
Purpose: An outline of the major risks and issues associated with the IT strategy, 
with approaches for mitigating them. 
Contents: This section, similar to the risks section of annual reports and business 
plans, should focus on the most material high-level categories of risk and not be a 
laundry list of hundreds of detailed risks. For example, an IT strategy heavily 
dependent on external partners is a high-level category of risk, and the mitigation 
might be to ensure that partners use standard methodologies that are well documented. 
Ideally, there should be less than 10 risks covered here. If there are more, shorten the 
list by combining several related issues into one, and then choose only the highest-
impact ones. 
 

6. Appendices 
Recommended length: Variable 
Purpose: A collection of detailed facts and figures, not easily available from other 
documents, that supports statements made in the main document. 
Contents: This section typically includes a glossary and further details on subjects 
covered in the previous sections, as well as references to other documents. 
 

Page 112
Page 112



Gartner IT Strategy Template. Dave Aron. © Gartner 2009 

References 
This section is for reference rather than part of the strategy document. Some of these 
references are mentioned above; others are useful for creating IT strategies. 

Gartner EXP Reports 
Aron, D., “IT Strategy: A CIO Success Kit,” G00166022, Gartner EXP report, March 
2009 
 
Broadbent, M. and Weill, P., “Effective IT Governance. By Design,” G-11-2709, 
Gartner EXP Premier report, January 2003 
 
Rowsell-Jones, A. and Aron, D., “Completing the IT Strategy,” G00124252, Gartner 
EXP CIO Signature report, October 2004 

Gartner Core Research 
Dallas, S, “The Role of IT Principles in IT Governance,” G00130243, February 2006 
 
Mack, R., “Defining and Communicating Real IT Strategies,” COM-21-8671, 26 
February 2004 
 
Mack, R., “Real IT Strategies: Steps 1 to 4— Laying a Foundation,” R-21-4074, 17 
December 2003 
 
Mack, R., “Real IT Strategies: Steps 5 to 8— Creating the Strategy,” R-21-4950, 17 
December 2003 
 
Mack, R. and Frey, N., “Six Building Blocks for Creating Real IT Strategies,” R-17-
3607, 11 December 2002 
 
Roberts, J. and Bittinger, S., “A Primer for IT Strategic Plans,” G00144281, 13 
December 2006 

Books 
Mintzberg, H., Ahlstrand, B. and Lampel, J., Strategy Safari: A Guided Tour Through 
the Wilds of Strategic Management, Harlow, U.K.: FT Prentice Hall, 2001 
 
Porter, M., Competitive Advantage: Creating and Sustaining Superior Performance, 
New York, NY: The Free Press, 1998 
 
Treacy, M. and Wiersema, F., The Discipline of Market Leaders: Choose Your 
Customers, Narrow Your Focus, Dominate Your Market, New York, NY: Perseus 
Books Group, 1997 
 
Weill, P. and Ross, J., IT Governance: How Top Performers Manage IT Decision 
Rights for Superior Results, Boston, MA: Harvard Business School Press, 2004 

Page 113
Page 113



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 114
Page 114



Sunderland and Durham ICT Joint Venture

Draft Summary of ICT Shared Service 
Business Case Analysis 

November 2015

Tony Summers and Mark Hardaway

Review of Opportunity for Haringey to join the 
Camden and Islington ICT Shared Service

Appendix C

P
age 115

P
age 115



Summary Recommendations

Recommendations:
– That Haringey should join the shared digital service with Camden and 

Islington Councils to deliver shared priorities, save money and enable 
transformation

– That the Council becomes  member of the Joint Committee being 
established by Camden and Islington for the management of the Shared 
Service

– That Haringey should seek to join the ICT Shared Service as early as 
possible in order to be in a position to shape the service to meet its 
needs, as well as those of Camden and Islington, and to ensure that 
current IT staff have access to opportunities in the new service as it takes 
shape.  

– The change must be underpinned by structural changes in IT and by 
culture change in the 3 IT teams

This recommendation is based on
– Engagement with the senior stakeholders in Haringey to assess appetite and potential blockers
– Engagement with the IT / Digital Leadership Team
– A review of the revenue spend in the Council and comparison with the spend profiles for Camden and 

Islington
– A review of the technology and architecture of the Council and the degree of alignment with Camden 

and Islington
– A review of key documents and previous IT reviews

P
age 116

P
age 116



Summary Conclusions
We recommend that the Council join the shared digital service 
being created by Camden and Islington to deliver shared 
priorities for residents & businesses.
The Challenge:
• Together the 3 Councils have to deliver estimated budget cuts of over £250million  to 

achieve by 2018/19 at a time when expectations  are rising (.e.g. through easy to use 
consumer technology) and socio‐economic pressures are mounting (e.g. people are 
living longer)

• The use of new digital solutions to service delivery will continue to be a core approach 
to delivering services in  more cost effective way. Increasing use of the web rather than 
more expensive alternative (e.g. by making it simple and easy to transaction on line) , 
improving productivity (e.g. through mobile working)  and putting resources where 
they are most needed through prioritisation and targeting of scarce resources (e.g. 
through business intelligence) will be key elements in digital service transformation.

The Opportunity :
• Saving money across the 3 Councils by lowering IT costs through workforce efficiencies,  

economies of purchasing scale , rationalisation of IT systems, joint investment and 
knowledge sharing as opposed to duplication of effort

• There is significant commonality in Council priorities and objectives  that are critical to 
delivering synergies and sharing.

• This commonality makes it possible  to deliver shared Council priorities  by accelerating, 
scaling and collaboratively investing in digital technologies that are already delivering 
benefits in each Borough 

• These opportunities include improving customer access (e.g. the web), enabling staff to 
in a more flexible and agile way (e.g. through enabling mobile working), joining up  
services  (e.g. a single view of the customer) to deliver multi disciplinary teams / cross 
sector working as well as freeing up  resources & targeting them effectively  (e.g. 
through use of analytics and business intelligence )

The Risks
• Experience in other shared services indicates that it is critical to centralise digital 

services, people and budgets. Alternatives are less effective (e.g. critical friends review)
• That governance is too bureaucratic and slows the pace of change
• That existing attitudes and behaviours do not change to support the principle of a 

shared approach but continue to reinforce fragmentation and silo based approaches

Financial  Savings and Implementation Costs:

Summary
Camden & 
Islington Haringey Total

£K £K £K

Total Annual Savings 4,000 1,365 5,365

Total Investment Cost 4,917 1,918 6,835

End State FTE Reduction 50 16 66

Annual Savings  Detail
£K £K £K

Staff Savings (using service average £/FTE) 2,457 967 3,424
Non Staff Savings 1,543 398 1,941
Total Annual Savings 4,000 1,365 5,365

Investments and One-Off Costs
£K £K £K

Design, build and implementation cost
Project Team Costs 1,900 560 2,460
Capital Investment Required 1,600 800 2,400
Severance Pay 1,417 558 1,975

Total Project Investment and One-off Costs 4,917 1,918 6,835

P
age 117

P
age 117



Review Findings ‐ Context
Organisational context
• There is a strong appetite for the proposal for Haringey to join the Camden/ Islington among the 

Corporate Leadership and Members, where the benefits of doing so are clear and attainable 
• There is little apparent resistance to the idea of Haringey joining the Camden/Islington Shared Service 

among the current senior user community
• There are some frustration among the user community with the current engagement by IT Services with the wider 

service organisation and its responsiveness to service demands.

State of Current IT Service 
• The management of the IT infrastructure is generally sound and individuals in the ITS team are working to 

deliver an effective operational service
• However, there is very limited programme delivery and transformational capacity in the current ITS team
• The team do not appear to be working within an agreed strategic technology framework
• This is despite the fact that Haringey has a fairly comprehensive strategy and a documented roadmap for 

its infrastructure and Operating System level technology 
• The strategy, however, is fairly departmentally focused and suffers from a lack of insight into 

information management. 
• The infrastructure roadmap is very comprehensive but is not visionary in nature; it is very 

technology focused and is structured in technology silos.
• Therefore it is more focused on maintaining and enhancing existing capability than looking for 

innovative technology driven change based on the business needs.
• Haringey is currently challenged by some significant information management issues as evidenced by the 

costs currently expended in areas to do with data matching and cleansing
• Haringey would benefit significantly from a strong Information Governance Board 

P
age 118

P
age 118



Key Findings – Finances and Staffing
Comparison of Spend and Staffing Numbers with Camden and Islington
• Despite similar overall spend profiles for the service, Haringey employees significantly fewer staff in 

ITS:

• Some Reasons:
– IT Services to Schools included in IT Services in both Camden and Islington but not a service 

provided by Haringey
– Some services are delivered through external managed services in Haringey but are managed 

by in‐house teams in Camden and Islington (e.g. Network Services)
– Transformation resources for some corporate programmes are included in IT in Camden but 

tend to be in programmes outside of IT in Islington and Haringey

Current Staff, Non‐Staff and Other Costs of Service:

Staff 
Costs

Non-Staff 
Costs

External 
Income

Non-Cash 
(Capital 
Financing
)

Total

(£'000) (£'000) (£'000) (£'000) (£'000)

Camden 8,555 4,681 -1,292 1,899 13,843

Islington 6,747 6,003 -96 2,530 15,185

sub-total 15,302 10,684 -1,388 4,429 29,028

Haringey 5,334 6,383 0 2,035 13,752

Total 22,049 23,071 -1,483 6,960 50,597

Current FTE for TOM services in scope:
Islington Camden Haringey Total

Strategic 
Leadership 6.0 6.0 8.0 20.0

Transformation 17.5 44.8 13.0 75.3

Customer Focused 
IT/ ICT Operational 96.7 110.2 58.0 264.8

Architecture, 
Resource Planning, 
Policy

17.9 14.0 12.7 44.6

Total 138.1 175.0 91.7 404.7

P
age 119

P
age 119



Review Findings – Opportunities

Opportunities 
• We have found significant commonality in corporate transformation objectives that offer the 

opportunity to save money and accelerate delivery by doing things together and sharing 
investments as set out in the Digital Strategies across the 3 Councils. These opportunities include:‐

– Customer Access 
– Workforce collaboration and mobile working 
– Health & social care Integration

• We have identified significant commonality in the use of key service applications that offers 
opportunity to align applications support, improve supplier management and potentially 
consolidate applications in future to drive further savings and service improvements. e.g.:

– The same system (Northgate M3) is used across all 3 councils for buildings control, planning and land 
charges;

– Haringey uses the Impulse and Mosaic systems for Adults and Children’s Social Care – the same as Camden;
– Haringey and Islington both use Northgate’s iWorld for Revenues and Benefits

• Like Camden and Islington, Haringey has a need to review its future datacentre provision due to 
the planned closure of Technopark in 2017. This offers a significant opportunity to take an 
integrated approach across the 3 Councils and develop a consolidated datacentre infrastructure 
that will save money, improve resilience  and provide a platform to widen the partnership further or 
provide services to other public sector bodies. 

P
age 120

P
age 120



Challenges and Risks
There are significant differences and challenges ahead for the delivery an integrated shared ICT service 
across the 3 boroughs:

• The Councils currently have different structural approaches to the management of IT/Digital 
Services which will need to be aligned to achieve the full benefits of a shared services

– There is a fully centralised structure with business partner model in Camden with a strong 
transformation focus

– There is a decentralised approach to management of main service systems in Islington
– There is a centralised, but operational focused IT service in Haringey with little 

transformational capacity

• There are cultural differences between the three Councils’ IT Services that will need to be aligned. 
We recommend:‐
• The implementation of a common set of guiding principles to support the delivering of digital across 

the services
• A light touch governance based around the proposed new Joint Committee
• A recognition that there will be some nuances in the model to cater for different approaches in the 3 

Councils (e.g. information governance)

• Haringey’s use of SAP and the length of the current support agreement may limit the 
potential for integration savings around the management of Finance, HR and Procurement 
systems in the short to medium term   

P
age 121

P
age 121



Potential Early wins

• Review the business case and appetite to accelerate the 
implementation of digital platforms that are being successfully 
used in one Borough but not yet available in the other – to 
maximise investment and accelerate delivery in common res of 
transformation

• Undertake an early review of the opportunities for an integrated 
datacentre infrastructure to underpin the new shared service, 
save money and provide a platform for service provision to others.

• Agree a joint approach to the management of common 
application suppliers and align procurement timetables, where 
appropriate, to maximise spending power

• Take a joint approach to the development of standards,  a 
common architectural approach and agreed application and 
infrastructure roadmap

P
age 122

P
age 122



Design Principles for a Responsive Shared Service

• Partnership based on an integrated model of delivery that will ultimately save 
money & accelerate innovation

• Responsive to customer need through partnership and alignment to corporate 
strategy & business driven approach to the allocation of resources

• Embedded in & with service needs through a strong and effective business 
partnering model

• Optimised through demand aggregation, integrated programme management 
and standardisation

• Delivers economies of scale through shared infrastructure & applications 
support services

• Provides resilience through shared knowledge and joint teams
• Deliver transformation capabilities & accelerate innovation through specialist 

teams building on shared expertise from the three teams (e.g. mobile working, 
customer access development skills)

P
age 123

P
age 123



The Shape of the New Service

We are recommending a Target Operating Model based on bringing together staff into four 
key functional areas that will support all 3 Councils:‐

1. The digital change functions are about ensuring that new digital developments are aligned with 
Council priorities at both a departmental and corporate level. This will be led by the business 
partners, project resources and technical specialists responsible for delivering technology platforms 
that save money, integrate services and enable new ways of working. As the volume of change is 
variable the size and shape of the function will vary depending on demand. Based on a review of 
the Digital Strategies of the 3 councils we are proposing business requirements are aggregated 
into five cross cutting portfolios – customers, workforce, insight & data, multi agency working and 
digital place – to enable synergies, joint investment, knowledge sharing and common approaches

2. An Applications Support team brings together the staff who support corporate and department 
systems.We are proposing that teams are arranged into cluster of related apps to support 
economies of scale and consolidation of platforms

3. The Common Infrastructure function is about integration and consolidation of underlying 
infrastructure to save money and flex on demand to meet the needs of the organisation

4. The Strategy and Architecture function will ensure that the work across all the functions above is 
joined up, risks are managed and standards are driven up

P
age 124

P
age 124



Shared Service ‐ High‐Level Operating Model

Digital Change

 Captures 
business 
priorities

 Identifies digital 
solutions to 
business 
problems

 Develops 
innovative new 
digital solutions

 Manages the 
delivery of new 
digital products 
and services

Se
rv

ic
e 

M
an

ag
em

en
t T

ea
m

s
Co

rp
or

at
e 

Tr
an

sf
or

m
at

io
n 

Pr
og

ra
m

m
es

 

Service
Improvements

Transformation
Priorities 

Programme 
Delivery 

Corporate and 
Service Systems

 Manages 
corporate and 
service systems

 Develops new 
and existing 
systems

Programme 
Assurance 

Architecture 
Principles

Resource 
Management

Architecture, 
Standards and 
Resources 

 Sets and 
monitors 
Corporate Digital 
Standards 

 Coordinates 
portfolio of 
digital projects 

 Commissions 
and manages 
external 
suppliers

 Coordinates 
resources and 
manages IT 
assets

Architecture 
Principles

Corporate 
Infrastructure

 Manages  IT 
hardware 

 Manages and IT 
networks and 
access

 Provides service 
desk support to 
users

Service
transition

Systems 
Availability

Infrastructure 
access

Hardware 
support

Systems 
Support

P
age 125

P
age 125



Shared Service  ‐ Detailed Operating Model

P
age 126

P
age 126



Streamlined Governance – Joint Committee

Proposed Governance Model

Delegation

 

Delegation

 

Delegation

Joint Committee
(2 members from each Council)

REMIT
Strategy

Business Planning
Budget

Camden Islington

Management Board

Directors of Resources 
Senior Service Users

Head of ICT Shared Service

REMIT:
Commercial Strategy

Performance Management

ICT Shared Services Management 
Team 

REMIT:
Service Strategy

Operational Delivery

Haringey

P
age 127

P
age 127



Indicative Implementation Timetable

• Milestones 0 – 6 Months
1. Appoint Single ICT Head of Service (designate) to be accountable for delivery
2. Agree shared service governance model (including funding model and business plan) & implement
3. Engage with stakeholders to develop detailed design, consultation and proposals to deliver efficiencies 

along with implementation costs
4. Develop programme of proposed Quick Wins and accelerate implementation where  business case to do so
5. Investigate Data Centre Options
6. Baseline priorities and demand across 3 Councils and aggregate into cross cutting portfolios that enable 

synergies, savings and joint development opportunities to be identified

• Milestones 6 – 12 Months
1. Centralise IT staff  & budgets into the shared service – no change fundamentally in operating model, may 

be a change in reporting lines, staff stay in same location
2. Appoint senior management structure
3. Align staff into the new operating model

• Within 12 – 18 months  
1. Implement service efficiency programme to deliver efficiencies
2. Assuming operating model stable, explore proactively opportunities to expand 
3. ICT Target Operating model in place 

P
age 128

P
age 128



Appendices

Detailed financial and design information

P
age 129

P
age 129



Key Risks and Issues

• Lack of common structure will add costs and cause operating and project 
management issues

• Lack of pooled budgets will prevent economies of scale and common 
approach

• Failure to address culture change will create and reinforce existing 
tensions between IT and the business

• Agreed approach as to how existing savings will be treated and 
incorporated into the efficiencies expected from the shared service

• Loss of key staff during the transition

• Lack of buy‐in from key stakeholders in both Council’s means that the 
shared service is not supported and potentially set‐up to fail from day one

P
age 130

P
age 130



Savings Opportunities from Shared Service

P
age 131

P
age 131



Draft Financial Projections
Current FTE for services in scope:

Current Cost of Service and forecast savings:

Current FTE for TOM services in scope:
Islington Camden Haringey Total

Strategic 
Leadership 6.0 6.0 8.0 20.0

Transformation 17.5 44.8 13.0 75.3

Customer Focused 
IT/ ICT Operational 96.7 110.2 58.0 264.8

Architecture 17.9 14.0 12.7 44.6

Total 138.1 175.0 91.7 404.7

Current Cost of Service and forecast savings:
Baseline 
budget 
(2015/16)

Investment 
cost 

(2015/16 to 
2019/20)

Anticipated 
cost after 

investment 
(by 2019/20)

Anticipated 
annual 

savings (by 
2019/20)

(£'000) (£'000) (£'000) (£'000)
In scope - shared service
Camden 13,843 2,570 11,724 2,119
Islington 15,185 2,347 13,304 1,881

sub-total 29,028 4,917 25,028 4,000
Haringey 13,752 1,918 12,386 1,365
Total 42,780 6,835 37,415 5,365

P
age 132

P
age 132



Implementation Costs

• Project support to support the start‐up and transition to the 
shared service, including 
• OD, process redesign and governance arrangements
• Programme Management Support
• Contract Rationalisation support
• Procurement support
• Legal costs 

• Restructuring costs – Job design, job evaluation, assimilation, 
selection, recruitment costs, redundancy costs 

• Building a common base e.g. platform / Infrastructure costs to 
bring the two Councils to a common standard / approach , 
datacentre consolidation

P
age 133

P
age 133



Governance Framework – Joint Committee

Features

A formal local authority committee constructed under Section 101  of the Local Government Act 1972 with responsibility for policy‐setting 
delegated by principal local authorities

Managed by designated officers

Pros Cons

Staff remain employed by their respective Councils – i.e. no TUPE 
impact

Arrangements for employing new members of staff into the 
shared service need to be agreed – may become complex and 
impact on individual pension funds needs to be monitored

Allows a simple delegation of authority functions 

Likely to need to operate within the confines of the employment 
terms and conditions and salary structures of the founding 
Councils, which may not attract or retain the best talent in a 
highly competitive market‐place   

Simple Governance structure that is tried and tested
The ability to “trade” is subject to legal challenge – need to 
ensure external service provision remains within the boundaries 
of the Local Government Act 1972

Fastest way of establishing the Shared Service, bearing in mind
the restrictions of European procurement rules

May not drive culture change – may be difficult to create a sense 
of separate identity and joint enterprise

Enables several longer‐term structures to be considered as the Shared
Service arrangement evolves – can form the basis of a move to a more 
commercial company structure once established

Limited scope to introduce commercial expertise (if trading is a 
driver)

Democratic accountability is maintained – member involvement at the 
heart of the entity

Can be bureaucratic ‐ as new partners join the Joint Committee 
competing viewpoints increases the risk of more cumbersome 
strategic decision‐making

Provides the opportunity to create a sense of partnership identity
through a separate ‘brand’ that distinguishes the service from the 
founding service departments and provides the basis for culture change

No corporate entity to be able to contract or own property in its 
own name (e.g. one of the principals needs to lead for external 
contracting)

P
age 134

P
age 134



1 

PURPOSE OF THIS DOCUMENT 

1. This document sets out the strategy for the Shared Digital for the next
three  years.  It describes how we will support, shape and deliver the
aspirations of Camden, Haringey and Islington, how we will manage
our resources effectively and efficiently to get maximum bang for our
buck; and how we will work together to achieve the greatest benefits
for residents and stakeholders.

INTRODUCTION 

[This section provides the wider context for the shared service and the 
role that technology can play in transforming public services.  Some of 

the language may need further refinement] 

[Does this provide the right framework for the work that follows?] 

2. Technology is changing the world at an incredible rate.  The internet is
not yet 30 years old, but it has fundamentally changed the way we live,
work and learn.  It allows people, all over the world, to do new things
when and how they want to, to allow people to create and do things
together, it has opened new markets, opportunities and communities.
People are more connected than at any time in human history, and the
rate of change is still accelerating.

3. Public services are going through enormous changes at the same time
– the pressure on finances is set to continue, the expectations of
residents, businesses and partners are increasing – and we are having 
to ask questions about our purpose and place in society.  The world is 
now so complicated that no one organisation can hope to solve the 
issues society faces, and effective solutions will require organisations 
and residents to work together – across geographical and 
organisational boundaries. 

4. Shared Digital has been created by Camden, Haringey and Islington to
help meet these challenges through enabling IT capabilities – to help
meet rising expectations, to manage diminishing resources, and to help
deliver the key outcomes of the authorities.

Appendix D

Page 135
Page 135



2 
 

 
5. This strategy sets out our vision for the future, how we will work, how 

we will spot and take advantage of new technologies to deliver better 
outcomes, how we will improve the day-to-day services for residents 
and staff and how we will help the councils learn from each other, and 
collaborate to find the most effective solutions.   

 
 

VISION AND PURPOSE 
 

[This section sets out the purpose of the shared service, and a vision for 
its development.  Some of this was set in the original business case, and 

some has come from engagement work across all three councils.] 
 

[Is the vision and purpose broadly right?] 
 

6. Shared Digital exists to help the three councils deliver their ambitions.  
We want to deliver not only the best IT services to the organisations 
and residents, but to help the councils transform how they do things to 
meet the needs of a fast evolving digital era.  
 

7. Camden, Haringey, and Islington boroughs are home to more than 
700,000 residents who are served by approximately 10,000 officers in 
the three councils. 

 
8. Our horizons have widened. With 8% of London’s residents in our 

reach, we can make a difference to so many more lives than we could 
before, and we can transform the way people interact with their city and 
services in exciting ways. 

 
9. Since becoming a shared service, when we make changes to the digital 

things that residents don’t see, we are impacting 10,000 working lives. 
This is larger responsibility that is both humbling and inspiring.  

 
10. With our larger area of influence comes new and exciting 

opportunities for digital that couldn’t be done before. At every 
opportunity, our ambition needs to match that. 

 
 

Page 136
Page 136



3 
 

11. We will:  
 
 

Work hard every day to provide outstanding products and 
unsurpassed service that, together, deliver premium value to our 
customers OR  
 
We work together, across boundaries, to meet the needs of our 
customers and help deliver value to residents OR  
 
Work together to meet the needs of Camden, Haringey and 
Islington and ensure that technology is delivering a better future 
for residents  

 
 
12. We will do this by: 

 
 Creating new opportunities for collaboration by opening up access 

to talent across all three boroughs 
 Reaching common goals once, not three times, using our 

resources wisely 
 Delivering modern, robust and reliable infrastructure, services 

and equipment so that staff and residents can meet their needs and 
work efficiently 

 Nurturing access to and use of digital technologies in more 
effective ways 

 Building a public service structure that is robust and resilient 
 Building upon the transformation projects already delivered in 

the councils; we have no desire to reinvent the wheel, and want to 
share learning as far as we can. 
 

13. The shared service is an ambitious statement of intent by the three 
boroughs, that can help to transform how important services are 
planned and delivered.  By coming together, we can take advantage of 
opportunities and experience we could not on our own.    
 

14. These opportunities give us the chance to transform the way we 
design and deliver our services; this is not just about the products we 
buy or the software we support. Our work will encompass the full range 

Page 137
Page 137



4 
 

of activities – from bold, front facing transformation projects to changes 
in the back room that people will not even notice at first.  Making sure 
that people are working with fit for purpose and reliable equipment and 
networks is an important step.  
 

15. To achieve maximum impact, we need to work in partnership across 
the three councils.  By working together we can achieve so much more 
than we could working on our own. 
 

16. There are three key parts to this approach – demand, supply and 
control. 
[NB “Control” may not be the right word.  We mean it in the sense of 
controlling a machine rather than command and control.  What would 

be a better description?] 
 
 

 Demand is the list of things the councils want us to do, or that we want 
to do ourselves.  It covers everything from routine business as usual 
(running the help desk, keeping the servers running, networks etc) 
through to top-to-bottom service transformation.   

 Supply is the resources we have to deliver projects – the people, 
equipment, skills and money. 

 Control is the means by which we allocate the resources to the areas 
of greatest impact.  We expect demand to outstrip supply and need to 
prioritise. 

 

  

Page 138
Page 138



5 
 

SECTION ONE: DEMAND 
 
17. Organisations only invest in technology to help them achieve 

business objectives.  And all three boroughs have bold, ambitious 
visions for the future of their communities.   All of these will depend 
upon digital to help deliver those visions.  
  

18. Analysis of the three organisations’ corporate strategies shows that 
there is a lot of overlap: all want to tackle inequality, promote economic 
growth, give residents the best possible start in life, and encourage 
preventative approaches wherever possible. 

 
 

 
 

Page 139
Page 139



6 
 

 
19. This overlap in terms of corporate objectives is mirrored in the role 

the councils see technology playing.  Early work by officers from across 
all three boroughs has identified a number of areas where all are keen 
to make progress: 

20. We have carried out a series of co-design workshops with more than 
250 staff across all three authorities.  These workshops were aimed at 
helping to understand need and areas of commonality across the three 
authorities. The ideas that are emerging build on the thinking that had 
already been happening within and between the three boroughs. This 
analysis and development of common needs helped identify six 
emergent themes of work: 

 
[do these look like the right themes?] 

 
 

Page 140
Page 140



7 
 

 
 
 
21. In extensive research and consultation across the three boroughs, 

we looked at the challenges that officers face every day. We used the 
expertise in Shared Digital to predict how shifting priorities and 
changing landscape will affect us. And, sometimes, departments can 
be unaware of the potential for digital to transform their services, so we 
also developed a picture what we need to do to be a proactive partner 
with the councils.  Because of this research, consultation, and in-house 
expertise, we know that these six themes are the areas where we can 
start making an immediate and deep impact to the councils. 
 
Using data better  

a. Sharing data within and between councils will help us make better 
business decisions, have an accurate picture of what is happening,  
target resources more and enable us to share learning across the 
authorities to benefit.  
 
We are already starting to make headway by joining up our efforts in 
Adult Social Care – all three councils’ ASC departments are our 
partners in an ASC performance reporting programme that will 
establish a standardised and improved way of reporting on ASC back-
office data.  

Page 141
Page 141



8 
 

When we talk about data, sometimes this means finding new and 
exciting ways of getting data that we never had access to before. 
Initiatives in the three boroughs are looking at taking on “Smart Cities” 
technology – a vision of the boroughs where we use IoT devices for 
data gathering to help inform services and decision-making, from waste 
management to homelessness and community safety. These are 
initiatives that can be tackled with more expertise and more efficiently 
through a shared digital service, rather than any one borough alone. 
 
Enabling a mobile workforce 

b. We need to continue on our smarter working journey, and continue 
improving both the ways we work in the councils, and how we can 
better empower and inform our staff working out in our communities.  
 
We are already putting power into the hands of frontline workers across 
the three councils with our Office365 programme, tackling our 
investment objective of finding new ways of working by giving officers 
a way to gain remote access to information, apps and services through 
an easy-to-use package.  
 
Customer enabling  

c. Modernising business processes – which in many cases have been 
largely unchanged in years – can make it easier for residents to meet 
their own needs, and manage their own lives more effectively.  We can 
be more proactively serving the needs of communities who increasingly 
prefer to do things at a time and in a way that suits them, and helps 
save money at the same time.  The more that can be saved from 
modernising transactional processes in particular, the more that face 
to face for the most vulnerable can be protected.  
 
All three councils have a history of shifting various services online, so 
there is a lot of in-house expertise that gives this theme massive 
potential to make far-reaching changes to residents across the 
boroughs by responding to their changing expectations. 
 
Joining up services  

d. Moving from hundreds of different suppliers to a smaller number will 
allow us to benefit from economies of scale, and lower support costs.  
It will also reduce the costs of procuring and maintaining systems. 
 

Page 142
Page 142



9 
 

This theme is supplementary to all other themes – not a focus in-and-
of-itself, but something that we aim to do at every good opportunity. We 
have started ambitious data-centre consolidation and network 
transformation projects that will standardise our back-office functions 
in a way that suits a shared ICT service, and make savings in the 
process. 

 
Business process efficiencies  

e. By creating new digital opportunities and continually improving on our 
existing portfolio of software, we can provide a resilient and capable 
digital services for our colleagues in the three councils so we can serve 
residents in a better way. 
 
All three councils have separate processes and ways of working. 
Shared Digital has already opened up opportunities in business 
process efficiencies by standardising legal case review software 
across the three boroughs, changing not just the service we provide, 
but enabling business processes to change with digital opportunities. 
 
Enabling infrastructure  

f. In a fast changing and challenging digital environment, we are 
improving our infrastructure, data resilience, and information security 
so that we reduce risk for residents and colleagues throughout the 
boroughs to experience issues from connectivity, to data loss, and 
security breaches.  
 
This area is important to us because we know that officers throughout 
the councils need to be confident that their equipment, software and 
services “just work.” As we join up our infrastructure, we will need to be 
proactive with opportunities to redefine the standard of our cyber-
security and resilience so that officers across the boroughs can work 
digitally safely and easily. 

  
  

22. As our work takes shape around these themes, we will work in 
collaboration with key stakeholders and programme boards for these 
themes (more on this in the “control” section) to refine their scope and 
to make sure we are getting the right results for all three councils. 
 

Targeting resource 
 

Page 143
Page 143



10 
 

23. For us to achieve the maximum benefits of coming together, we 
need to target our resources where they can do most good.  We need 
to have a partnership approach with the councils, and agree between 
us what is most important.  We are committed to working together to 
share learning, economics of scale and efficiencies, but from time to 
time, there may be occasions when one council needs to do something 
on its own or differently to the others. 
 

24. Progress has already been made to use the six themes as the basis 
for six programmes of work, so we can focus our efforts and resources 
to these areas effectively. We are shaping a picture that puts the three 
transformational themes (customer enabling,  using data better, mobile 
workforce) at the heart of what we do, so we can make the greatest 
impact with our resources, while we keep a steady steer on the three  

 
25.  The new arrangements are already starting to deliver and realise 

financial benefits. 
 

26. We are driven by a strong belief that a shared service works best 
when it is viewed as a genuinely shared endeavour, so the growth and 
development of these programmes will be iterative with a close ear to 
their progress in all three councils. 
 

27. [We will aim to develop a shared work programme, but this will not 
be ready for the October meeting] 

 
Conclusion 
 
28. A clear view of demand is emerging, based upon discussions with 

the three councils, analysis of their strategic priorities and work already 
underway.  This has identified common areas of work, common 
priorities and workshops have then developed themes to shape our 
work programme.  These themes, we believe, cover the right areas, and 
will support the effective delivery of critical outcomes for Camden, 
Haringey and Islington.   
  

29. Working and learning together will be crucial, and the themes have 
already seen senior officers from the councils coming together to lead 
the themes and the work emerging from them.   This partnership will be 

Page 144
Page 144



11 
 

vital in helping to shape the demands of the councils to ensure that our 
shared resources are focused on the issues of greatest priority.   

  

Page 145
Page 145



12 
 

 

 

SECTION TWO: SUPPLY 
  
30. This section considers the resources SD has at its disposal, and 

how it can use them most effectively to achieve the business objectives 
agreed with the boroughs. 
 

31. The scope and resources were defined in the original business 
case.  The numbers have been refined since, and currently stand at 
around 460 staff, and a total annual budget of £44m.  Around £20m of 
this is non-staff, and the staff budget is as follows: 
 

 Total for all Shared Digital 

SD resource type FTE 
Budget 2017-18 

(£000s) 

BAU staff 355 19,744 

Continuous 
improvement: 

permanent funded 
transformation 

104 4,495 

Total 459 24,239 
 
 

32. The business case assumed savings of at least £2m per council, 
per annum and we are confident in delivering these savings, though it 
is important to note these savings will come from all types of 
resources.  

 
33. Our resources come in many forms; people, contracts, assets – we 

use money to quantify these resources, but are keenly aware that 
there is a balance between these different resources that must be 
found, especially as we aim to converge these resources to make 
savings.  

 

Page 146
Page 146



13 
 

How we will work 
  

34. Our role is so fundamental to delivering change and improvement 
across all service areas, that we need to build strong, trusting 
partnerships at all levels across Camden, Haringey and Islington.  We 
need to see ourselves and be seen as part of all three councils.  We 
need to trust and be trusted, and have the relationships to be able to 
work together, discuss and disagree with each other.  
  

35. We want to want to tackle these priorities head on, and help to 
shape strategies and priorities, highlighting opportunities to transform 
services and reduce costs.  This will not be an easy challenge.  It is 
hard enough to deliver robust ICT services to one organisation, and 
harder to deliver it to three.  Delivering transformation is even harder.  
We are determined to rise to this challenge, and to build the 
partnerships across the councils to let us deliver together.   
 

36. We can deliver savings for all councils and improve council services 
effectively, in order to do this and keep pace we will expect and 
promote synergy, coordination, and compromise between parallel 
functions across the three boroughs.  Digital transformation isn’t just 
about the products we buy or the software we do, but it means 
changing the way we do things to suit a digital era.  If we are to do this 
effectively, we need to make sure that we are sharing learning and 
experiences regularly to help us all learn more quickly and develop 
better solutions.    

 
37. We are developing a functional model of how our service will 

operate, through consultation and co-development with our officers in 
Shared Digital and throughout the three councils, as well as externally 
sourced expertise. What we have now has gone through several 
iterations: 

Page 147
Page 147



14 
 

 

 
 
 

38. This model demonstrates the flow of demand to supply; a 
prioritisation framework at the top filters down demand to the resources 
we can supply at the bottom, assisted by our product and pop-up teams 
to deliver changes in a fast and fluid way.  

 
39. Modelling our service after this functional model converges our 

teams so we can maximise the benefits of collaboration. Bringing 
excellence and skills together like this is a massive boon to Shared 
Digital so we can be confident that our internal talent is at full potential. 

 
40. When making this model, we reimagined how our services could be 

more adaptable to change and how we can free-up expertise more 
easily when the councils’ services go through large-scale 
transformations. Our pop-up teams are designed so that we can 
disengage from static projects and move our expertise on to 
transformational projects where we are needed most.  

 
41. Developed through collaboration with officers from across the three 

boroughs and within our service, our functional model serves as a 
blueprint so that we can maximise collaboration, prioritise demand 
efficiently and effectively, and be a fluid, responsive and proactive 
service for our partners in the councils. 

 

Page 148
Page 148



15 
 

 
Target operating model 

 
42. The success of SD will demand a resilient operating structure and 

model.  The structure has been created to help us converge and 
collaborate to deliver the best services to the three boroughs.   

 
43. The Target Operating Model has been developed alongside the 

functional model to show, in broad strokes, how we see ourselves 
evolving and converging our services to meet demand. Functions have 
been designed to be cross cutting, and senior roles have both 
functional and geographical responsibilities.   
 

44. The function will consist of four teams: 
 
a. Digital change – to ensure digital developments are aligned 

with corporate priorities and focusing on delivering change and 
improvements 

b. Application support – supporting corporate and departmental 
systems 

c. Common Interface – focusing on integration and consolidation 
of infrastructure 

d. Strategy & Architecture – overall responsibility for strategic 
direction and operational performance of the function.  

 
 

Skills and capabilities 
 
  

45. At go live, SD will have the skills and capabilities it needs to deliver 
the short term aspirations of the boroughs.  But technology, business 
practice and ambitions change quickly and we will need to keep this 
under review.  

 
 

 

 

 

 

Page 149
Page 149



16 
 

 
  

Page 150
Page 150



17 
 

 

SECTION THREE: CONTROL 
 

[Is ‘control’ the right word?  It’s not meant in the sense of trying to 
‘control’ the three authorities, but in the sense of building a collaborative 
endeavour, driven by people who have a clear sense of what they want 

to do, and are coming together to deliver jointly. The Portfolio Boards will 
be a key expression of this – they will have the strategic view of what 

they are trying to achieve and what action is needed to deliver] 
 
46. This section outlines how we will match demand and supply, so that 

we are getting maximum value for money and impact.  We need to 
have confidence, and give others confidence, that we are using 
resources wisely, and focusing on the right things.  
 
Joint working – all for one, one for all? 
  

47. SD is built around the dedication to joint working.  There will be times 
when procurement and service timelines align across the three 
councils.  There will be others when it does not.  We cannot predict the 
minutiae that might from these challenges, but we what we do have is 
a guiding vision to help us navigate demand reflexively.  

 
48. Shared Digital is a fundamentally ambitious undertaking by the three 

councils, and we aim to continue that ambition.  We are ready to renew 
systems as and when the need arises, but also, we are willing to take 
on the challenge of a more fundamental review of the end-to-end 
business process, seeking improvements and efficiencies by working 
across all three councils. 

 
49. Part of how we built in this confidence into our service is found in 

our principles and from the democratic direction that the Joint 
Committee has given us. We know that the Joint Committee has given 
us the mandate to converge by default and take every good opportunity 
to combine services, products and contracts [Joint Committee Meeting, 
19 June 2017]. Because of this, we have designed our “control” 
mechanisms to focus our efforts into action rather than reaction. Our 
key themes of work were determined through collaborative and 
evidenced research, so we have a sound base of evidence on which 

Page 151
Page 151



18 
 

we place our priorities. Our programme boards have been shaped 
around the evidenced priority themes. The governance model is built 
to monitor our transformational programmes and operational resources 
effectively and efficiently.  

 
50. Our brief history is an iterative story of evidence, collaboration, and 

adaptation, so we will continue this journey towards shaping our 
governance structure, functional model, and target operating model to 
make the most out of our shared digital service.  
 
Prioritisation 
 

51. We will need to agree how best to prioritise demands.  There will be 
questions about how rigidly we wish to do this, and what criteria should 
be used.  All three councils are thinking about how to prioritise 
internally, so SD will need to work with this, and develop this in a 
collaborative way. 
  

52. There were a number of principles established in the initial business 
case, which will be a base to build upon: 
 
[we propose the following as the basis of a set of criteria to consider 
projects against.  Proposals could be assessed and ranked against 
the following – are these the right questions to ask of potential 
projects?] 
 

 Partnership: how will the proposal help to join up delivery, reduce 
costs and accelerate innovation? 
  

 Responding to customer need: how will the proposal responding 
to customer need and how is it helping to deliver corporate 
priorities? 
 

 Embedding with service needs: how will the service own and 
shape the solution, and support delivery of the programme and 
then assume delivery moving forwards? 

 
 Aggregation: how does the proposal help join up systems, reduce 

customisation and deliver process efficiencies? 
 

Page 152
Page 152



19 
 

 Building resilience: how will the proposal sharing knowledge to 
make our councils, communities and partnerships stronger? 

 
 Transforming the business: how will the proposal accelerate 

innovation or help to transform the business? 
 

53. One of the measures we have taken in monitoring demand and 
being responsive to business changes is the dedicated channels we 
have commissioned to partner with key functions across the three 
boroughs. These channels are the AD positions set out in the 
governance structure, bridging across councils and acting as the digital 
face of key corporate functions. These officers act as the catalyst 
between supply and demand; shaping the roadmap for transformation, 
informing – and sometimes leading – the digital journey of our partners 
in the councils. 
 

 
 

Governance 
  

54. SD has been operating under a Joint Committee structure, with 2 
members from each council.  The Joint Committee has been supported 
by a Management Board and a Delivery Board.   
 

55. The current structures are providing strong financial controls, and 
are managing the key decisions in a robust way.  However, there are 
areas where improvements in the speed and agility of decision making 
look feasible.   These structures are being reviewed, to ensure that they 
are operating as effectively as needed as SD moves into its next phase, 
whilst still giving strong assurance to the councils that proper 
procedures are being followed.   

 
56. We are looking at how the roles of the top-level governance 

structure can enable us to move towards the target operating model 
and the functional model, and how we can improve on the governance 
model thus far. So far, this is how we predict successful governance 
will work in Shared Digital:  

Page 153
Page 153



20 
 

 

[NB: Governance Structure is subject to change] 

 
 
57. This proposed governance structure is designed so that smarter 

decisions can be made quicker, the process of governance is owned 
equally between the three boroughs, and that oversight is not lost while 
we drive towards our high-priority transformational programmes.  

 
58. The structure on the lower-right has been moulded around the six 

priority themes of work we have identified through extensive 
consultation. Shaping the structure around the six themes means we 
can be confident that we are keeping pace towards the convergent 
priorities for the three boroughs, and that there is built-in resilience and 
oversight to shifting priorities at that level and beyond. These 
programme boards will be made up of key stakeholders from each 
borough, so equality is built into the structure too. 

 
59. Across from the transformational programme boards, there is the 

operational reporting function that allows a health-check of how well 
we are delivering our services. This gives our officers a channel for key 

Page 154
Page 154



21 
 

issues to travel upwards and be addressed quickly by both the SLT and 
Portfolio/Strategic board.  

 
60. Beyond the  programme boards and operational reporting structure, 

the Strategic/Portfolio Board operates on behalf of the Joint 
Committee, ensuring that the Joint Committee’s democratic oversight 
is heeded and that transformational and operational programmes are 
successfully being driven forward. 

 
61. The picture above of governance is one step in an iterative journey 

– a snapshot of our growth as a shared service. One year on from 
Shared Digital’s establishment, we already have a different 
governance structure that is more efficient. We continue to pursue what 
works best for us and have defined a set of outcomes to inform the 
development and evolution of the governance framework – the 
arrangements should ensure that we: 

 
a. Deliver an excellent service; 
b. Provide value for money; and 
c. Forge lasting partnerships. 

 

CONCLUSION 
 
 

62. The world around us is changing quickly.  Its challenges 
become more complex and interconnected.  Shared Digital 
represents a brave and bold response by the three boroughs, one 
that shows their commitment to ensuring that technology plays a full 
role in delivering better outcomes and better value to the taxpayer. 
  

63. Not all of our work will be on the cutting edge or very exciting 
– there will be real advantages and benefits in ensuring that our staff 
have modern and reliable equipment and systems that enables 
them to work efficiently and effectively.  Residents expect certain 
basics and that things ‘just work’ and we need to ensure we have a 
strong platform to get these right.   
 

64. Financial pressures are not going to ease in the foreseeable 
future, and there are still areas where we can reduce costs and 
increase flexibility by using technology fully.   

Page 155
Page 155



22 
 

 
65. We can also expect a continued  emphasis on accessibility, 

inclusion and finding new ways to work with our communities.  Given 
that many of our residents are spending more of their lives online, it 
is right that we should be using online techniques to work with them 
more effectively. 
 

66. Inevitably, there will be challenges along the way.  We will not 
get everything right all the time, but we are committed to building 
genuine and strong partnerships with all three boroughs – both one 
to one and across SD and the three boroughs collectively.  We are 
stronger when we stand together, and can maximise the use of 
resources through developing a shared vision for the service and 
how we want to use it. 
 

67. This document is the first step on that very exciting journey.   

Page 156
Page 156



Shared Digital

The digital strategy

Draft

for Camden, Haringey, and Islington

Appendix E

P
age 157

P
age 157



Shared Digital

We’ve reached the one year mark

It’s time to ramp up our efforts

We need to…
– co-ordinate and rally to a single message
– tell the world (and perhaps ourselves!) who we are and what we do
– tell the councils how we will partner with them.

The strategy is just one step in a journey towards a fully-fledged shared service.

Why do we need a strategy?

P
age 158

P
age 158



Shared Digital

P
age 159

P
age 159



Shared Digital

Ambition
Shared Digital is an ambitious undertaking by the three councils. In the face of many 
pressures and drivers, we need to carry the torch on and be just as ambitious. 

We have the humbling and exciting responsibility to serve 10,000 council staff and 700,000 
residents (8% of London’s population!)

P
age 160

P
age 160



Shared Digital

We want to…
• Deliver an excellent digital service through:

• Making the best of technology in the councils
• Providing great digital services to residents
• Enabling innovation and transformation

• Provide great value for money through:
• Maximising economies of scale
• Offering affordable costs
• Investing in transformation of services

• Forge a lasting partnership through:
• Collaborating and promoting equality
• Managing and governing effectively, transparently, and with accountability.
• Sharing and mitigating risk together

Ambition

P
age 161

P
age 161



Shared Digital

What do the councils want us 
to work on?

What sort of pressures are 
we facing?

What are our priorities?

What resources do we have 
(money, people, contracts)?

What ways of organising our 
resources do we have?

How do we prioritise?

How do we manage our 
resources responsibly?

How do we make a shared 
service work?

P
age 162

P
age 162



Shared Digital

What do the councils want? What do we deliver if we want to be a successful 
digital and ICT partner?

Research Consultation Expertise

PRIORITIES

P
age 163

P
age 163



Shared Digital

P
age 164

P
age 164



Shared Digital

P
age 165

P
age 165



Shared Digital

P
age 166

P
age 166



Shared Digital

• Our three corporate objectives overlap
• Lots of the same pressures and drivers
• IT + digital can play a role in tackling these pressures and areas of overlap
• The important work we already do in the three boroughs falls into six themes
• Focussing on these themes means we focus on the right priorities.
• We are already doing some exciting shared work with these themes, and more 

big-impact work has been identified for the future:

Demand

Of f i c e365 ASC  r epo r t i ng
p rog ramme

Jo i n t
P r o cu r emen t

Lega l  c a se
managemen t

P
age 167

P
age 167



Shared Digital

What money do we have? How many people do we have? How do we plug into 
the councils?

Research Consultation Expertise

STRUCTURE

P
age 168

P
age 168



Shared Digital

P
age 169

P
age 169



Shared Digital

P
age 170

P
age 170



Shared Digital

The success of SD will demand a resilient operating structure. 

The main takeaways from the Target Operating Model are that:
• We will converge services to meet demand.
• Functions will be cross-cutting (meaning that they won’t just have one geographical 

responsibility, or separated into siloed parts.
• senior roles have both functional and geographical responsibilities.

Target Operating Model

Digital Change Application Support Strategy & Architecture Common Interface

P
age 171

P
age 171



Shared Digital

• We know how we want to work:
• Responsive to our partners (the three councils)
• Flexible in our projects
• Fast in our decision making
• Joint in delivery (across councils and across IT disciplines)

• We are already shifting towards the functional model and target operating models
• We have the skills in-house, we just need to join them up for maximum impact.

Supply

P
age 172

P
age 172



Shared Digital

How do we match our supply with demand? How do we make sure we are 
doing the right thing? How can we weather change well?

Research Consultation Expertise

CONTROL

P
age 173

P
age 173



Shared Digital

Some principles we’ve worked with since the beginning:

• Partnership
• Responding to need
• Embedding with service needs
• Aggregation
• Building resilience
• Transforming the business

Principles

P
age 174

P
age 174



Shared Digital

Shared Digital governance framework

Shared Digital

Shared Digital 
Joint Committee
Cabinet Members & 

Chief Digital Information Officer

Mobile 
Working

Strategy and Portfolio 
Management Board

Finance and Transformation Directors &
Chief Digital Information Officer

Customer 
Enabling

Using Data 
Better

Process 
Efficiencies

Enabling 
Infrastructure

Consolidating 
Services

Shared Digital 
Senior Leadership Team

Applications & Business Solutions | Core Infrastructure 
Digital Partnerships x 3 | Portfolio and Programmes

User GroupsUser Groups
User Groups User Groups

The JC approves the service budgets, business plans and strategy. It 
monitors progress against the business plan and takes decisions that exceed 
delegated limits. Maintains democratic accountability and oversight, avoiding 
the need for the service to work through three decision-making processes.

The SPMB is the strategic interface to the three councils, advocating for the 
shared service and ensuring that key priorities are reflected and optimised in 
the portfolio. It is the portfolio board for shared programmes, resolving conflict 
and ensuring that transformation effort is focused and delivering effectively.

The programme boards for each of the 
key transformation themes are each 
jointly chaired by senior officers from 
each of the three councils. These boards 
will ensure that demand is managed and 
prioritised, and that service and digital 
resource is effectively allocated to the 
projects that matter most. The co-
chaired programme boards ensure that 
sponsorship of each programme is 
distributed across the three councils.

The Senior Leadership Team is 
responsible for day-to-day delivery of 
transformation programmes and 
operational ICT services. 

The SLT reports operational matters to 
the SPMB on an exceptional basis, and 
coordinates regular monthly highlight 
reports for the Shared Digital portfolio to 
report to the SPMB. The SLT acts as a 
first point of escalation for programme
boards.

P
age 175

P
age 175



Shared Digital

• One year on, we are still developing. The “controls” we’ve identified and put in 
place are just one step towards a streamlined service.

• We need to stick to our principles so we can work out priorities as we look forward.
• We have to be efficient in our decision-making, and keep sight of the right things 

(our six themes).
• We have to be ambitious.

Control

P
age 176

P
age 176



Shared Digital ASC Case Management v1.1 | 19 October 2017 Page 1 of 9 

 

 
   

 

 
REPORT TITLE 
Review of Adult Social Care and Children's Services Case Management System 
Provision 
 
 
REPORT OF 
Ed Garcez, Shared Digital Chief Digital and Information Officer 
 
 
FOR SUBMISSION TO 
Shared Digital Joint Committee 
 

 
DATE 
30 October 2017 

 
SUMMARY OF REPORT 
This report outlines the opportunity to establish a cross council working group to develop 
a strategy which lays out the technology requirements for social care services working 
across the three councils. 
 
It takes account of the councils’ agreed digital and ICT design principles, the existing 
system delivery models; and, recognises the complexity of change that would be likely 
working with social care teams. 
 
Additionally, this report outlines a review of the contract arrangements for the Adult 
Social Care/Children’s Services case management systems in use across the London 
boroughs of Camden, Haringey and Islington, recommending procurement activity to 
provide a co-terminus date of July 2020 for these contracts. 
 
This would support the councils in providing sufficient time to develop a technology 
roadmap and strategy for social care services. 
 
Local Government Act 1972 – Access to Information 
 
The following document(s) has been used in the preparation of this report: none. 
 
Contact officer: 
Ed Garcez, Chief Digital Information Officer 
5 Pancras Square, London N1C 4AG 
 
ed.garcez@camden.gov.uk 
0207 974 4583 
 
 
WHAT DECISIONS ARE BEING ASKED FOR? 
It is recommended that the Shared Digital Joint Committee: 
 

1. Supports the development of a cross council working group drawn from Adult 
Social Care; Children’s Services; and, Shared Digital to develop a future 
technology strategy for social care services across the three councils. 

Page 177

Agenda Item 10

Page 177



Shared Digital ASC Case Management v1.1 | 19 October 2017 Page 2 of 9 

 

 
   

 

 
2. Approves a co-terminus contract date of July 2020 for the case management 

systems used in adult social care and children’s services across the three 
councils.  

 
3. Delegates to the Chief Digital and Information Officer authority to a) extend the 

Camden contract and b) approve the procurement strategy and contract award 
for the Haringey and Islington case management systems. 

 
 
 

Date: 19/10/2017 Signed: 

 
 
 
1 WHAT IS THIS REPORT ABOUT? 

 
1.1 This report considers the future technology provision, including case management 

systems for the adult social care (ASC) and children’s services (CHS) teams 
operating in the London boroughs of Camden, Haringey and Islington. 
 

1.2 The report proposes that the three councils use the opportunity, which has arisen 
through key social care IT systems contracts expiring, to work together to develop 
a strategy which details the future technology requirements for social care services 
in the three councils. 
 

1.3 To achieve this, the contracts which are expiring will need to be extended for a 
short period and, recognising the complexity of aligning the contracts end dates 
and having sufficient time available to complete the strategy development, it is 
recommended that the case management contracts align to an end date of July 
2020. 
 

1.4 The table below details the dates that the contracts for each case management 
system expires: 
 
Council Current end date Extension 
Camden 9 July 2019 1 year 
Haringey 30 April 2019 None available 
Islington Licences: 17 June 2018 

 
Support and maintenance for 
LAS and LCS: 31 March 2018 

TBC 

 
1.5 Three options are presented, with a recommendation that the Shared Digital Joint 

Committee support the establishment of a cross council working group to develop 
the technology strategy for social care services. 
 

Page 178
Page 178



Shared Digital ASC Case Management v1.1 | 19 October 2017 Page 3 of 9 

 

 
   

 

1.6 The impact on not supporting the recommendation is that the councils will limit the 
ability for our social care services to maximise the use of technology to deliver 
their services effectively, and reduce the opportunities to maximise savings 
through joint procurements. 
 

1.7 The contract renewals required to provide co-termination of contracts across the 
three councils would only seek to procure existing services and maintain the status 
quo. However, should the councils choose to collaborate and specify their 
technology requirements jointly, significant effort, led by the services departments, 
would need to be resourced. 
 

1.8 Consultation with service heads across social care services continues and 
feedback confirms that there is a value in the approach to develop a technology 
strategy for social care services, but some concern on the capacity within service 
teams to resource this work as there are other transformation initiatives in delivery. 
 

2 WHY IS THIS REPORT NECESSARY? 
 

2.1 Contracts are expiring and need to be re-procured as there is no option to extend 
some of the contracts already in place. The recommendations and approach 
outlined in the report: 

a) affords the councils time to strategically consider options for future 
technology provision which fully meet the needs of ASC and CHS 
requirements across all three councils. 

b) minimises risk of loss of service to business-critical line of business 
applications which support the councils’ most vulnerable residents; 

c) ensures the councils’ have followed a compliant route to market for future 
system provision. 

 
3 OPTIONS 

 
RECOMMENDED OPTION 
Option 1: strategically review social cares services’ technology needs 
 

3.1 Social care services continue to undergo significant changes in provision either 
through changes in legislation and social policy, public expectation or budgetary 
constraints.  In this scenario, the three councils agree to review jointly their 
technology requirements taking account of the changes expected in the medium 
and long term. 
 

3.2 The councils would review the existing support provided by technology with a view 
to defining a set of requirements which: 

a) takes account of existing best practice,  
b) aligns to a future vision of social care provision; and, 
c) makes best use of technology to enable effective service delivery 

 

Page 179
Page 179



Shared Digital ASC Case Management v1.1 | 19 October 2017 Page 4 of 9 

 

 
   

 

3.3 This option would require the councils to establish a service led working group to 
complete the project.  Membership would be cross council and cross service, 
drawn from ASC, CHS and Shared Digital. 
 

3.4 This is the most complex and difficult option but one that could present the biggest 
opportunities to align to the services’ future provision needs, future proof ICT 
provision, ensuring that staff have the correct tools (and devices) to support 
increased productivity and generate savings. 
 

3.5 The output from this exercise would be a set of accurate ICT requirements which 
can be taken to market with a view to buying a case management system which 
will fulfil existing and future needs. 
 

Pros Cons 
Aligns to existing service 
transformation initiatives in delivery 

Complex initiative which will need 
resourced from across all services 

Ensures technology provision supports 
medium and long term services vision 

May require a change programme to 
support delivery into services 

Enables increased staff productivity 
through more flexible and easier 
remote working 

Staff may need support and training 

Likely to generate savings through use 
cloud based technology 

Will require a complex data migration 
project should the requirements lead to 
the councils changing moving to a new 
case management system. 

 
Risks 
 

Risk Mitigation 
Councils cannot reach agreement on 
technology requirements 

Early collaborative working to identify 
what works currently, and what may be 
required in the future. 
 
All requirements gathered and can be 
accommodated as requirements 
specific to one council 

Uncertainty on how services will be 
provided in three to five years 

Ensure requirements take account of 
known changes in delivery and aligns 
strongly to existing transformation 
initiatives 

Insufficient resource available to 
complete initial requirements exercise 

SMT buy-in to resource the project 
effectively. 
 
Early identification of resource 
requirements 

 
 

  

Page 180
Page 180



Shared Digital ASC Case Management v1.1 | 19 October 2017 Page 5 of 9 

 

 
   

 

NOT RECOMMENDED 
Option 2:  Only two councils collaborate to procure a shared system 
 

3.6 The assumption in this scenario is that there is appetite for two councils to 
collaborate to produce a single set of requirements enabling them to procure a 
single system.  The third council would lead on developing requirements and 
procuring a system specific to their ASC/CHS needs. 
 

3.7 There is no requirement to co-terminate contracts in this option.  However, co-
termination would allow each council to consider options together, which may lead 
to a single platform at a later stage. 
 

Pros Cons 
Limited staff re-training required Three/two procurement exercises 

undertaken, additional costs incurred 
Supports move to a cloud based 
service provision at a later date 

Two systems to be maintained 

Convergence from three systems to 
two 

Lower level of savings generated 

Option to reduce licencing costs if 
Camden unlimited perpetual licences 
can be used in Haringey 

Data migration in Camden/Haringey is 
still required as the councils have 
different data hosting solutions 

 
Risks 
 

Risk Mitigation 
Delays in completing specification and 
procurement. Shortened timescales to 
complete migration. 

Competent and experienced PM 
appointed 
 
Clear escalation of issues for 
resolution 
 
Each council commits resources to 
ensure deadlines are met 

Complexity of migration of data to new 
system leads to delays in moving to 
new platform 

Early scoping of data migration 
requirements 
 
System provider must have relevant 
demonstrable experience of migrating 
differing data sets to their platform 

 
  

Page 181
Page 181



Shared Digital ASC Case Management v1.1 | 19 October 2017 Page 6 of 9 

 

 
   

 

NOT RECOMMENDED 
Option 3:  procure systems without aligning contracts (Do nothing) 
 

3.8 This continues the existing arrangements, with each council having separate 
systems, configured to the needs of each council. Contracts are renewed as 
required.  ASC/CHS services in each council will be responsible for developing the 
specification for the service to be procured.  It would need to be led by a service 
department lead with subject matter expertise provided from SD and Camden’s 
corporate procurement team. 
 

3.9 However, when we arrive at the point that the contracts cannot be extended there 
is a likelihood that the successful bidder may not be the incumbent supplier and 
the risks outlined above in moving to a new system will re-emerge. 
 

Pros Cons 
In-house experience to deliver 
procurement 

Minimises savings opportunities 

Less likely that data migration exercise 
will need to happen 

SD have to maintain three bespoke 
systems 

Assuming same platform, no re-
training of staff 

Procurement support is required for 
three procurements rather than one 

No disruption to business continuity Three sets of supplier relationships 
need to be maintained 
 
Limits opportunity to go to a cloud 
based service with only one system 

Better economies of scale by not going 
to the market separately increasing 
prospect of getting best value for 
money. 

None 

 
Risks 
 

Risk Mitigation 
If the councils go to the market 
separately they will lose economies of 
scale reducing the likelihood that best 
value for money across the contracts 
will be achieved 

None 

Three separate tenders could return 
three separate winning bids from 
different suppliers meaning that there 
are three systems to maintain and 
three supplier relationships to manage 

None 

 
  

Page 182
Page 182



Shared Digital ASC Case Management v1.1 | 19 October 2017 Page 7 of 9 

 

 
   

 

4 WHAT ARE THE REASONS FOR THE RECOMMENDED DECISIONS? 
 

4.1 Co-terminating the contracts ensures that the councils’ retain access to the case 
management systems maintaining business continuity until July 2020 as well as 
providing the councils with sufficient time to consider future options. 
 

4.2 Delegating approval of the procurement strategy and contract award to the Chief 
Digital Information Officer is compliant with the councils’ contract standing orders 
and maintains momentum in the procurement exercise(s). 
 

4.3 Agreement to collaborate on defining the future technology requirements of social 
care services ensures staff have the correct tools (and devices) to deliver 
effectively. 
 

5 WHAT ARE THE IMPACTS/ RISKS? HOW WILL THEY BE ADDRESSED? 
 

5.1 If the councils are unable to agree a single approach to the development of a 
specification detailing ASC/CHS technology requirements additional time, 
resource and cost will be incurred completing multiple procurement exercises. 
 
Action – seek to align specification work wherever possible, use same resources 
on the procurements ensuring lessons are learnt and mistakes not repeated. 
 

6 WHAT ACTIONS WILL BE TAKEN AND WHEN FOLLOWING THE DECISION 
AND HOW WILL THIS BE MONITORED? 
 

6.1 The table below provides a timeline of activity following approval of the 
recommendation in this report: 
 
Activity Date 
Review existing contract arrangements October/ November 2017 
Prepare procurement strategies to 
align contract end dates 

December 2017 

Undertake procurements January to March 2018 
Establish cross council working group January 2018 
Award contracts TBC 

 
 

6.2 Once the working group have reached an agreement on next steps this will return 
to the Shared Digital Joint Committee 
 

7 CONSULTATION 
 

Page 183
Page 183



Shared Digital ASC Case Management v1.1 | 19 October 2017 Page 8 of 9 

 

 
   

 

7.1 Consultation with service departments is ongoing. Feedback from the meetings 
completed in Camden and Haringey is that there is a recognition that there would 
be value in collaborating to define future technology requirements.  However, there 
were some concerns over resourcing the working group whilst the services were 
completing both service transformation initiatives and achieving financial savings 
targets. 
 

8 LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 
 

8.1 Legal services has reviewed this report in the light of the Public Contract 
Regulations 2015 (the ‘Regulations’) and the Shared Digital Joint Committee’s 
Terms of Reference (the ‘TORs’) which must be complied with. 
 

8.2 The Council is seeking to define the technology requirements for case 
management systems for adult social care and children’s services across the three 
boroughs. There are three options being considered in this report. The TOR states 
that the Joint Committee may delegate its functions to an officer of the Council. 
The delegation of the procurement strategy and contract award to the Chief Digital 
Information Officer is in accordance with the TOR.  
 

8.3 Existing contract arrangements may need to be extended if a common start date 
of July 2020 is to be achieved (see table in 1.3). Legal services should be 
consulted to evaluate any legal risk if the current contracts are to be extended 
where there is no option to extend. (It is noted that Haringey’s case management 
system contract expires at the end of April 2019). Once a strategy is elected, the 
Councils are advised to obtain further legal advice.  
 

8.4 Councils must take into account in coming to any decision its equality duties.  In 
summary these legal obligations require the Council, when exercising its functions, 
to have ‘due regard’ to the need to 1. Eliminate discrimination, harassment and 
victimisation and other conduct prohibited under the Act; 2 to advance equality of 
opportunity between people who share a relevant protected characteristic and 
those who do not; 3. Foster good relations between people who share a relevant 
protected characteristic and those who do not (which involves tackling prejudice 
and promoting understanding).  Under the Duty the relevant protected 
characteristics are: Age, Disability, Gender reassignment, Pregnancy and 
maternity, Race, Religion, Sex, Sexual orientation. In respect of the first aim only 
i.e. reducing discrimination, etc. the protected characteristic of marriage and civil 
partnership is also relevant.  
 

8.5 The recommendations in this report have no impact on service provision; 
therefore, an EIA is not required.  
 

9 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS  
(finance comments of the Executive Director Corporate Services) 
 

Page 184
Page 184



Shared Digital ASC Case Management v1.1 | 19 October 2017 Page 9 of 9 

 

 
   

 

9.1 Funding for the existing three contracts is captured within the combined revenue 
budget for Shared Digital. The cost of retendered contracts will need to be 
managed within this shared financial resource. 
 

9.2 By aligning contract end dates and reviewing social care services’ technology 
needs across the three councils, Shared Digital is creating an opportunity to 
provide a single solution in future, with potential for more efficient use of financial 
resources. 
 

10 APPENDICES 
 

10.1 None. 
 

REPORT ENDS 
 

Page 185
Page 185



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 186
Page 186



Shared Digital Network Transformation v1.1 | 19 October 2017 Page 1 of 8 

 

 
   

 

 
REPORT TITLE 
Network Services Transformation 
 
 
REPORT OF 
Ed Garcez, Shared Digital Chief Information and Digital Officer  
 
 
FOR SUBMISSION TO 
Shared Digital Joint Committee  
 

 
DATE 
30 October 2017 

 
SUMMARY OF REPORT 
This report proposes the convergence of the Councils’ network services, specifically 
their wide area networks (WANs), in light of the need to modernise our infrastructure and 
decommission legacy telephony circuits and lines by 2025. 
 
It outlines the business benefits of moving to a single shared network design, 
specifically: increased resilience and security, improved flexibility and scalability, and 
alignment with the Councils’ ICT transformation programmes. The existing infrastructure 
is aging and reliant on inflexible technology. As we move to our new co-located data 
centres the reliability of our network will be key and this proposal will ensure that our 
WAN is fit-for-purpose, easy to support and maintain (with a single supplier) and that it is 
able to meet increasing user needs for high-speed connectivity and improved network 
security. 
 
Together, our consolidated data centres, network services and cloud strategies will 
provide an enhanced service to our users and customers. As the key foundations to our 
ICT environment they will enable and support new and smart ways of working including 
increased flexibility for users to work on the move. 
 
To ensure that the WAN service is reliable and supportable it is proposed that the 
service be provided by a single supplier, and this report recommends that the WAN is 
procured using a Crown Commercial Services framework agreement. Soft market 
testing indicates that the implementation and 5-year operation of the WAN for the three 
Councils will cost c. £5.5m. 
 
Local Government Act 1972 – Access to Information 
 
The following document(s) has been used in the preparation of this report: none. 
 
Contact officer: 
Michael Johnston, Data Centre and Cloud Lead 
5 Pancras Square, London, N1C 4AG 
 
michael.johnston@camden.gov.uk   
020 7974 3394 
 

Page 187

Agenda Item 11

Page 187



Shared Digital Network Transformation v1.1 | 19 October 2017 Page 2 of 8 

 

 
   

 

 
WHAT DECISIONS ARE BEING ASKED FOR? 
It is recommended that the Shared Digital Joint Committee: 
 

a) Approve the strategy for the Councils to share their wide area networks in a 
single (securely segmented) wide area network provided by a single supplier. 

 
b) Approve the procurement strategy to go to market via a CCS framework for a 

managed WAN service via RM1045. 
 

c) Note that the contract award for the procurement will come to the Shared Digital 
Joint Committee in February 2018 for approval. 

 
 
 

Date: 19/10/2017 Signed: 

 
 
 
1 WHAT IS THIS REPORT ABOUT? 

 
1.1 In November 2016, the Shared Digital Joint Committee approved the strategy for 

data centre provision across the three Councils, as part of a wider ‘cloud first’ 
strategy. This was followed by approval of the procurement strategy and contract 
award for the migration of the Councils’ data centres to facilities provided by 
Crown Hosting Services in June 2017.  
 

1.2 Building on the convergence of the Councils’ data centres, this report seeks 
approval to: 

a) Form a procurement strategy that addresses evolving industry constraints 
and converges the Councils’ networks to one shared (securely segmented) 
wide area network. 

b) Carry out the procurement exercise via a Crown Commercial Service 
framework agreement – Network Services (RM1045), for the services. 

 
1.3 This is an enabling project which assures the compliance and integrity of our core 

infrastructure and assists in cost reduction by consolidating interlinks for the 
current data centre and remote sites, as well as being able to introduce newer 
network technology and build a platform from which further savings can be 
realised.  
 
Background 
 

1.4 A WAN connects people with systems housed in different locations. Access is 
usually provided through circuits leased from a specialist service provider.  
 

Page 188
Page 188



Shared Digital Network Transformation v1.1 | 19 October 2017 Page 3 of 8 

 

 
   

 

1.5 To date each Council has contracted WAN services independently, and from 
multiple suppliers. Over time, this has led to a complex environment where it is 
difficult and expensive to share resources, manage the infrastructure and procure 
services.  
 

1.6 Different, incompatible technologies are deployed in and across Council networks 
further complicating support and administration and making it more difficult to 
collaborate. 
 

1.7 This proposal aligns directly with, and supports, the benefits that will be realised 
through the Data Centre project. 
 

2 WHY IS THIS REPORT NECESSARY? 
 

2.1 The report is being submitted to Joint Committee to seek approval to implement a 
procurement strategy based on the Framework RM1045 (Crown Commercial 
Services) for a single network which consolidates the Councils’ three WANs to 
one.  
 

2.2 The Councils are currently undertaking several large transformation programmes 
including migration to shared co-located Data Centres. These will rationalise the 
current data centre estate and consolidate infrastructure. As part of this 
development, and to further improve efficiency, a shared network is required. 
 

2.3 This project will seek to reduce infrastructure complexity, total cost of ownership 
(TCO), and simplify supplier management. It will offer improved flexibility, aligning 
with the Councils’ ‘cloud first’ strategy and offer improved disaster recovery. 
 

2.4 Appointment of a sole supplier of network services is needed to support these 
aims and unlock further savings in enabled projects. For example, the corporate 
telephony review. 
 

3 OPTIONS 
 

3.1 In considering and evaluating options officers have considered the: 
 need to ensure compliance with the latest networking standards, and 

which has been competitively procured to ensure both value for money and 
adherence with relevant legislation 

 need to provide an efficient and secure WAN service that will be flexible to 
the Councils’ evolving needs, and which delivers high levels of availability 
and performance 

 critical role that our network plays as an enabling foundation to all of our 
ICT infrastructure, and the future opportunities that will be enabled with the 
right design (eg improved flexible and smart working opportunities and 
improved citizen services) 

 need to simplify procurement and supplier management while ensuring 
competition through a framework route to market 

 

Page 189
Page 189



Shared Digital Network Transformation v1.1 | 19 October 2017 Page 4 of 8 

 

 
   

 

3.2 To achieve the objectives above we have undertaken a soft market testing 
exercise and identified three options: 

1. Do nothing (not recommended) 
2. Renegotiate current contracts for each Council individually (not 

recommended) 
3. Modernise to a single (securely segregated) secure network 

(recommended) 
 

3.3 Option 1: Do nothing – not recommended 
 

3.4 This option is based on continuing the existing model, replacing end of life 
hardware, and procuring new contracts for discrete network connections when 
needed.  
 

3.5 The team have determined this option is not viable as it: 
a) would result in increased capital and revenue spend 
b) does not support or compliment the strategic objectives set for the shared 

service 
c) would not improve existing ‘end-of-life’ technologies and architectures 

 
3.6 Option 2: Renegotiate current services for each Council individually – not 

recommended 
 

3.7 This option would use the existing model of single connections, and bringing all 
circuits into a single contract for each Council. 
 

3.8 The team have determined this option is not viable as it: 
a) would result in increased capital and revenue spend 
b) would constrain cooperation and resource sharing across Councils (it would 

however partially support our objectives, by virtue of modernising the 
infrastructure) 

c) increases the complexity of the network but would upgrade and improve 
existing ‘end-of-life’ technologies 

 
3.9 Option 3: Modernise to a single (securely segregated) secure network – 

recommended 
 

3.10 This option is based on replacing all the existing networks with a single (securely 
segmented) network service, provided by a single supplier. The independence and 
sovereignty of Council systems and data would be maintained whilst enabling the 
sharing of approve, services across Councils and with external partners.  
 

3.11 External connections to the Internet, Public Sector Networks (NHS, Police, etc.) 
would be provisioned once and shared between Councils with enhanced 
bandwidth, performance, and flexibility. 
 

3.12 The team have determined this option as the most suitable as: 
a) annual costs are not expected to increase against current costs (although 

capital investment will be needed to fund the implementation project) 

Page 190
Page 190



Shared Digital Network Transformation v1.1 | 19 October 2017 Page 5 of 8 

 

 
   

 

b) it will support our strategic objectives and enable further service 
enhancements and improvements 

c) it would upgrade and improve existing ‘end-of-life’ technologies and 
architectures 

 
3.13 Assessment of options 

 
3.14 The table below includes the primary criteria used to judge the three options. 

 
Criteria Option 1 Option 2 Option 3 
Replace legacy equipment and 
circuits 

Limited Yes Yes 

Resilient service No Yes Yes 
Flexibility in bandwidth Limited Yes Yes 
Ability to carry other traffic (CCTV, 
voice) 

No Limited Yes 

Enable sharing between Councils No Limited Yes 
Cost neutral No No Yes 

 
3.15 Based on the Councils’ ambitions for the shared service, future needs for 

efficiency, improved service delivery and digital services, the recommended option 
is Option 3: Modernise to a single (securely segregated) secure network – 
recommended. 
 

3.16 Financial Evaluation 
 

3.17 This project is not expected to directly generate significant cost reductions for the 
Councils. It is expected to fall within existing operating costs. 
 

3.18 As a key enabling technology it is anticipated that this investment will enable the 
use and adoption of other technologies that will realise cost reductions, eg a move 
to cloud-hosted telephony, core infrastructure sharing, and the provision of third 
party network security services, etc. 
 

3.19 Soft market testing indicated likely estimated costs for the recommended option as 
shown below: 
 
 One-off 

investment 
Annual 

operating cost 
Total 5-year cost 
(including one-
off investment) 

Existing service Nil £928,000 £4,640,000
Single network £990,000 £889,000 £5,435,000

 
3.20 Procurement Strategy 

 

Page 191
Page 191



Shared Digital Network Transformation v1.1 | 19 October 2017 Page 6 of 8 

 

 
   

 

3.21 A WAN is a commodity service available from several specialist providers. As a 
result, a full OJEU compliant tender process is not proposed. Rather, it is 
proposed that the procurement be undertaken through an existing Crown 
Commercial Service (CCS) framework agreement: RM1045 – network services. 
The framework is an appropriate and compliant public procurement route. 
 

3.22 The framework is split into many lots which cover differing network services. The 
relevant lot for this procurement is Lot 1 Data Access Services. There are 24 
suppliers listed on the framework. It will be a single stage process via the CCS e-
portal. 
 

3.23 The evaluation criteria will be confirmed once the statement of requirements have 
been developed fully. It is very likely that evaluation will focus heavily on price as 
these services are considered commodity services in the current market. 
 

4 WHAT ARE THE REASONS FOR THE RECOMMENDED DECISIONS? 
 

4.1 The recommendation to adopt a single shared (but segregated) network, is based 
on review of the options noted above and on the basis that the proposed solution 
will: 

 result in a fully modernised service, compliant with all public sector and 
industry standard network requirements 

 maximise efficiency in its scalability, flexibility, security and resilience whilst 
maximising the return on investment made in rationalising the data centres 
and migrating to a co-located hosted service 

 reduce complexity, improve service performance and ensure the Councils’ 
meet the public procurement regulations and contract standing orders by 
appointing a single network service provider through a CCS framework 

 enable the Councils’ to reduce the cost of service over the life of the 
contracts awarded, unlocking potential for further significant savings in 
enabled projects. 

 
5 WHAT ARE THE IMPACTS/ RISKS? HOW WILL THEY BE ADDRESSED? 

 
5.1 There will be impacts and risks in migration to the selected network and service 

provider. However, at this stage permission is being sought only to implement a 
low-risk procurement strategy. 
 

5.2 The impacts of transitioning to the new contract and the risks of implementing a 
new network across the three Councils will be fully evaluated and submitted in the 
subsequent presentation to Joint Committee scheduled for February 2018.  
 

6 WHAT ACTIONS WILL BE TAKEN AND WHEN FOLLOWING THE DECISION 
AND HOW WILL THIS BE MONITORED? 
 

6.1 The team will as part of the next, more detailed, phase of the project: 
 analyse the likely requirements for a shared network in terms of the 

technology and connectivity 

Page 192
Page 192



Shared Digital Network Transformation v1.1 | 19 October 2017 Page 7 of 8 

 

 
   

 

 follow the procurement strategy described here and set evaluation criteria 
for all potential responders 

 evaluate responses against set criteria 
 review staff training requirements to support the proposed new network 
 present findings and a final recommendation with full financial evaluation at 

next Joint Committee in February 2018. 
 

7 CONSULTATION 
 

7.1 Soft market testing has been carried out in preparing this report, allowing the 
project team to confirm through a level of consultancy with partners that the 
proposed design of the network was the best way forward for the three Councils. 
 

7.2 The Councils’ technical teams have been consulted throughout informally and as 
members of the project board. Discussions are being planned with the Councils’ 
SIROs (Senior Information Risk Owners) to validate and seek formal acceptance 
of the proposed shared (but segmented) network design. 
 

8 LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 
 

8.1 Legal Services has reviewed this report in the light of the Public Contract 
Regulations 2015 (the ‘Regulations’) and the Shared Digital Joint Committee’s 
Terms of Reference (the ‘TORs’) which must be complied with. 
 

8.2 The Council is seeking to call off cross-Council WAN network services over a 5-
year period for an aggregate value of £5.435M using a CCS framework. Under the 
Joint Committee’s Terms of Reference the committee may agree the procurement 
strategy for contracts with a value over £2M in revenue or £5M in capital. The Joint 
Committee shall approve any award in February 2018. 
 

8.3 The call-off process which the Council adopts must adhere to the call-off 
procedure set out in the CCS framework and any ancillary documents to the 
framework/call-off instructions. This will include setting evaluation criteria which 
will be defined as part of the next stage. The Council should also be satisfied that 
the framework has been set up in compliance with the Regulations. The Council 
should take care to ensure that the call-off contract contains no substantial 
changes to the terms laid down in the framework agreement. 
 

Page 193
Page 193



Shared Digital Network Transformation v1.1 | 19 October 2017 Page 8 of 8 

 

 
   

 

8.4 The Council must take into account in coming to any decision its equality duties. In 
summary these legal obligations require the Council, when exercising its functions, 
to have ‘due regard’ to the need to 1. Eliminate discrimination, harassment and 
victimisation and other conduct prohibited under the Act; 2 to advance equality of 
opportunity between people who share a relevant protected characteristic and 
those who do not; 3. Foster good relations between people who share a relevant 
protected characteristic and those who do not (which involves tackling prejudice 
and promoting understanding). Under the Duty the relevant protected 
characteristics are: Age, Disability, Gender reassignment, Pregnancy and 
maternity, Race, Religion, Sex, Sexual orientation. In respect of the first aim only 
i.e. reducing discrimination, etc. the protected characteristic of marriage and civil 
partnership is also relevant.  
 

8.5 The recommendations in this report have no impact on service provision; 
therefore, an EIA is not required.  
 

9 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS  
(finance comments of the Executive Director Corporate Services) 
 

9.1 Funding for the existing service is captured within the combined revenue budget 
for Shared Digital. The cost of retendered contracts will need to be managed 
within this shared financial resource.  
 

9.2 The estimated investment cost of £990K for implementation will be funded from 
the Shared Digital Evergreening funding provision, a combination of capital and 
revenue resources allocated by the individual Councils for asset refresh and 
investment. The investment cost estimates vary by provider and should be 
reassessed at the point of contract award, and included as part of Councils’ 
planned Evergreening expenditure. 
 

10 APPENDICES 
 

10.1 None. 
 

REPORT ENDS 
 

Page 194
Page 194



Shared Digital Shared Digital Finance Update v1.1 | 19 October 2017 Page 1 of 5 

 

 
   

 

 
REPORT TITLE 
Shared Digital Finance Update 
 
 
REPORT OF 
Jon Rowney, Deputy Director of Finance 
 
 
FOR SUBMISSION TO 
Shared Digital Joint Committee 
 

 
DATE 
30 October 2017 

 
SUMMARY OF REPORT 
This report provides an update on the financial position of Shared Digital for the 2017/18 
financial year, and lays out the building blocks for budget setting for 2018/19. 
 
Local Government Act 1972 – Access to Information 
 
The following document(s) has been used in the preparation of this report: none. 
 
Contact officer: 
Jon Rowney 
Deputy Director of Finance & Procurement 
London Borough of Camden 
5 Pancras Square, London N1C 4AG 
 
jon.rowney@camden.gov.uk  
0207 974 6960 
 
 
WHAT DECISIONS ARE BEING ASKED FOR? 
That the Shared Digital Joint Committee: 
 

1. Note the overall budget position for Shared Digital for 2017/18 and the projected 
outturn 

 
2. Note the proposals for the budget build for Shared Digital for the next financial 

year 2018/19 
 

3. Note the annual budget-to-actual true-up process  
 

 
 

Date: 19/10/2017 Signed: 

 
 

Page 195

Agenda Item 12

Page 195



Shared Digital Shared Digital Finance Update v1.1 | 19 October 2017 Page 2 of 5 

 

 
   

 

 
1 WHAT IS THIS REPORT ABOUT? 

 
1.1 This report provides an update on the overall financial position of Shared Digital 

budget for 2017/18 at Month 5, based on information available in September 2017. 
It provides a forecast of the outturn for 2017/18. 
 

1.2 This report also summarises the principles and process for building the budget for 
Shared Digital for 2018/19. 
 

2 WHY IS THIS REPORT NECESSARY? 
 

2.1 The Terms of Reference for the Joint Committee state that the Joint Committee 
will: 
 

 Approve the strategic service and financial plan for Shared Digital and the 
performance measures to ensure services are delivered to the agreed 
standard and within the resources provided by the Councils. 

 
 Receive updates on the Business Plan and the performance of Shared 

Digital. 
 

2.2 The Shared Digital Legal agreement states that: 
 

 SCHEDULE 5 (SHARED SERVICE BUDGET CONTRIBUTIONS) will be 
updated and approved by the Chief Digital and Information Officer and each 
organisation’s Chief Finance Officer or their nominated officers on an 
annual basis and submitted for approval to the Joint Committee. 

 
 The Chief Digital and Information Officer shall report on financial and 

operational aspects of Shared Digital to the Management Board and the 
Joint Committee 

 
 The Councils shall use all reasonable endeavours to ensure that the 

Shared Service Budget is used in accordance with the planned expenditure 
for ICT and Digital Services in each Financial Year. 

 
 The Parties shall keep each other informed of expenditure incurred to date 

and any projection of an Overspend or Underspend in the Shared Services 
Budget. 

 
 Camden shall provide regular updates to the Chief Digital and Information 

Officer and the Management Board in respect of the overall financial 
performance of the Shared Service, including any projected Overspends 
and Underspends.  

 
  

Page 196
Page 196



Shared Digital Shared Digital Finance Update v1.1 | 19 October 2017 Page 3 of 5 

 

 
   

 

3 2017/18 BUDGET POSITION 
 

3.1 Table 1 below shows the budget agreed by the Joint Committee in June 2017, 
providing the baseline revenue funding for Business As Usual services and 
Continuous Improvement, and also presenting the one-off funding available to 
each authority for Evergreening (refreshing councils’ digital infrastructure and 
assets) and One Off Transformation (delivering service change). 
 

 
 

3.2 The forecast revenue outturn position for 2017/18, as at Month 5 is presented in 
Table 2 below: 
 

 2017/18 
Agreed 
budget 
£’000 

2017/18 
Forecast  

 
£’000 

Variance 
 
 

 £’000 
BAU Staff 19,745 19,878 133
BAU Non-staff 19,470 19,596 126
BAU Total 39,215 39,474 259
Continuous improvement 4,495 4,281 -214
Revenue grand total 43,710 43,755 45

 
3.3 The overall month 5 forecast is £45k overspend.   

 
BAU staff and Continuous Improvement lines represent staffing costs.  The overall 
staffing cost is £81k under budget due to holding staff vacancies. 
 
BAU non-staff costs principally represent the cost of IT contracts.  The slight 
overspend is a result of the cost of some contracts being higher than anticipated 
but the service is making efficiencies on these to bring the spend in line with the 
budget. 
 
While the current position indicates a small overspend of £45k the service is 
confident that this pressure will be managed within the financial year. 
 

Page 197
Page 197



Shared Digital Shared Digital Finance Update v1.1 | 19 October 2017 Page 4 of 5 

 

 
   

 

In addition to the forecast above it is worth noting the following pressures: 
 Some of the vacancies are covered by agency staff at a higher cost than 

permanent staff 
 Projects in progress losing key staff members 
 There is a risk that US contracts will need to be renegotiated with an up to 

20% uplift owing to the unfavourable sterling to US dollar exchange rate 
and general economic uncertainty following Brexit 

 
3.4 The one off funding provisions for 2017/18 have altered slightly since budget 

setting, largely in the Transformation area, due to adjustments during the first 
capital review. The current one-off budgets and forecasts for 2017/18 are 
presented in Table 3 below: 
 

 2017/18 
Opening 
budget 
£’000 

2017/18 
Current 
budget 
£’000 

2017/18 
Forecast 

 
 £’000 

Variance 
 
 

 £’000 
Evergreening 3,601 3,597 1,910 -1,687
Transformation 11,278 12,524 8,968 -3,556
One-off funding grant totals 14,879 16,121 10,878 -5,243

 
3.5 Underspends in Evergreening are currently being forecast in Islington (£1,454K) 

and Camden (£233K), while the forecast underspend in Transformation is solely 
from Haringey. 
 

3.6 Any underspend from one-off provisions in 2017/18 will remain with the 
individual local authority for future reallocation. 
 

4 2018/19 BUDGET 
 

4.1 Provision for the 2018/19 funding of Shared Digital will need to be made by each 
participating authority as part of their Council Tax setting process, ahead of the 
start of the 2018/19 financial year.  
 

4.2 As stated in the legal agreement, the Shared Digital Management Board shall 
meet at least three months in advance of the end of the Financial Year to agree 
the proposed levels of contributions. These shall be considered and approved by 
the Shared Digital Joint Committee. The agreed contribution amounts will also 
require approval by each Council’s designated Chief Finance Officer or officers 
nominated by the Chief Finance Officer and by each Council through the annual 
budget setting process. 
 

4.3 2018/19 base budget: 
 2017/18 budget was set with a view that it can be adjusted in 2018/19 

should it prove to be materially different to the actual cost of service. 
 No fundamental changes to 2017/18 base budget are considered 

necessary 

Page 198
Page 198



Shared Digital Shared Digital Finance Update v1.1 | 19 October 2017 Page 5 of 5 

 

 
   

 

 Any risks such as the increase in the price of contracts will be considered 
as part of the budget-setting process and any relevant uplifts applied to the 
2018/19 budget 

 
4.4 Savings: 

 It is anticipated that some savings will be realised in 2018/19 
 Any savings achieved will be shared equally among the partner councils 
 Full-year savings will be realised from 2019/20 subject to key decisions 

relating to the shared service governance model having been made 
 

4.5 True-up process 
   
To optimise the service delivery Shared Digital will run a single budget hosted by 
Camden from 2018/19.  Haringey and Islington will contribute the agreed budgeted 
amounts to Camden.  A true-up process will take place at the end of each financial 
year.  Relevant share of underspends will be refunded to Haringey and Islington 
and any overspends will result in an additional charge. 
 

4.6 Regular monthly reports will be provided by Camden to Haringey and Islington to 
keep partners informed of the financial position. 
 

4.7 The financial plan for the service will be produced to fit within the parameters of 
the resources available, and be brought to the February Joint Committee for 
approval. 
 

5 CONSULTATION 
 

5.1 The Shared Digital Delivery Board have received papers on the 2017/18 budget 
position and agreed the presentation in this report. They have also agreed the 
proposals for the 2018/19 budget. 
 

6 LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 
 

6.1 Legal implications are contained within the body of this report. 
 

7 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS  
(finance comments of the Executive Director Corporate Services) 
 

7.1 Financial Implications are contained in the main body of the report. 
 

8 APPENDICES 
 

8.1 None. 
 

REPORT ENDS 
 

Page 199
Page 199



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 200
Page 200


	Agenda
	 Agenda and report pack
	Agenda
	7 Minutes
	8 *Shared Digital Governance Model Review
	Appendix 1

	9 *Shared Digital Strategy - Reviewing the Draft
	Appendix A
	Appendix B
	Appendix C
	Appendix D
	Appendix E

	10 *Review of Adult Social Care and Children's Services Case Management System Provision
	11 *Network Service Transformation
	12 Shared Digital Financial Update


